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The issues on appeal are: ( 1) whether a Trial 

Judge properly instructed a jury on how to calculate 

damages in a situation whether a restaurant owner was 

found to not have paid his workers a time and a half 

of their regular rate pursuant to 29 U.S.C. 207 (a) (1); 

(2) whether or not the plaintiffs' damages should be

reduced by the fact they were all paid their regular 

hourly rate for each hour worked; (3) whether expert 

testimony was necessary, permissible and/or unduly in­

fluenced the jury; (4) whether the Trial Judge acted 

appropriately in allowing the plaintiffs' expert to 

supplement his flawed opinion, which was the only 

opinion defendants had notice of, in the middle of 

trial; ( 5) whether it was error that the Judge used a 

state statutory scheme to penalize the defendants when 

the industry is excluded from that scheme; and (6) 

whether there was enough evidence to support a jury 

finding in the first instance. 
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The plaintiffs sued the defendant claiming: (1) a 

violation of the Fair Labor Standards Ct (FLSA) under 

28 USC s. 207 by failing to pay them overtime wages; 

(2) a violation the Massachusetts Wage Act (Wage Act),

G.L. c. 149, s. 148 for failing to pay them for all

hours worked and by failing to pay them in a timely 

manner; and (3) a violation of 29 USC s. 206 of the 

FLSA and Minimum Wage Law of G.L. c. 151, s 1 for 

failing to pay minimum wage. (Appendix Exhibits Vol. 1 

at page 17-28 or hereinafter "Ex.V.1" 17-28) 

As a result of a summary judgment motion, Judge 

Ames found that there was a violation of the FSLA be­

cause there was never any overtime rate paid to the 

three plaintiffs for any hours worked over 40 hours a 

week. (Ex.V.1 41) This violation of the FLSA was found 

to constitute a Wage Act violation because if defend­

ants never paid an overtime rate, then it would follow 

that they did not pay that rate timely. (Ex.V.1 44) 

Judge Ames also found that 29 USC s. 207 (a) (1) 

called for the plaintiffs receiving one and one half 

time their "regular rate" for hours worked over 40 a 
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week. In citing 29 CFR 778.109, and because these 

plaintiffs were paid a daily rate, she noted that the 

"regular rate is generally calculated by 'dividing 

[the] total remuneration for employment (except statu­

tory exclusions) in any workweek by the total number 

of hours actually worked ... in that workweek for which 

such compensation was paid.'" (Ex.V.l 42) Because of 

the summary judgment ruling, the only trial question 

was that of damages. (Ex.V.l 39-44) 

A multi-day jury trial was had in September and 

October of 2019 and the final judgment being appealed 

was entered by the court on or about January 31, 2010. 

(Ex. V. 4 181) 

Statement of Facts 

The plaintiffs were all employees of the defend­

ant restaurant, Rice Barn, which was and is owned by 

the individual defendant, Mr. Intha. (Appendix Tran­

scripts at pages 102-104 or hereinafter "Tr.V.l" 102-

104) Mr. Intha purchased the restaurant in September

2013 when he was 73 years old. (Tr.V.l 262; Tr.V.3 6-

7) All three plaintiffs were already working there at

the time. (Tr.V.3 15) 
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Prior to purchasing, Mr. Intha worked as an ar­

chitect and owner of a non-profit organization who had 

no experience in the restaurant business. (Tr. V. 3 7-8) 

He learned about the possibility of purchasing the 

Rice Barn from his nephew who had worked at that time 

at the restaurant. (Tr.V.3 9) 

Mr. Intha did not change one aspect of the res­

taurant or its operation. He kept every single aspect 

of the restaurant that existed prior to his ownership 

intact when he purchased it. He did not so much as 

close for one day. (Tr.V.3 15-17, 19) He kept the 

workings of the kitchen, including its staff, the ex­

act same as they had with the prior owner. (Tr. V. 3 19-

23) All of the plaintiffs' manner, amount and method

of payment remained the same as when they worked with 

the prior owner. (Tr. V. 3 19-2 3) Their schedules re­

mained the exact same regarding the hours they worked, 

the work they performed and the days off they each 

had. (Tr.V.3 19-23) 

To the public, Rice Barn was only open for 44.5 

hours a week. (Tr.V.3 34) Rice Barn was open for lunch 

on Monday through Friday and served dinner seven days 

a week. (Tr.V.1 263-268) For Monday through Friday, 
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lunch service went from 11:30 am until 2:30 pm, at 

which point the restaurant would close from 2:30 to 

5:00 pm. On Mondays through Wednesdays, the dinner 

service went from 5 pm until 9 pm. On Thursdays 

through Saturdays, dinner service lasted from 5 pm un­

til 9:30 pm and on Sundays, Rice Barn was only open 

from 5 until 9 pm. (Tr.V.l 263-268) 

For weekdays, the plaintiffs were only expected 

to work at most 2 hours above that which the restau­

rant was open to the public. This time was for prepa­

ration, eating their own meals, side work and to cook. 

(Tr.V.3 24-32) For weekends, there was only an expec­

tation that the staff would work one hour above that 

which the restaurant was open. As such, the maximum 

amount of time that any plaintiff could work on any 

given week was 56.5 hours. (Tr.V.3 96-97) Much of 

their side work or prep could be done while the res-

taurant was still open but slow. (Tr.V.3 29) 

However, for each of the plaintiffs, their actual 

hours worked were irrelevant to their pay, as they 

were each paid a daily rate. (Tr.V.3 40-42) All three 

got paid a day rate, which was their agreement with 

the prior owner inherited by Mr. Intha. For Ms. 
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Devaney, she got paid $135 daily from the date of pur­

chase until December 2014, at which time she got a 

raise to $151.50 a day. Mr. Rueangjan was paid $168 

daily for the entirety of the relevant time period. 

Ms. Wungnak earned $100 daily from Mr. Intha's pur­

chase until the end of 2013. Then she earned $105 

daily in January 2014 and then $110 daily in January 

2015. She left Rice Barn on July 4, 2015. At trial, 

the parties agreed on the day rate paid to each plain­

tiff, as well as the dates of their employment. 

(Ex.V.2 55) 

Each employee was supposed to clock in and out of 

work using a software system also inherited from the 

prior owner. However, since the specific hours worked 

was irrelevant to their pay, they would be paid fully 

even if they clocked in for one minute. (Tr.V.3 100-

102) For their payment, each plaintiff would complete

and submit a sheet listing the shifts worked and each 

shift would equate to one half of their daily rate. 

(Tr.V.3 39-40) (Ex.V.3 30) The specific hours that any 

plaintiff worked did not change the amount they were 

paid. (Tr.V.3 40) 

At all times, Mr. Intha always had either a 

11 

Massachusetts Appeals Court      Case: 2021-P-0301      Filed: 5/13/2021 12:21 PM



separate company or a separate bookkeeper to effectu­

ate payroll. (Tr. V. 3 15) 

Throughout the relevant time period, each plain­

tiff was paid for every single day that they worked 

and for each hour that they worked. (Tr.V.1 344, 

Tr.V.2 73, 183) If they worked a full day, which was 

defined by both the lunch shift and dinner shift, then 

they got paid their full day rate, regardless of spe­

cific hours worked. On Saturdays and Sundays, the 

restaurant was only open for dinner service, so if an 

employee worked on a Saturday night, that person would 

be paid half of their day rate. (Tr.V.1 287-288) Each 

half day was defined by one shift, no matter if it was 

lunch or dinner. If a plaintiff worked a catering 

shift at a time that the restaurant was not open (i.e. 

Saturday morning), they would be paid one half of 

their daily rate. (Tr. V .1 291) In essence, each shift 

worked translated to one-half of their day rate, no 

matter how long that shift took. The specific amount 

of hours that were worked did not change their pay at 

all. If lunch service was busy or empty, they would be 

paid for that shift in the entire amount. 

The Rice Barn was closed for 4 days each July 4 
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and also on Thanksgiving, Christmas and New Year's day 

(Tr.V.2 70-71) 

For each plaintiff, they testified at trial that 

their work schedule did not fluctuate throughout the 

relevant time period of approximately two' years. For 

Devaney, she only claims that she took one vacation 

from September 19, 2013 until November 21, 2015 and 

claims that she only took one hour off for only 2 to 4 

times over two years. (Tr.V.2 165, 173-174) Ms. Wung-

nak claimed that she worked every single day and only 

sometimes took a day off during the relevant period. 

(Tr.V.2 73) For Mr. Rueangjan, he claimed he worked 7 

days a week, and only took "some days off" because he 

remembered having two appointments. (Tr.V.1 268, 345, 

347) 

The plaintiff Devaney testified that she had no 

idea how many hours she was supposed to work and also 

that she did not know what she claimed was owed in 

overtime. (Tr.V.2 171, 180) She also testified that 

she was paid for every day that she worked and for ca­

tering jobs, she was paid½ day rate lump sum. Her 

compensation had nothing to do with the specific hours 

worked (Tr.V.2 163, 183-184) In the relevant time 
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period, Ms. Devaney went to Thailand for one a month. 

(Tr.V.2 172) When she worked there, there was always a 

system to report the days worked and she would get 

paid her daily rate based on what she submitted. 

(Tr.V.2 185) 

Mr. Rueangjan also testified that Intha honored 

the agreement he already had with the prior owner rel­

ative to both the payment agreement of a day rate as 

well as the days that he was to work. (Tr.V.1 327-328) 

Mr. Rueangjan claimed that he was owed overtime from 

the very first day of Mr. Intha's ownership but did 

not testify that he had any idea of how much his dam­

ages were. He too was paid for every single day he 

worked. (Tr.V.1 344) 

Ms. Wungnak also had the same compensation agree­

ment and schedule with Mr. Intha as she had with the 

prior owner. (Tr.V.2 57-62) Though she answered "no" 

at trial when asked if the working hours were kept the 

same when purchased, she was reminded that she admit­

ted as much in her deposition. (Tr.V.2 66-67) Ms. 

Wungnak stated that she was paid for each day that she 

worked for Mr. Intha. (Tr.V.2 73) When specifically 

asked about what her claimed damages were, she simply 
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did not know because she "never thought about that.n 

(Tr.V.2 73-75) 

Throughout the litigation, the only number given 

by plaintiffs as to what they claimed their actual 

damages were came from an expert whose report had the 

factual foundation for his opinion that each plaintiff 

got paid for every day that they worked for the de­

fendant. (Tr.V.2 258) (Ex.V.1 45) (Ex.V.2 32) In the re­

port, Mr. Rueangjan's claimed damage was $61,236, 

which ignored that he was already paid $40,824 of that 

figure. Ms. Wungnak's claimed damage of $31,311 ig­

nored that she was already paid $20,874 of that fig­

ure. For Ms. Devaney, the expert's opinion was that 

she was owed $34,732, which ignored that she was al­

ready paid $23,154.67. (Ex.V.2 32-36) 

Therefore, all throughout litigation, the plain­

tiffs presented a combined damages figure of $127,279. 

Because they each always knew they were paid for each 

hour worked, the correct best case scenario for the 

plaintiffs throughout litigation was a combined 

$42,426.33, which is one-third of their claimed dam­

age. (Ex.V.2 32-36) 
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SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

I. The Appropriate Standard of Review

The rulings of law and instructions and factual 

findings based on incorrect rulings of law can be re-

viewed de novo. (Page 18) 

II. Judge Wilson Applied the Incorrect Law to the
Jury Instructions

By failing to allow evidence of the uncontested 

fact that plaintiffs were all paid for each hour 

worked and then compelling the jury to multiply their 

regular rate by 1.5 to calculate damages, the plain­

tiffs were incorrectly awarded 2.5 their regular rate 

for each hour over 40 they worked in a week. The stat­

utory scheme, which is designed not to create a wind­

fall to plaintiffs, widely calls for various offsets 

to time and half, which includes normal pay actually 

received for hours worked. (Page 20) 

III. The Trial Judge Erred in Allowing Expert Testi­
mony

Because the nature of the trial being damages and 

a formula given to the jury, an expert was not duly 

preserved by the plaintiffs, was then allowed to 
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testify on the ultimate question for the jury and ac­

tually created an undue influence on the jury. (Page 

30) 

IV. The Trial Judge Erred in Allowing the Plain­
tiffs' Expert to Amend his Report in the Middle
of Trial

When the Trial Judge ruled on a damages formula, 

he allowed the expert to supplement and update a 

clearly flawed opinion in the middle of the trial. To 

allow the amendment, the judge ultimately took away 

all power of the defendants in any cross-examination, 

gave inherent credit the opinion of the expert, which 

ultimately provided undue influence on the jury. This 

opinion, which served as a trial by ambush, presented 

the only numerical evidence of any damages. (Page 32) 

V. By so instructing, Judge Wilson rendered moot
the Massachusetts law relative to overtime com­
pensation for restaurant workers

By using a Massachusetts statutory scheme of Ti-

tle XXI that encapsulates G.L. ch. 149, s. 148, G.L. 

ch. 149, s. 150 and G.L. ch., 151, s. lA, it was im­

proper for the Judge to allow harsher triple damages 

and attorneys' fees for behavior that is excluded from 

that same statutory scheme under the same Title. The 

correct path, which would not render moot the 
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Massachusetts' legislative scheme, would be to use the 

federal statute to penalize the defendants who vio-

lated that same statute. (Page 42) 

VI. Whether there was sufficient evidence to sup­
port the jury finding of damages for each
plaintiff.

The only evidence of a numerical damage was given 

by an expert that was not necessary to trial, was re­

moved from plaintiffs' witness list and then was al­

lowed to amend his opinion in the middle of trial and 

testify. As his testimony meant a determination that 

it was necessary to assist the jury in their role, 

then the ultimate award is not based on permissible 

evidence and also truly led to a miscarriage of jus-

tice. (Page 48) 

ARGUMENT 

I. The Appropriate Standard of Review

In appellate questions such as the one at bar, 

the Trial Judge's legal conclusions are reviewed de 

novo. T.W. Nickerson, Inc. v. Fleet Nat'l Bank, 456 

Mass. 562, 569 (2010). "In a civil trial, a judge 

should instruct the jury fairly, clearly, adequately, 

and correctly concerning principles that ought to 

guide and control their action." Doull v. Foster, 487 
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Mass. 1, 5-6, (2021) "The judge is not bound to in­

struct in the exact language of the [parties'] re­

quests, however, and has wide latitude in framing the 

language to be used in jury instructions as long as 

the instructions adequately explain the applicable 

law". Id. When reviewing jury instructions, an "appel­

late court considers the adequacy of the instructions 

as a whole, not by fragments" (citation omitted). Id. 

For this case, an appeal's court should apply to 

claims of error a "prejudicial error" standard of re­

view. Wahlstrom.v. JPA IV Mgmt. Co., Inc., 95 Mass. 

App. Ct. 445, 448 (2019) Specifically, if an error oc­

curred, reversal may be appropriate and also a new 

trial ordered unless it can be said "with substantial 

confidence that the error would not have made a mate­

rial difference." Id. citing DeJesus v. Yogel, 404 

Mass. 44, 49 (1989). That is to say, there would be no 

reversal or new trial if the error is found to have 

been "harmless." Id. citing Comeau v. Currier, 35 

Mass. App. Ct. 109, 112 (1993). 

The "' [c]learly erroneous' [standard] does not 

protect findings of fact resting upon or induced by an 

incorrect legal standard." Karam v. Skeff's, Inc., 84 
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Mass. App. Ct. 1131, 2 (Mass. App. Ct. 2014). 

II. Judge Wilson Applied the Incorrect Law to the
Jury Instructions

Both parties agreed that the plaintiffs were paid 

a day rate and also agreed that the FLSA required that 

they be paid l½ times their regular rate for each hour 

over 40 they proved to have worked in any given week. 

29 U.S.C. 207(a) (1) The parties' biggest differences 

centered around two aspects: (1) how to calculate the 

regular rate per 29 CMR 778.109; and (2) whether the 

plaintiffs' damages could be reduced because they were 

already paid for the "one" in the required "one and 

half times" their regular rate. 

As to the first issue, that only became one at 

trial. Throughout the litigation, and as evinced by 

their own first set of requested jury instructions, 

even the plaintiffs seemingly agreed that the regular 

rate should have been calculated by "dividing the em­

ployee's total compensation for employment in any 

workweek by the total number of hours actually worked 

by the employee in that work week for which such com­

pensation was paid" (Ex.V.4 95 citing 29 CFP s. 

778.109) 
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The defendants consistently argued that the regu­

lar rate was consistent with 29 CMR 778.109 and the 

summary judgment holding written by Judge Ames also 

said: 

When an employer does not compensate employees 

on an hourly rate basis, the regular rate is 

generally calculated by "dividing [the] total 

remuneration for employment (except statutory 

exclusions) in any workweek by the total num­

ber of hours actually worked .. . in that work­

week for which such compensation was paid. 

(Ex.V.1 42 citing 29 C.F.R. s. 778.109) 

Judge Ames also noted within footnote 10 that: 

In instances where the employee is paid a flat 

sum for a day's work regardless of the number 

of hours worked in the day and receives no 

other form of compensation for services, the 

regular rate is calculated 'by totaling all 

the sums received at such day rates or job 

rates in the workweek and dividing by the to­

tal hours actually worked. 

(Ex.V.1 42 citing 29 C.F.R. s. 778.112) 

At trial, the plaintiffs changed their argument 

instead claiming that the regular rate should be cal­

culated by dividing weekly pay by 40 as opposed to the 

hours actually worked. (Tr.V.1 300-304) Mathemati­

cally, this would increase the hourly rate by which 

damages would then be calculated leading to padding of 

their claimed damages. In noting the plaintiffs actu­

ally changing their theory of damages at trial, Judge 
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Wilson said: 

I've got to decide it now. But as I also just 

pointed out, you said in the jury instructions 

that you submitted, just before this trial 

started, not the latest ones, that that is how 

you calculate the denominator, is hours actu­

ally worked. That's what you also said in 

your demand letter that there is some dispute 

about as well, and in your brief about pre­

judgment security, you said the same thing. So 

my ruling on that, is the regular rate is di­

vided by the - it is the hours actually worked 

divided by - pardon me -It is the - you divide 

the total payment for the week in any workweek 

by the total number of hours actually worked 

in that workweek, so that's the first half of 

the calculation. That's my ruling on that 

one. (Tr.V.2 111-112) 

After this decision, the Judge then needed to de­

cide the second disagreement. After comprehensive 

briefing and argument, Judge Wilson ruled that the 

jury would be compelled to multiply their regular rate 

by 1.5 times for each hour worked above 40, no matter 

if they were already paid their regular hourly rate 

for each hour worked. (Tr.V.2 133) For authority, the 

judge cited "the statute itself" and specifically held 

that Section 778.112 did not apply to this case but 

gave no factual findings to support this critical rul­

ing of law. (Tr.V.2 134) Whether he needed to or not, 

the judge found that because the parties could either 

get a day rate or half-day rate, that Section 778.112 
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was inapplicable and therefore defendants could not 

argue that they were already paid for the hours they 

worked. (Tr.V.2 131-132) 

Because it is and was uncontested that the plain­

tiffs were each paid for every hour they worked, the 

Judge's decision and eventual instruction actually 

compelled the jury to award the plaintiffs 2.5 times 

their regular rate for each hour proven worked over 40 

hours, as opposed to the required 1.5 times codified 

in 2 9 U.S. C. 2 0 7 ( 1) . 

Judge Wilson recognized the seriousness of his 

decision when he noted that "based on the amount of 

money at stake, particularly with the trebling of the 

damages and the vociferousness of the disagreement be­

tween counsel about how the damages are to be calcu­

lated here, that no matter what I decide about that, 

there is going to be an appeal.u (Tr.V.2 5) 

While Judge Wilson seemingly relied heavily on 

the Code of Federal Regulations, they have been noted 

as being "an interpretative bulletin that 'does not 

command formal deference from this court.'u O'Brien 

v. Town of Agawam, 440 F. Supp. 2d. 3, 20 (2006).
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29 C.F.R. a. 778.112, which illustrates a pay 

structure most analogous to the plaintiffs', states: 

If the employee is paid a flat sum for a day's 

work or for doing a particular job, without 

regard to the number of hours worked in the 

day or at the job, and if he receives no other 

form of compensation for services, his regular 

rate is determined by totaling all the sums 

received at such day rates or job rates in the 

workweek and dividing by the total hours ac­

tually worked. He is then entitled to extra 

half-time pay at this rate for all hours 

worked in excess of 40 in the workweek. 

However, no matter what is written in the Depart­

ment of Labor's interpretive bulletins, or whether or 

not the pay structure of this case fits squarely 

within any regulation, the law as should be applied 

was actually clearly written in Lalli v. General Nu­

trition Centers, Inc., 814 F.3d 1, (1st Cir. 2016). The 

Lalli court noted that "[t]hough week by week the reg­

ular rate varies with the number of hours worked," it 

is "regular in the statutory sense inasmuch as the 

rate per hour does not vary for the entire week." Id. 

citing Overnight Motor Transportation Co., v. Missel, 

316 U.S. 572, 580 (1942). To calculate what is owed, 

the employer would then multiply the regular rate by 

50% to produce the additional overtime compensation 
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that must be paid for every hour worked beyond forty 

that week. O'Brien v. Town of Agawam, 350 F.3d 279, 

287 (1st Cir. 2003). Only an additional "half" is re­

quired to satisfy the statute because the "time" in 

"time-and-a-half" has already been compensated under 

the salary arrangement. Lalli, supra, 814 F.3d at 2-3. 

It is uncontested that all plaintiffs were paid a 

daily rate for each day that they worked. For damages, 

the Trial Judge first calculated an hourly wage based 

on dividing the amount actually paid by the number of 

hours actually worked in any given week. The "regular 

rate" under the FLSA is a rate per hour. Lalli, su­

pra, at 3. Definitionally, the first step of Judge 

Wilson's damages calculations equals the hourly rate 

actually paid to the plaintiffs for the hours they ac­

tually worked. Each shift equated to one half of their 

daily rate, no matter what they did or how long it 

took them. They did not receive any bonuses or commis­

sions and their sole compensation was the daily rate 

that was run through payroll. They were not on a sal­

ary. If they did not work, they did not get paid and 

they got paid for each hour they worked at what was 

determined to be their regular or hourly rate. 
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There can be no justification to ignore the law, 

the uncontested facts or the plain language of 29 CFR 

778.112 to allow these plaintiffs to recover 2.5 times 

their regular rate. By allowing such a ruling, the 

Trial Judge committed reversable error entitling the 

defendants to have a new trial. 

The Eleventh Circuit has also explained that all 

sections that followed section 778.109 were examples, 

not only section 778.112. Allen v. Board of Public Ed­

ucation for Bibb County, 5 F3.d 1306 (11th Cir. 2007). 

And such a notion was relied upon by the Tampa Divi­

sion of the U.S. District Court for the Middle Dis-

trict of Florida in Thomas v. Waste Pro USA, Inc. 

which specifically stated: 

Here, the Court concludes that section 778.112 

need not be followed exactly with respect to 

paying employees a day rate. Instead, con­

sistent with the Eleventh Circuit's decision 

in Allen, it is only an example of how to 

calculate the regular rate when a worker is 

paid a day rate. 495 F.3d at 1313. Thus, the 

fact that Plaintiff and Helpers received other 

compensation in the form of bonuses or for 

additional tasks does not mean they were not 

paid a day rate. Moreover, the payment of half 

day rates for tasks outside of Helpers' usual 

tasks does not take Plaintiff or other Helpers 

outside the scope of day rate employees. As 

the Court explained in Bunday, the primary 

payment to Plaintiff and Helpers was through 

a day rate, and that amount could vary based 

on additional tasks. Accordingly, payment of 
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overtime to Plaintiff or Helpers at a half 

rate, instead of a time and a half rate, is 

permissible. 

Thomas v. Waste Pro USA, Inc., Case No: 8:17-cv-2254-

T-36CPT, 40 (M.D. Fla. Sep. 30, 2019

Even if 29 CFR 778.112 is inapplicable as Judge 

Wilson believed, there is no legal justification to 

foreclose the possibility of arguing to a jury that 

although a certain amount is owed for overtime, that a 

certain amount was actually paid already. Such a dis­

tinction has been made in caselaw where a defendant 

would be responsible "only for the unpaid portion" 

when a partial payment was already made. Roman v. Mai-

etta Constr., 147 F.3d 71, 77 (1st Cir. 1998) Courts 

should attempt to look at a case to determine what is 

a "better and fairer approach" in calculating damages. 

O'Brien, supra, 440 F. Supp 2d. at 20. 

The statute has been said to be "inherently flex­

ible" and such flexibility should lead to a conclusion 

that the instruction was incorrect because it ignored 

the fact that the plaintiffs were already paid for 

each hour worked. Such a logical approach was noted 

in Lalli, which observed that "the fact that Lalli was 

given additional commission as straight-time pay for 

whatever eligible sales he made does not detract at 
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all form the fact that he was given his salary as 

straight time pay for whatever hours he worked." 

Lalli, supra, 814 F.3d at 15. 

Cases interpreting proper damages seem to deal 

with what can be considering in a payment for overtime 

that is other than their regular pay. For example, the 

First Circuit in Lupien v. City of Marlborough an­

swered the question of whether the City could have 

"comp time" or paid time off received by officers off-

set that which is owed in overtime wages. 387 F.3d 

83, 85 (2004). It was reiterated that pursuant to 29 

U.S.C. s. 207, the true damage is their "unpaid over­

time compensation". Id. In this area of law, "plain­

tiffs are entitled to be made whole, not to a windfall 

at the [defendant's] expense." Id. at 87. 

As noted by the Lupien court, there can sometimes 

be confusion between the issues of liability and the 

issue of a remedy. Here, no one argues that the lia­

bility of the defendants was to pay 1 ½ times the reg­

ular rate for hours worked over 40 in a week. However 

the remedy was incorrectly instructed to the jury. As 

to the remedy, any liability may be offset by a rate 

of pay that is not at overtime rates. Id. at 88 
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citing Roman v. Maietta Constr., Inc., 147 F.3d 71, 77 

(1st Cir. 1998). Other regulations actually use the 

same illustrative logic. 29 CFR 778.3251

As made clear with the law, the Judge erred in 

instructing the jury that they were compelled to 

multiply each hour over forty in a week by 1 ½ times 

their regular rate without regard to what they were 

paid. It mathematically equaled 2. 5 times their 

regular rate for each hour worked over 40 and 3 

times what they were not paid. It translated to a 

windfall for plaintiffs at the hands of the 

1 29 CFR 2778.325 says in part "The same reasoning ap­

plies to salary covering straight time pay for a 

longer workweek. If an employee whose maximum hours 

standard is 40 hours was hired at a fixed salary of 

$275 for 55 hours of work, he was entitled to a statu­

tory overtime premium for the 15 hours in excess of 40 

at the rate of $2.50 per hour (half-time) in addition 

to his salary, and to statutory overtime pay of $7.50 

per hour (time and one-half) for any hours worked in 

excess of 55. If the scheduled workweek is later re­

duced to 50 hours, with the understanding between the 

parties that the salary will be paid as the employee's 

nonovertime compensation for each workweek of 55 hours 

or less, his regular rate in any overtime week of 55 

hours or less is determined by dividing the salary by 

the number of hours worked to earn it in that particu­

lar week, and additional half-time, based on that 

rate, is due for each hour in excess of 40." 

29 

Massachusetts Appeals Court      Case: 2021-P-0301      Filed: 5/13/2021 12:21 PM



defendants. Such a result is inequitable and con­

trary to the law justifying a new trial. 

III. The Trial Judge Erred in Allowing Expert Testi­
mony

To even allow expert testimony, Judge Wilson was 

to make the preliminary assessment that the theory or 

methodology underlying the proposed testimony is suf­

ficiently reliable to reach the trier of fact. Common-

wealth v. Shanley, 455 Mass. 752, 761-62, 919 N.E.2d 

1254, 1263 (2010) A judge's decision to admit expert 

testimony is subject to review only for abuse of dis­

cretion. Canavan's Case, 432 Mass. 304, 312 (2000). 

The question to answer for the allowance of an expert 

to testify is whether an expert was needed to assist 

jurors in interpreting evidence that "lies outside 

their common experience." Commonwealth v. Shanley, 455 

Mass. 752, 761 (2010). The use of an expert to testify 

is a statement that one is needed to "assist the trier 

of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a 

fact in issue," Id. citing Mass. G. Evid. § 702 (2008-

2009). However, the expert opinion may not be on is­

sues that the jury are equally competent to assess. 

Simon v. Solomon, 385 Mass. 91, 105 (1982). To be ad-

missible at trial, expert testimony must be of 
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assistance to the jury in reaching a decision, though 

an "expert may not . . offer his opinion on issues 

that the jury are equally competent to assess." When 

that occurs, "the influence of an expert's opinion may 

threaten the independence of the jury's decision." 

Commonwealth v. Mendrala, 20 Mass. App. Ct. 398, 403 

( 1985) . 

In this case, this would mean that the expert was 

deemed absolutely necessary to create an opinion as to 

the plaintiffs' claimed damages because he was the 

only evidence presented that gave a damages figure. If 

the Judge allowed the testimony, which he did, that 

necessarily means that the jury was determined to not 

be able to create the damages figure without the ex­

pert testimony, or else there would be no reason for 

the expert at all. Id. Because the instruction·as to 

damages was simply a formula, the use of the expert, 

especially in the manner that it was used, clearly in­

fluenced the jury to an unfair verdict. 

The Trial Judge stated that the calculation as to 

the plaintiffs' damages was a "legal task" that needed 

to be explained to the jury. (Tr.V.2 171) However that 

cannot be reconciled with the eventual instruction 

that the jury was the sole decider of fact. (Tr.V.3 
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145) It is clear that a jury could have easily found

hours worked and amount paid and used the formula by 

itself. By introducing an expert as the sole eviden­

tiary source for damages, allowing for a trial amend­

ment of opinion, limiting the scope of cross-examina-

tion and then giving the case to the jury, it is clear 

that undue and improper influence of this jury was al­

lowed by the judge. 

Lastly, the opinion itself presented to the jury 

was compelled to have been based on personal 

knowledge, evidence already in the record or evidence 

that would be put into the evidentiary record at trial 

or some combination of the two. Sacco v. Roupenian, 

409 Mass. 25, 28-29, 564 N.E.2d 386, 388 (1990). In 

the case at bar, the expert testimony was not at all 

based on the trial record and therefore it should not 

have been permitted. (Tr. 657-662) 

IV. The Trial Judge Erred in Allowing the Plaintiffs'
Expert to Amend his Report in the Middle of Trial

The plaintiffs caused this litigation to go as long 

as it has because of their posture throughout litiga­

tion. This court, who allowed the plaintiffs to disclose 

their damages only by way of expert disclosure after the 
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third day of trial, more than guaranteed an unfair and 

prejudicial trial for the defendants. By ruling as it 

did and then precluding the defendants from testifying 

that he did pay for each hour of work, including over­

time, the Court took away the defendant's right to argue 

for the entry of the plaintiff's true damages. (Tr. V .1 

190-195)

Throughout litigation, the sole source of a fig­

ure for their claimed damages came from an expert. In 

their pretrial memorandum, the plaintiffs preserved 

two expert witnesses. The first, Anthony Gabinetti, 

was only testifying as to the absence of records from 

the defendants. The second, Craig Moore, was the only 

person listed to testify "as to the calculations of 

overtime compensation that should have been paid to 

Plaintiffs". (Ex.V.1 52-53) 

At the final pretrial conference, plaintiffs' 

counsel maintained this same distinction that the CPA 

Gabinetti was only going to testify as to what rec­

orded existed or not and the economist, Moore, was go­

ing to testify as to the calculation of damages based 

on his opinion from the first expert report dated July 

9, 2018. (Tr.V.l 36-37) On the first day of trial, the 
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plaintiff only stated they were going to call Mr. Ga­

binetti, thereby effectively offering no expert testi­

mony as to the specific calculations offered for dam-

ages. (Tr.V.1 72) The expert that was disclosed to 

discuss the numerical calculations of the initial re­

port was not going to testify as per plaintiffs' coun­

sel on day one of trial. (Tr.V.1 72, 257) 

Per their initial expert report July 9, 2018, 

which was attached to the joint pretrial memorandum, 

Moore was going to opine as to an estimate of overtime 

wages claimed owed. (Ex. V .1 60) In terms of process, 

expert first created a "regular rate" that came from 

the daily rate divided by 8, which would create a 

higher hourly wage than if he used actual hours worked 

and divided that into their day rate. Next, the expert 

then made an estimate of average weekly hours worked, 

took the number of hours above 40 and multiplied that 

figure by 1 ½ times the regular rate. The charts 

within the expert report for each plaintiff mirrored 

this process. (Ex.V.1 62, 163) 

By looking at the chart relied upon by the plain­

tiffs until trial, and using Ms. Devaney as an exam­

ple, there was 61 weeks between 9/22/2013 and 
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12/7/2014. The expert used the daily rate to create 

the hourly rate of 16.88 per hour. Then averaging 

12.04 hours above 40 worked for those 61 weeks, the 

expert multiplied the 12.04 by 25.32, which is 1 ½ 

times the regular rate of 16.88 an hour. By using 

this formula, the expert ignored the important fact 

that each plaintiff was paid for each hour they 

worked, as it is uncontested that they were paid a 

daily rate for each day worked. (Ex.V.l 162) 

Ignoring this uncontested fact essentially gives 

the plaintiffs a windfall because their damages should 

only be what they were not paid, which was the "one 

half" in the time and a half calculation. For Ms. 

Devaney, as an example, her total claimed damages of 

$34,732 in the initial expert report claimed the en­

tire time and a half without regard of the fact they 

were paid their hourly wage already. Because they 

were paid two-thirds of their claimed damage, at most 

Ms. Devaney could only recover $11,577.33. And this 

figure was even created by using an inflated hourly 

"regular rate" because the daily rate was divided by 8 

instead of the actual hours worked. (Ex.V.2 34-36) 

Because triple damages sought by the plaintiffs 
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were a known factor in this case since its inception, 

this miscalculation by the expert would ultimately 

give the plaintiffs 9 times of what their sole evi­

dence is of what was not paid in overtime, which was a 

combined $42,426.33. 

Given that this was only a damages trial, this 

mistake ultimately forced this case to trial in a lev­

erage play against someone who was compliant with Mas­

sachusetts law and someone who honored each wage com­

mitment that each plaintiff had when he purchased the 

restaurant. 

The fact that the plaintiffs' sole evidence lead­

ing into trial was from an expert concluding a clearly 

erroneous number ignoring the plaintiffs' own factual 

testimony that they were all already paid their hourly 

wages for each hour worked would and that they worked 

more than 8 hours a day, the defendants planned to 

rely on that mistake as a major part of their cross 

examination, defense at trial with damages as well as 

a justification to limit "reasonable" attorneys' fee 

should they be awarded. (Tr.V.1 212, 213) (Tr.V.2 234, 

239) Simply put, if there was a finding that the

plaintiffs were continuing the litigation in bad 
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faith, then there could have been an argument to miti­

gate or limit the putative damages of multiple damages 

and attorneys' fees. 

At the start of trial, the plaintiffs asserted 

that the expert that made the mistake was not going to 

testify. (Tr.V.l 72, 257) After the judge determined 

the formula for damages, he then allowed the plaintiff 

to call the expert and actually directed the plaintiff 

on how the expert should testify. (Tr.V.2 116) The 

judge specifically allowed the plaintiffs to amend 

their report and opinion in the middle of trial. Af­

ter being allowed to amend their report, counsel for 

the defendants specifically stated "Again, I object 

that I don't know what their numbers are on the fourth 

day of trial, so for the record, I object as to this." 

(Tr.V.2 135) 

The judge then amazingly stated that in light of 

the fact that defense counsel "did not protest what 

you saw [in the original report], which we've now -

which I've agreed is opaque, and the - so that the ex­

pert didn't really describe as near as I can tell, how 

he did the first step according to the law as I've in­

terpreted it, which is to say the denominator is the 
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house actually worked." (Tr.V.2 135) 

Over continual objections, the trial judge actu­

ally told plaintiff's counsel, in the middle of a dam­

ages trial, how she was to have the expert testify to 

justify having them change an "opinion". (Tr.V.2 116) 

The Judge said, "Since he didn't do that, and if that 

changes the numbers, I think you should re-do this re­

port tonight." (Tr.V.2 135) 

In response, on October 2, 2019, defendants' 

counsel stated his comprehensive objection on the rec­

ord of the trial, which can be found in full withing 

the addendum to this brief as well as in the appellate 

record. 

Anthony Gabinetti was eventually called to tes­

tify on the subject matter and opinions originally 

said to be in the province of Mr. Moore. (Ex.V.1 52-

53) His new opinion was that Mr. Rueangjan's regular

rate was calculated by dividing the weekly wages by an 

average amount of hours worked of 64 hours. (Tr.V.3 

218) He came to the number of 64 hours a week under

the assumption that he worked every single day, which 

is a total of 12 shifts or 6 full day rates (five full 

day shifts for Monday through Friday and one-half day 
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for each Saturday and Sunday) (Tr. V. 2 259-262) Mr. Ga­

binetti then took the 24 hours above 40 hours a week 

and multiplied that by 1.5 of the regular rate and 

multiplied that figure by 81 weeks of work. This re­

sulted in a damages claim of $45,927 for Mr. Rueangjan 

by the expert. (Tr.V.2 220) 

For Ms. Devaney, the expert opined that there was 

$29,163 in overtime compensation owed. (Tr.V.2 226) 

For Ms. Wungnak, the expert testified that there was 

$25,984.24 owed in overtime wages. (Tr.V.2 228-229) 

The expert testified that his opinions were within 

"reasonable economic certainty". (Tr. V. 2 22 9) 

The expert testified that he created his opinion 

on October 1, 2019 and that he never attended trial 

prior to that date. He never spoke to one plaintiff 

and never testified in court before. The expert testi­

fied that he did not physically type the supplemental 

report even though the expert claimed at trial that he 

used new facts to justify his new opinion in the Octo­

ber 1 supplemental report, he could not testify as to 

any new fact that would justify the supplementation. 

According to the expert, the only difference between 

the two reports is how he tried to calculate damages 
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per the Fair Labor Standards Act. He did not amend his 

report based on trial testimony, which he did not hear 

at all. The expert then testified that his trial opin­

ion was a lot lower than it was in the original 2018 

report even though both were based on a "reasonable 

economic certainty" because he learned more about 

"federal law". (Tr.V.2 243-248) 

In citing such extraordinary numbers of damages 

and being the only source for a damage figure offered 

at trial, the expert had no idea what each plaintiff 

testified to at trial as to the hours they worked each 

week. (Tr.V.2 55-56) His use of numbers did not ac­

count for any break time, vacation time, the days the 

restaurant were closed or Ms. Devaney's two trips to 

Thailand. (Tr.V.2 244) The expert did not rely on the 

actual kitchen schedule for his opinion. For instance, 

the expert he did not lower his average weekly figure 

of 64 hours that was based on the mistaken belief that 

Mr. Rueangjan worked all 12 weekly shifts when he 

learned that Mr. Rueangjan had every Thursday morning 

off. (Ex.V.3 29) (Tr.V.2 219) 

For his conclusion relative to Ms. Wungnak, the 

expert assumed she worked all seven days, which is 12 
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separate units, which was not consistent with the 

plaintiff's own testimony as to her time. (Tr.V.2 262) 

The eventual jury verdict was the natural conse­

quence of the court's ruling that the plaintiffs' damage 

could not be reduced by uncontested testimony of the 

money already received by them when they worked for the 

defendant. (Tr.V.3 162-163) It was also the natural con­

sequence that the plaintiffs were allowed to present 

expert testimony on the subject of damages after being 

given the specific direction on how the opinion should 

read. Such a trial by ambush clearly prejudiced the 

defendants ability to defend a case that was premised on 

a bad faith attempt to collect money while ignoring that 

2/3 of the claim was already received. 

Ultimately what occurred was that the Trial Judge 

allowed a clearly flawed expert opinion to be amended at 

trial. There was no need for an expert to testify as to 

a damages calculation, as running numbers through a de­

termined formula is clearly within a jury's mental ca­

pability. But by allowing an "expert" to offer his math, 

and then allowing him to correct obvious flaws in the 

middle of trial, the defendants' chances to only pay 
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what was owed and to mitigate their damages was as much 

as destroyed. 

The allowance of the amendment in the middle of 

trial gave approval to the expert's opinion in the eyes 

of the jury, even though the law in an expert opinion 

should be irrelevant. This proved to create an insur-

mountable hurdle for defendants who were forced for 

years into a trial that was predicated on a clearly 

flawed opinion. Such actions of the judge more than 

guaranteed a prejudicial result for the defendants. 

V. By so instructing, Judge Wilson rendered moot the
Massachusetts law relative to overtime compensation for
restaurant workers

Our Supreme Judicial Court has said that 

"[a] lthough we give respectful consideration to such 

lower Federal court decisions as seem persuasive," "we 

are not bound by decisions of Federal courts except the 

decisions of the United States Supreme Court on ques-

tions of Federal law." Commonwealth v. Pon, 469 Mass. 

296, 308 (2014). The Trial Court was not bound by the 

First Circuit's interpretation of Massachusetts 

law. Harrison v. Town of Mattapoisett, 78 Mass. App. 

Ct. 367, 372 (2010) 

M.G.L. ch. 151, lA was enacted after the Federal

Fair Labor Standards Act ( FLSA) . And it has been said 
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that where "the language of a statute differs in material 

respects from a previously enacted analogous Federal 

statute which the Legislature appears to have consid­

ered, a decision to reject the legal standards embodied 

or implicit in the language of the Federal statute may 

be inf erred". Arias-Villano v. Chang & Sons Enters., 

Inc . , 4 81 Mass . 6 2 5 , 6 3 0-31, ( 2019 ) . 

Here, applying stricter Massachusetts' penalties 

for a violation of federal law renders moot the legis­

lative intent as made clear in the unambiguous lan­

guage of G.L. ch. 151, s. lA, which excludes these 

plaintiffs as restaurant workers to receive time and a 

half for overtime. G.L. ch. 151, s. lA (14). 

"Ordinarily, where the language of a statute is 

plain and unambiguous, it is conclusive as to legisla­

tive intent." Thurdin v. SEI Boston, LLC, 452 Mass. 

436, 444 (2008). Where statutory language is clear, 

Courts must give effect to the plain and ordinary 

meaning of the language "in light of the aim of the 

Legislature," unless to do so would produce an "ab­

surd" or "illogical" result. Malloch v. Hanover, 472 

Mass. 783, 788 (2015) quoting Sullivan v. Brookline, 

435 Mass. 353, 360 (2001). "A statute or ordinance 

should not be construed in a way that produces absurd 
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or unreasonable results when a sensible construction 

is readily available; nor should an enactment be con­

strued in such a way as to make a nullity of perti­

nent provisions. Manning v. Bos. Redevelopment Auth., 

4 0 0 Mass . 4 4 4 , 4 5 3 (19 8 7 ) 

Simply following state law even though these de­

fendants are exempt from it does not consider the aim 

of the Massachusetts legislature. Here, the plaintiff 

is seeking the harsher Massachusetts penalties of tri­

ple damages and attorneys' fees for a violation of a 

federal statute. And while in some contexts such en­

forcement may be justified, such a result is inequita­

ble and clearly contrary to our legislative intent be­

cause of the exclusion given by G.L. ch. 151, lA. Be­

cause of this exclusion alone, the plaintiff should be 

limited to the damages available to it under the fed­

eral statute, which has its own penalty provisions, 

and which was found to be violated. To do otherwise 

would absolutely make irrelevant the exclusion in Mas­

sachusetts for restaurant owners. 

It should be legally impossible to be found 

guilty under a statutory scheme of not timely paying 

wages that are not owed under the same statutory 

scheme. 
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The plaintiffs were clever in drafting their com­

plaint seeking liability under federal law, but stronger 

penalties of Massachusetts statute. By allowing such an 

application, the Court did not reconcile the use of one 

statute to award damages for the violation of an entirely 

separate statute. 

The clear intent of the Massachusetts legislature 

was expressed by its choice not to penalize restaurant 

owners for the same claims as present in this case. 

Because of that, the correct law of the case should be 

through federal law, and thereby giving full weight and 

credit to the Massachusetts legislature regarding over­

time pay within the Massachusetts restaurant industry. 

A man bought a restaurant that had a kitchen staff. 

The same man honored the agreements and salary obliga­

tions that existed when he purchased the place. He did 

not negotiate them or alter them in any way. Rather, he 

simply honored them. Massachusetts law excludes these 

plaintiffs from overtime requirements that have been 

claimed by the plaintiffs pursuant to M.G.L. ch. 151, s. 

lA. 

Summary judgment already determined that the plain­

tiffs were entitled to damages because of a violation of 

29 U.S.C. s. 207 as alleged in Count I of the Amended 
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Complaint. Per 29 U.S.C. s. 216, the plaintiffs would 

be entitled to the overtime compensation they prove to 

have not been paid, and an additional equal amount as 

liquidated damages. Ultimately, the statute allows for 

those double damages if there is not a showing that the 

defendant acted in good faith and had reasonable grounds 

for believing that its acts did not violate statute. 

See Chao v. Hotel Oasis, Inc. 493, F.3d 26, 35 (1 st Cir. 

2007) quoting 29 U.S.C. 260. The plaintiffs could also 

be entitled to federally imposed liquidated damages, 

which would be double the damages found at trial. See 

Id. 

The stricter state penalties should not apply to 

any case where a defendant is excluded. The claimed 

wrong was for not paying the correct rate for overtime 

wages earned by the plaintiffs in violation of federal 

law. The right to triple damages, costs and reasonable 

attorney's fees are from the application of M.G.L. ch. 

149, s. 150. 

However, every single reiteration of the court's 

and plaintiffs' proposed ( and eventual) jury instruc­

tions included only federal law and not state law. Had 

state law been contemplated for the damages calculation, 

the same statute that the plaintiffs seek enforcement of 
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now also would allow evidence that could be construed as 

a set-off for underpaid overtime wages. 

also states: 

The statute 

On the trial no defense for failure to pay as 

required, other than the attachment of such 

wages by trustee process or a valid assignment 

thereof or a valid set-off against the same, 

or the absence of the employee from his regu­

lar place of labor at the time of payment, or 

an actual tender to such employee at the time 

of payment of the wages so earned by him, shall 

be valid. 

Though allowable by the very statute now claiming 

to be used to provide damages, the defendant was not 

entitled to present anything in the form of a set off 

to the wages claimed owed, thereby further prejudicing 

the defendants. It is suggested that the moneys actu­

ally given to the plaintiffs which was their hourly 

rate for each hour worked should have been allowed to 

have been presented in order to set-off the claimed 

damages. Since the entire case was seen through the 

lens of federal law, no such defense was allowed to be 

given to the jury. 

Because of the foregoing, there should be a legal 

determination that when an industry is specifically 

excluded from our state statute but the same behavior 

is non-compliant with federal law, that federal law be 
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the exclusive source of damages for any such liabil-

ity. 

VI. Whether there was sufficient evidence to support
the jury finding of damages for each plaintiff.

Through their expert, the plaintiffs only presented 

evidence of the following damages: (a) Devaney suffered 

exactly $29,163 in damage (Tr.V.2 226) (2) Rueangjan 

suffered exactly $45,927 in damage; (Tr.V.2 220) and 

(3) Wungnak suffered exactly $25,984.24 in damage.

(Tr.V.2 228-229) As such, the combined presented damages 

was $101,074.24 

It cannot be disputed that each plaintiff was al­

ready paid for each hour worked as they all testified to 

as much. (Tr.V.1 344) (Tr.V.2 73, 183) As such, according 

to their own testimony, they each were paid two thirds 

of their eventually claimed damages. According to their 

own evidence, they were not actually paid when they 

worked for the defendants $9,721 for Devaney, $15,309 

for Rueangjan and $8,661.41 for Wungnak. Therefore, the 

combined damages per 

$33,691.41. 

their trial testimony was 

Had the plaintiffs used the correct law and applied 

their clients' own undisputed facts to that law since 
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the beginning of this dispute, this case does not go to 

trial. Given the teeth inherent in the laws against em­

ployers, there was no inherent desire for plaintiffs to 

settle prior to trial even though the plaintiffs' own 

expert was wrong throughout the entire action with the 

calculation of his opinion. 

Throughout litigation, however, the plaintiffs had 

another theory of damages per their pretrial memorandum 

(Ex.V.1 45), their July 2018 expert opinion (Ex.V.2 32), 

and as reiterated in the final pretrial conference. The 

only number given by the plaintiffs as to what they 

claimed their actual damages were $61,236 for Mr. 

Rueangjan, 31,311 for Ms. Wungnak and $34,732 for Ms. 

Devaney. (Ex.V.2 36). Their total claimed damages, 

therefore, were $127,279. (Ex. V. 2 36) 

They purposefully calculated this number by inflat­

ing the hourly rate and then ignoring the fact that Mr. 

Rueangjan was paid $40,824 of that figure, Ms. Wungnak 

was paid $20,874 and Ms. Devaney already was paid 

$23,154.67. (Ex.V.2 36) In total, therefore, the plain-

tiffs only presented wages earned, but not received 

throughout all of litigation was $20,412 for Mr. 

Rueangjan, $10,437 for Ms. Wungnak and $11,577.33 for 

Ms. Devaney, or a combined $42,426.33. 
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Because of their litigation strategy, the plain­

tiffs were therefore seeking 9 times the uncontested 

unpaid portion of their overtime wages, which would 

equal $381,836.97 plus 12% interest and plus attorneys' 

fees. (Ex.V.l 49-50, 53-54) 

The jury returned verdicts that had no support by 

the evidence and was greater than what was even asked 

for by the plaintiffs themselves. First of all, none of 

the plaintiffs testified as to what their claimed dam­

ages were. Not one number was offered, and the manner in 

which their guesswork was explained was cloudy at best. 

Nevertheless, they requested and were granted permission 

to offer a brand new expert theory as to their claimed 

damages in the middle of trial that was not based upon 

the trial evidence or testimony. 

When the defendants were finally given the plain­

tiffs' claimed damages figures, there were clear 

faults with the expert's work. First, the expert of­

fered numbers based on the assumptions that the plain­

tiffs never took a day or shift off, even though the 

plaintiffs themselves testified to the opposite. One 

of the plaintiffs, Devaney, actually took a month off 

from work and the expert included that time in her 
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damage figure. In other words, their "expert" who did 

not even listen to the clients' testimony on the very 

subject of his opinion, sought (and received) overtime 

damages at one and one half times an hourly rate for 

an entire month that the plaintiff even admitted to 

not even working. 

Further, the jury instructions included the in­

struction that the "burden of proof is on the plain­

tiffs to show affirmatively the amount of damages that 

they are entitled to collect from the defendants."( 

Tr. 843) The only affirmative evidence to satisfy this 

burden of proof that was determined to lie outside the 

scope of the jury's experience was the expert testi­

mony that Devaney was owed $29,163, Rueangjan was owed 

$45,927 and Wungnak was owed $25,984.24. The jury was 

not tasked and could not be tasked with performing any 

function of math as that was already determined to be 

in the purview of the expert, or else there would be 

no need for one. 

Since July 2018, the plaintiffs sole evidence 

presented was that they were not paid $42,426.33. This 

was plaintiffs' case and because attorneys' fees and 

multiple damages were a part of their case, there was 

no inherent desire to consider any fault in that 
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opinion. Even with their initial claim of $127,279, 

all plaintiffs and the expert knew they were paid for 

each hour worked and that was already calculated 

within their regular rate. 

Simply because the defendants believed in good 

faith that the law requires that a Court take into ac­

count what was owed as well as what was actually paid 

to them like any other contract case, this judgment 

ballooned to $548,982.21 for presented unpaid wages in 

the amount of $33,691.41. This result is the exact 

miscarriage of justice that the law should seek to 

avoid. (Ex.V.4 181-182) (Tr.V.2 220, 226, 228-229) 

CONCLUSION 

Because of the foregoing, the defendants respect­

fully request a determination as to the correct manner 

to calculate damages, a finding that federal law can 

only be used for liquidated damages, a determination 

that a new trial is compelled, and at that trial, evi­

dence for the federal law of liquidation be allowed, 

and finally that if any hearing to determine reasona­

ble attorneys' fees is allowed, that the Trial Court 

is able to consider whether or not the continuation of 
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litigation in bad faith or in error can reduce the at­

torneys' fees award. 

Respectfully Submi}ted, 
The Defendants/A pellants, 
By Th ir 

C ey, Esquire 
H sey .. 
47 Federa eet 
Salem, MA 01970 
(978) 745-2611

B.B.O. No. 647631
cfhemsey@hemseyjudge.com

Dated: ') \ l") \ 1, \
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RUTCHADA DEVANEY and others1 

vs. 

ZUCCHINI GOLD, LLC and another2

SUPERIOR COURT 
CIVIL ACTION 
NO. 2015-2839 

ORDER At'l'5>:! DGMENT AFTER TRIAL 

On October 4, 2019, a jury returned a verdict in this case concerning overtime pay. The 

jury found that Defendant Zucchini Gold, LLC and its president and owner, Defendant Intha, had 

violated the federal Fair Labor Standards Act, 29 U.S.C. § 207, by failing to pay overtime to the 

three Plaintiffs for their work in the kitchen of the restaurant owned and operated by Defendants. 

The jury awarded damages of$27,463.68 to Plaintiff Devaney; $46,768.65 to Plaintiff 

Rueangjan; and $40,265.68 to Plaintiff Wungnak. 

Plaintiffs also sued Defendants under the Massachusetts Wage Act, G.L. c. 149, § 148. 

That statute requires that an employer (and certain of its officers, in this case including 

Defendant Intha) pay its employees their wages within strict time limits, long since passed in this 

case. More than a year before trial, Judge Ames granted summary judgment to Plaintiffs as to 

liability on that Wage Act claim. See Memorandum of Decision and Order on Plaintiffs Motion 

for Partial Summary Judgment dated June 7, 2018, at 6 ("Because the plaintiffs did not receive 

overtime compensation, there can be no genuine dispute that they did not receive all 'wages 

1 Thewakul Rueangjan and Thanyathon Wungnak 
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earned' in a timely manner. The defendants, therefore, also violated the Wage Act when they 

failed to pay the plaintiffs in accordance with the FLSA."). Left for trial was the determination 

of the amounts of unpaid overtime owed by Defendants to each Plaintiff. The jury's verdict has 

now supplied that information. 

Under the Wage Act, employees deprived of timely payment of their wages are entitled 

to a mandatory award of treble damages, plus reasonable attorney's fees and costs. See G.L. 

c. 149, § 150. After the jury rendered its verdict on the FLSA claim, Plaintiffs' counsel sought

entry of judgment under the Wage Act for three times the amounts awarded by the jury (plus 

costs and reasonable attorney's fees). Defendants' counsel argued that an award of treble 

damages is legally unjustified. After some discussion, at the request of Defendants' counsel, I 

set a briefing schedule for legal argument about the propriety of employing the state Wage Act to 

treble the damages awarded under the federal FLSA. Those briefs did not immediately reach my 

courtroom, but I have now received and reviewed them. 

Treble Damages 

Defendants argue that the Massachusetts overtime statute does not apply here because it 

specifically exempts from its coverage "any employee who is employed ... in a restaurant." 

G .L. c. 151, § 1 A(l 4 ). But Plaintiffs did not sue for overtime under state law. They brought 

their overtime claims under the federal FLSA, which does create a right to overtime for 

restaurant workers. Plaintiffs' only relevant state law claim was that Defendants violated the 

Wage Act by failing to pay them overtime wages, owed to them under federal law, on the strict 

schedule for the payment of all wages imposed by the Wage Act. 
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Defendants apparently believe that Plaintiffs are attempting to execute an end run around 

the Massachusetts overtime law by using federal law to collect overtime and then using the state 

law Wage Act to treble the overtime payments to which they were entitled under federal law. In 

so arguing, Defendants fail to deal with two legal realities. 

First, Defendants ignore the law of the case. Judge Ames decided last year that 

Defendants' failure to pay overtime wages to Plaintiffs on the schedule required for the payment 

of wages violated the Wage Act. To adopt Defendants' position, I would have to undo that 

earlier decision in this case that Defendants are liable for violating the Wage Act. 

Second, while neither party has pointed to any relevant decisions from the Massachusetts 

appellate courts, trial judges in both the Superior Court and the federal court have uniformly 

adopted the position of Plaintiffs, not Defendants, on the precise question at issue here. For 

example, in Frost v. Malden/Dockside, Inc., 2017 Mass. Super. LEXIS 183 (Mass. Super. 2017) 

(Leibensperger, J.), Judge Leibensperger stated, "Thus, if the FLSA requires Defendants to pay 

premium pay for work more than 40 hours per week, the Wage Act may be used to enforce that 

obligation." Id. at *3. In support, Judge Leibensperger cited two federal district court decisions 

to the same effect. Id. at *2, discussing Lambirth v. Adv. Auto, Inc., 140 F. Supp. 3d 108 (D. 

Mass. 2015) and Carroca v. All Star Enters. & Collision Ctr., Inc., 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 

96913 (D. Mass. 2013). (Judge Ames also cited these two federal cases in her summary 

judgment ruling that Defendants violated the Wage Act.) 

Lambirth is particularly relevant here. In that case, Judge Hillman (himself a former 

Superior Court judge) defined "the disputed issue [as] whether the Wage Act can be used as a 

means of collecting treble damages for unpaid overtime wages due under federal law." 104 F. 

Supp. 3d at 111. After discussing the legislative intent behind the Wage Act at some length, 
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Judge Hillman co,ncluded that the answer to this question is "yes": "The above-cited decisions,

and a close reading of the Wage Act, lead to the conclusion that the statute applies to the 

untimely payment of all wages to which an employee is entitled under either state or federal 

law." Id. at 112. 

I now join Judge Leibensperger, Judge Hillman, and other state and federal trial judges -

including Judge Ames, in this very case -- in reaching the same conclusion. Having established 

their entitlement to single damages under the FLSA at trial, Plaintiffs are entitled to have those 

single damages trebled for Plaintiffs failure to pay those amounts when due under the Wage 

Act. 

Attorney's Fees 

Plaintiffs have filed a petition for attorney's fees and costs. Defendants' primary 

response to that petition is to complain that "Plaintiffs and their attorneys caused this litigation to 

go as long as it has as they always demanded three times damages as their single damage," 

Defendants' Response to Plaintiffs' Request for Attorney Fees at 4, and then made their damages 

number a moving target. Defendants ignore the fact that Plaintiffs were in fact entitled to treble 

damages, as I rule above. As for the moving target, Defendants are not in a position to complain 

that "no Plaintiff was able to give a number of their damages at trial," id. at 3, given that 

Defendants maintained so few employment records that they arguably violated their legal 

requirements to maintain such records. 

After several pages of argument that Plaintiffs "should not be rewarded for their own 

frivolous litigation," id. at 5, and that the attorney's fee provision in the Wage Act is a "giant 

legal loophole," id. at 3, Defendants spend one paragraph "looking at [Plaintiffs'] submissions" 
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in the petition for fees and costs. Id. at 5-6. In that paragraph, Defendants level three specific 

criticisms concerning attorney's fees: that two attorneys were used where only one was needed; 

that the "submissions are filled with unverifiable work," id. at 5; and that Attorney May billed 

for travel time to and from court. As for costs, there is only one criticism, that Plaintiffs seek 

almost $9,000 in fees for expert witnesses "when they were not even going to be called at trial." 

Id. 

Defendants do not point to any particular entry in Plaintiffs' submission as an example of 

double-teaming an event where one attorney would have been sufficient, or of"unverifiable 

work," or of charges for travel time. This forces me to engage in a level of review of the fee 

petition that Defendants apparently chose not to do themselves. But that is my responsibility 

anyway, because the statute requires me to award only "reasonable" fees and costs. 

A trial judge "typically 'is in the best position to determine how much time was 

reasonably spent on a case, and the fair value of the attorney's services."' Killeen v. West ban 

Hotel Venture, LP, 69 Mass. App. Ct. 784, 790 (2007), quoting Fontaine v. Ebtec Corp., 415 

Mass. 309, 324 (1993). For that reason, the trial judge has considerable discretion in 

determining the size of a reasonable attorney's fee. Berman v. Linnane, 434 Mass. 301, 302-303 

(2001); DiMarzo v. American Mut. Ins. Co., 389 Mass. 85, 106 (1983). 

All of the itemized legal bills are before me. I have reviewed them generally, keeping an 

eye out for instances that fall into the categories criticized by Defendants. However, I '"need 

not, and indeed should not, become [a] green-eyeshade accountant' in determining what amount 

of attorney's fees is reasonable in a particular case." Parker v. EnerNOC, Inc., 2018 Mass. 

Super. LEXIS 97, *7-8 (Mass. Super. 20 I 8) (Salinger, J.), quoting Fox v. Vice, 563 US 826, 838 

(2011 ). Thus I am not required, or even expected, to review each entry on legal bills totaling 
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hundreds of thousands of dollars. Twin Fires Inv., LLC v. Morgan Stanley Dean Witter & Co., 

445 Mass. 411, 431 (2005). 

In my review, I have applied the familiar lodestar analysis. I have considered "the nature 

of the case and the issues presented, the time and labor required, the amount of damages 

involved, the result obtained, the experience, reputation and ability of the attorney, the usual 

price charged for similar services by other attorneys in the same area, and the amount of awards 

in similar cases." Linthicum v. Archambault, 379 Mass. 381, 388-389 (1979). A judge is not 

required to perform a factor-by-factor analysis, and no one factor is determinative. Twin Fires, 

445 Mass. at 430. I conclude, on the basis of that general lodestar review, that the award I make 

below is fully justified. 

This case involved some complex issues. In particular, as I noted above, there is no 

Massachusetts appellate authority on the use of the state Wage Act to enforce, by treble 

damages, an overtime violation of the federal Fair Labor Standards Act. Furthermore, the parties 

litigated the question of whether unpaid overtime damages constituted 1 ½ times the overtime 

hours worked or merely ½ times those hours ( on the theory that Plaintiffs had already been paid 

straight time for those hours). This is a complex issue, over which Defendants fought long and 

hard. Plaintiffs ultimately prevailed. 

The tasks performed by Plaintiffs' counsel in this case generally were appropriate. To 

the extent I understand what Defendants mean by "unverifiable work," I saw nothing in these 

bills to support that criticism. The time devoted to the tasks performed was, if anything, 

conservative. The need to employ interpreters in their dealings with their clients, two trial 

witnesses, and perhaps others, may have justifiably caused counsel to expend more hours than 

would otherwise be necessary. In addition, Defendants' failure to maintain, and therefore to 
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produce in discovery,3 adequate employment records also complicated the case for Plaintiffs' 

counsel. 

The jury awarded single damages of a total of more than $114,000, a considerable 

amount, particularly considering the relatively low wage rates that Defendants paid Plaintiffs. 

Many more dollars than that were involved in this case, however, because of the possibility, now 

realized, that Plaintiffs would collect treble damages and attorney's fees. That Plaintiffs' counsel 

obtained a very good result for Plaintiffs is not debatable. Furthermore, counsel obtained a real 

estate attachment in the amount of $300,000 near the outset of this case to secure the ultimate 

judgment in favor of Plaintiffs. 

From my observation of counsel at trial, and from my review of affidavits submitted by 

prominent plaintiff-side employment attorneys in support of the fee petition, I conclude that the 

rates charged for the time of Plaintiffs' two attorneys - $400 per hour for Ms. May and $375 per 

hour for Mr. Levey - are appropriate. 

The bills submitted by Plaintiffs show that counsel has decided not to seek 

reimbursement for about 30 hours of time. My review of the bills shows that those 

uncompensated hours were for making filings, sending emails, informing the court and 

Defendants of a change of address, and the like. Those deductions are appropriate, and perhaps 

even generous. 

I have looked for occasions where both lawyers billed for what one lawyer might have 

done by herself. Those few instances I could find were perfectly appropriate. As one example, 

3 In one particularly telling moment at trial, Defendant Intha surprised even his own lawyers by testifying that he 
had some employment records in a desk drawer at work, which he had never shown his lawyers, much less produced 
in discovery to Plaintiffs. I ordered him and his counsel to produce those records to Plaintiffs that evening. 
Apparently deciding that they had not been prejudiced, Plaintiffs did not press the issue further. 
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Attorney Levey expended 1.3 hours on September 24, 2018 reviewing Attorney May's opening 

statement with her while she was preparing it. Obtaining a critique by a second lawyer of this 

important facet of the trial is a professionally responsible thing to do. 

I did find that Attorney May, but not Attorney Levey, charged for travel to and from 

court (and to and from depositions, an item about which Defendants did not complain). I find no 

fault with this commonplace practice, but "when a party other than the one who hired the lawyer 

is required to pay the fee, conservative criteria are in order." City Rentals, LLC v. BBC Co., 79 

Mass. App. Ct. 559, 567 (2011), quoting Price v. Cole, 31 Mass. App. Ct. 1, 7 (1991). With no 

assistance from Defendants, I spotted about 15 hours of such travel charges, and I will therefore 

reduce the requested fee award by $6,000. 

The only objection to costs raised by Defendants is to the expert witness fees of $8,800 (a 

voluntary reduction from the $9,750 actually incurred). Plaintiffs identified two experts, who 

worked at the same firm, but only one of them testified. The other expert was available in the 

courtroom at Defendants' request, however, in case Defendants wished to call him to cross­

examine him, a course of action Defendants ultimately did not choose. Nonetheless, because 

only one expert testified, I will reduce the requested expert witness cost by 50% and award only 

$4,400. 

In sum, then, I award $188,965 in reasonable attorney's fees and $11,404.18 in costs, for 

a total of $200,369.18. 

Order for Judgment 

FINAL JUDGMENT IS TO ENTER in favor of Plaintiff Rutchada Devaney, and 

against Defendants Zucchini Gold, LLC and Chalermpol Intha, jointly and severally, in the 
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amount of $82,391.04 (which is three times the single damages awarded by the jury of 

$27,463.68) plus prejudgment statutory interest from September 21, 2015 (to be calculated by 

the clerk), plus attorney's fees and costs of $66,789.72 (which is one-third of the reasonable 

attorney's fees and costs that I award above); 

FINAL JUDGMENT IS TO ENTER in favor of PlaintiffThewakul Rueangjan, and 

against Defendants Zucchini Gold, LLC and Chalermpol Intha,jointly and severally, in the 

amount of$140,305.95 (which is three times the single damages awarded by the jury of 

$46,768.65) plus prejudgment statutory interest from September 21, 2015 (to be calculated by 

the clerk), plus attorney's fees and costs of $66,789.72 (which is one-third of the reasonable 

attorney's fees and costs that I award above); 

FINAL JUDGMENT IS TO ENTER in favor of PlaintiffThanyathon Wungnak, and 

against Defendants Zucchini Gold, LLC and Chalermpol Intha, jointly and severally, in the 

amount of$120,797.04 (which is three times the single damages awarded by the jury of 

$40,265.68) plus prejudgment statutory interest from September 21, 2015 (to be calculated by 

the clerk), plus attorney's fees and costs of $66,789.72 (which is one-third of the reasonable 

attorney's fees and costs that I award above.) 

November 27, 2018 

GL� Paul D. Wilson 
Justice of the Superior Court 
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RUTCHADA DEV ANEY and others 1 

ZUCCHINI GOLD, LLC and another2

SUPERIOR COURT 

CIVIL ACTION 

NO. 2015-2839 

ORDER ON: (1) DEFENDANT'S' POSTTRIAL MOTION TO ALTER OR AMEND THE 

JUDGMENT PURSUANT TO MASS. R. CIV. P 59(e) AND FOR REMITTITUR, and (2) 

PLAINTIFFS' CROSS-MOTION FOR SUPPLEMENTAL A WARD OF ATTORNEY'S 

FEES AND COSTS 

On October 4, 2019, a jury returned a verdict in this case concerning overtime pay. The 

jury found that Defendant Zucchini Gold, LLC and its president and owner, Defendant Intha, had 

violated the federal Fair Labor Standards Act, 29 U.S.C. § 207, by failing to pay overtime to the 

three Plaintiffs for their work in the kitchen of the restaurant owned and operated by Defendants. 

The jury awarded damages of$27,463.68 to Plaintiff Devaney; $46,768.65 to Plaintiff 

Rueangjan; and $40,265.68 to Plaintiff Wungnak. On November 27, 2019, after posttrial 

briefing concerning treble damages and attorney's fees, I ordered the entry of judgment in favor 

of each Plaintiff in specific amounts, and judgment entered in those amounts on December 2, 

2019. Defendants have now moved to alter or amend the judgment because of an error 

concerning the calculation of prejudgment interest, and for remittitur. Plaintiffs have cross­

moved for a supplemental award of attorney's fees and costs. 

1 Thewakul Rueangjan and Thanyathon Wungnak 

2 Chalerrnpol Intha 
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Defendants' motion is ALLOWED as to the amendment of the prejudgment interest 

calculation in the judgment. The parties agree that prejudgment interest should be calculated 

only on the single damages, not on three times those damages. See George v. Nat'! Water Main 

Cleaning Co., 477 Mass. 371, 381 (2017) (clarifying that, where damages are automatically 

trebled, prejudgment interest should be assessed only on the single damages, not the treble 

damages). Therefore I DIRECT that the clerk recalculate the prejudgment statutory interest 

from September 21, 2015 on the amount of single damages awarded by the jury, namely the 

$27,463.68 awarded to Plaintiff Devaney, the $46,768.65 awarded to PlaintiffRueangjan, and 

the $40,265.68 awarded to Plaintiff Wungnak. 

Defendants' motion is DENIED as to the request for remittitur. As Defendants concede, 

see Defendants' Posttrial Motion at 2; I can disturb the jury verdict only if "the damages awarded 

were greatly disproportionate to the injury proven or represented a miscarriage of justice." 

Labonte v. Hutchins & Wheeler, 424 Mass. 813, 824 (1997). Defendants argue that the amounts 

that the jury awarded to the Plaintiffs were completely unsupported by the evidence and 

therefore the standard was met. I disagree, for the reasons cited in Plaintiffs' Partial Opposition. 

Plaintiffs have cross-moved for a supplemental award of attorney's fees and costs, 

totaling $5119.03. Defendants inaccurately suggest that all of this expense was incurred in 

opposing the current motion. However, some of this request actually covers counsel's work in 

connection with the earlier post-trial briefing, performed after the cut-off date for the last request 

for attorney's fees. I have reviewed Attorney May's affidavit, and the attached billing detail, and 

conclude that these fees are reasonable. Therefore I ALLOW this cross-motion. As a 

consequence, I DIRECT that the clerk add an additional $5119.03 to the attorney's fees awarded 

in the earlier judgment. 
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COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS 

SUFFOLK, SS TRIAL COURT 
SUPER COURT DIV. 

RUTCHADA DEV ANEY, THEW AK.UL 
RUEANGJAN, and THANYATHON 
WUNGNAK, 

Plaintiffs, 

v. 

ZUCCHINI GOLD, LLC, d/b/a RICE BARN, 
AND CHALERMPOL INTRA, 

Defendants. 

C.A. No. 15-2839-F

,. 

AMENDED JUDGMENT ON JURY VERDICT 

cr.w. 

This action came on for trial b fore the Court and a jury, Paul D. Wilson, Justice 

presiding, the issues having been duly tried and the jury having rendered its verdict, it is hereby 

ORDERED and ADJUDGED: 

FINAL JUDGMENT IS TO ENTER in favor of the Plaintiff, RUTCHADA 

DEV ANEY, and against Defendants, ZUCCHINI GOLD, LLC, and CHALERMPOL INTRA, 

jointly and severally, in the amount of (a) $27,463.68, as single damages, plus prejudgment 

statutory interest from September 21, 2015 (to be calculated by the clerk), plus (b) treble 

damages of$54,927.36 and (c) attorney's fees and costs of $68,496.06 (which is one-third of the 

reasonable attorneys' fees and costs awarded by this Court); 

FINAL JUDGMENT IS TO ENTER in favor of the Plaintiff, THEW AKUL 

RUEANGJAN, and against Defendants, ZUCCHINI GOLD, LLC, and CHALERMPOL 
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prejudgment statutory interest from September 21, 2015 (to be calculated by the clerk), plus (b) 

treble damages $93,537.30 and (c) attorney's fees and costs of $68,496.06 (which is one-thitd of 

the reasonable attorneys' fees and costs awarded by this Court); and 

FINAL JUDGMENT IS TO ENTER in favor of the Plaintiff, THANYATHON 

WUNGNAK, and against Defendants, ZUCCHINI GOLD, LLC, and CHALERMPOL INTHA, 

jointly and severally, in the amount of (a) $40,265.68, as single damages, plus prejudgment 

statutory interest from September 21, 2015 (to be calculated by the clerk), plus (b) treble 

damages $80,531.36 and (c) attorney's fees and costs of$68,496.06 (which is one-third of the 

reasonable attorneys' fees and costs awarded by this Court). 

Dated,�i �osto�, Mas�achusetts thisl)� day of January 2020: 

Entered: 
---

Copies Mailed: 
---

2 
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for violation of this section occurring before Apr. 15, 
1986, see section 7 of Pub. L. 99-150, set out as a note 
under section 216 of this title. 

INAPPLICABILITY TO NORTHERN MARIANA ISLANDS 

Pursuant to section 503(c) of the Covenant to Estab­
lish a Commonwealth of the Northern Marlana Islands 
with the United States of America, as set forth in Pub. 
L. 94-241, Mar. 24, 1976, 90 Stat. 263, set out as a note 
under section 1801 of Ti tie 48, Territories and Insular 
Possessions, this section is Inapplicable to the North­

ern Mariana Islands. 

RULES, REGULATIONS, AND ORDERS PROMULGATED WITH 
REGARD TO 1966 AMENDMENTS 

Secretary authorized to promulgate necessary rules, 

regulations, or orders on and after the date of the en­
actment of Pub. L. 89-601, Sept. 23, 1966, with regard to 
the amendments made by Pub. L. 89-601, see section 602 
of Pub. L. 89-601, set out as a note under section 203 of 
this title. 

CONGRESSIONAL FINDING AND DECLARATION OF POLICY 

Pub. L. 88-38, § 2, June 10, 1963, 77 Stat. 56, provided 
that: 

"(a) The Congress hereby finds that the existence In 
industries engaged tn commerce or In the production of 
goods for commerce of wage differentials based on sex­

"(l) depresses wages and living standards for em­
ployees necessary for their heal th and efficiency; 

"(2) prevents the maximum utilization of the avail­

able labor resources; 
"(3) tends to cause labor disputes, thereby burden­

ing, affecting, and obstructing commerce; 
"(4) burdens commerce and the free flow of goods In 

commerce; and 
"(5) constitutes an unfair method of competition. 

"(b) It ts hereby declared to be the policy of this Act 
[amending this section, and enacting provisions set out 
as notes under this section], through exercise by Con­
gress of its power to regulate commerce among the sev­

eral States and with foreig•n nations, to correct the 
conditions above referred to In such industries." 

DEFINITION OF ''ADMINISTRATOR'' 

The term "Administrator" as meaning the Adminis­

trator of the Wage and Hour Division, see section 204 of 
this ti tie. 

§ 207. Maximum hours

(a) Employees engaged in interstate commerce;
additional applicability to employees pursu­
ant to subsequent amendatory provisions

(1) Except as otherwise provided in this sec­
tion, no employer shall employ any of his em­

ployees who in any workweek is engaged in com­
merce or in the production of goods for com­
merce, or is employed in an enterprise engaged 
in commerce or in the production of goods for 
commerce, for a workweek longer than forty 
hours unless such employee receives compensa­
tion for his employment in excess of the hours 
above specified at a rate not less than one and 

one-half times the regular rate at which he is 
employed. 

(2) No employer shall employ any of his em­
ployees who in any workweek is engaged in com­

merce or in the production of goods for com­
merce, or is employed in an enterprise engaged 
in commerce or in the production of goods for 
commerce, and who in such workweek is 
brought within the purview of this subsection by 
the amendments made to this chapter by the 
Fair Labor Standards Amendments of 1966-

(A) for a workweek longer than forty-four
hours during the first year from the effective 

date of the Fair Labor Standards Amendments 
of 1966, 

(B) for a workweek longer than forty-two
hours during the second year from such date, 
or 

(C) for a workweek longer than forty hours
after the expiration of the second year from 
such date, 

unless such employee receives compensation for 
his employment in excess of the hours above 
specified at a rate not less than one and one-half 
times the regular rate at which he is employed. 

(b) Employment pursuant to collective bargain-
ing agreement; employment by independ­
ently own d and controlled local ent.orprisc 
engaged in distribution of petroleum prod­
ucts 

No employer shall be deemed to have violated 
subsection (a) by employing any employee for a 
workweek in excess of that specified in such 
subsection without paying the compensation for 
overtime employment prescribed therein if such 
employee is so employed-

(1) In pursna.nce of an agreement, made as a
result of collective bargaining by representa­
tives of employees certified as bona fide by the 
National Labor Relations Board, which pro­
vides that no employee shall be employed 
more than one thousand and forty hours dur­
ing any period of twenty-six consecutive 
weeks; or 
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(2) in pursuance of an agreement, made as a
result of collective bargaining by representa­
tives of employees certified as bona fide by the 
National Labor Relations Board, which pro­
vides that during a specified period of fifty­
two consecutive weeks the employee shall be 
employed not more than two thousand two 
hundred and forty hours and shall be guaran­
teed not less than one thousand eight hundred 
and forty-hours (or not less than forty-six 
weeks at the normal number of hours worked 
per week, but not less than thirty hours per 
week) and not more than two thousand and 
eighty hours of employment for which he shall 
receive compensation for all hours guaranteed 
or worked at rates not less than those applica­
ble under the agreement to the work per­
formed and for all hours in excess of the guar­
anty which are also in excess of the maximum 
workweek applicable to such employee under 
subsection (a) or two thousand and eighty in 
such period at rates not less than one and one­
half times the regular rate at which he is em­

ployed; or 
(3) by an independently owned and con­

trolled local enterprise (including an enter­
prise with more than one bulk storage estab­
lishment) engaged in the wholesale or bulk 
distribution of petroleum products if-

(A) the annual gross volume of sales of
such enterprise is less than $1,000,000 exclu­

sive of excise taxes, 
(B) more than 75 per centum of such enter­

prise's annual dollar volume of sales is made 
within the State in which such enterprise is 
located, and 

(C) not more than 25 per centum of the an­
nual dollar volume of sales of such enter­
prise is to customers who are engaged in the 
bulk distribution of such products for resale, 
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and such employee receives compensation for 
employment in excess of forty hours in any 
workweek at a rate not less than one and one­
half times the minimum wage rate applicable 
to him under section 206 of this title, 

and if such employee receives compensation for 
employment in excess of twelve hours in any 
workday, or for employment in excess of fifty­
six hours in any workweek, as the case may be, 
at a rate not less than one and one-half times 
the regular rate at which he is employed. 
(c), (d) Repealed. Pub. L. 93-259, § 19(e), Apr. 8, 

1974, 88 Stat. 66 

(e) "Regular rate" defined 

As used in this section the "regular rate" at
which an employee is employed shall be deemed 
to include all remuneration for employment 
paid to, or on behalf of, the employee, but shall 
not be deemed to include-

(1) sums paid as gifts; payments in the na­
ture of gifts made at Christmas time or on 
other special occasions, as a reward for serv­
ice, the amounts of which are not measured by 
or dependent on hours worked, production, or 
efficiency; 

(2) payments made for occasional periods
when no work is performed due to vacation, 
holiday, illness, failure of the employer to pro­
vide sufficient work, or other similar cause; 
reasonable payments for traveling expenses, or 
other expenses, incurred by an employee in 
the furtherance of his employer's interests and 
properly reimbursable by the employer; and 
other similar payments to an employee which 
are not made as compensation for his hours of 
employment; 

(3) Sums 1 paid in recognition of services per­
formed during a given period if either, (a) both 
the fact that payment is to be made and the 
amount of the payment are determined at the 
sole discretion of the employer at or near the 
end of the period and not pursuant to any 
prior contract, agreement, or promise causing 
the employee to expect such payments regu­
larly; or (b) the payments are made pursuant 
to a bona fide profit-sharing plan or trust or 
bona fide thrift or savings plan, meeting the 
requirements of the Administrator set forth in 
appropriate regulations which he shall issue, 
having due regard among other relevant fac­
tors, to the extent to which the amounts paid 
to the employee are determined without re­
gard to hours of work, production, or effi­
ciency; or (c) the payments are talent fees (as 
such talent fees are defined and delimited by 
regulations of the Administrator) paid to per­
formers, including announcers, on radio and 
television programs; 

(4) contributions irrevocably made by an em­
ployer to a trustee or third person pursuant to 
a bona fide plan for providing old-age, retire­
ment, life, accident, or health insurance or 
similar benefits for employees; 

(5) extra compensation provided by a pre­
mium rate paid for certain hours worked by 
the employee in any day or workweek because 
such hours are hours worked in excess of eight 

1 So In original Probably should not be capitalized 

in a day or in excess of the maximum work­
week applicable to such employee under sub­
section (a) or in excess of the employee's nor­
mal working hours or regular working hours, 
as the case may be; 

(6) extra compensation provided by a pre­
mium rate paid for work by the employee on 
Saturdays, Sundays, holidays, or regular days 
of rest, or on the sixth or seventh day of the 
workweek, where such premium rate is not 
less than one and one-half times the rate es­
tablished in good faith for like work per­
formed in nonovertime hours on other days; 

(7) extra compensation provided by a pre­
mium rate paid to the employee, in pursuance 
of an applicable employment contract or col­
lective-bargaining agreement, for work out­
side of the hours established in good faith by 
the contract or agreement as the basic, nor­
mal or regular workday (not exceeding eight 
hou{·s) or workweek (not exceeding the maxi­
mum workweek applicable to such employee 
under subsection (a).2 where such premium 
rate is not less than one and one-half times 
the rate established in good faith by the con­
tract or agreement for like work performed 
during such workday or workweek; or 

(8) any value or income derived from em­
ployer-provided grants or rights provided pur­
suant to a stock option, stock appreciation 
rlgh t, or bona fide employee stock pul'chase 
program which is not otherwise excludable 
under any of paragraphs (1) through (7) if-

(A) grants are made pursuant to a pro­
gram, the terms and conditions of which are 
communicated to participating employees 
either at the beginning of the employee's 
participation in the program or at the time 
of the grant; 

(B) in the case of stock options and stock
appreciat.lon rights, the g1•ant or rig•ht can­
not be exercisable for a pel'iod of at least 6 
months after the time of grant (except that 
grants or rights may become exercisable be­
cause of an employee's death, disability, re­
tirement, or a change in corporate owner­
ship, or other circumstances permitted by 
regulation), and the exercise price is at least 
85 percent of the fair market value of the 
stock at the time of grant; 

(C) exercise of any grant or right is vol­
untary; and

(D) a.ny determinations regarding the
award of, and the amount of, employer-pro­
vided grants or rights that are based on per­
formance are-

(i) made based upon meeting previously
established performance criteria (which 
may include hours of work, efficiency, or 
productivity) of any business unit consist­
ing of at least 10 employees or of a facility, 
except that, any determinations may be 
based on length of service or minimum 
schedule of hours or days of work; or 

(ii) made based upon the past perform­
ance (which may include any criteria) of 
one or more employees in a given period so 
long as the determination is in the sole 

2 So In orig-lnal. The comma probably should be preceded by a 
closing parenthesis 
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discretion of the employer and not pursu­
ant to any prior contract. 

(f) Employment necessitating irregular hours of 
work 

No employer shall be deemed to have violated
subsection (a) by employing any employee for a 
workweek in excess of the maximum workweek 
applicable to such employee under subsection (a) 
if such employee is employed pursuant to a bona 
fide individual contract, or pursuant to an 
agreement made as a result of collective bar­
gaining by representatives of employees, if the 
duties of such employee necessitate irregular 
hours of work, and the contract or agreement (1) 
specifies a regular rate of pay of not less than 
the minimum hourly rate provided in subsection 
(a) or (b) of section 206 of this title (whichever
may be applicable) and compensation at not less
than one and one-half times such rate for all
hours worked in excess of such maximum work­
week, and (2) provides a weekly guaranty of pay
for not more than sixty hours based on the rates
so specified.

(g) Employment at piece rates

No employer shall be deemed to have violated
subsection (a) by employing any employee for a 
workweek in excess of the maximum workweek 
applicable to such employee under such sub­
section if, pursuant to an agreement or under­
standing arrived at between the employer and 
the employee before performance of the work, 
the amount paid to the employee for the number 
of hours worked by him in such workweek in ex­
cess of the maximum workweek applicable to 
such employee under such subsection-

(1) in the case of an employee employed at
piece rates, is computed at piece rates not less 
than one and one-half times the bona fide 
piece rates applicable to the same work when 
performed during nonovertime hours; or 

(2) in the case of an employee performing
two or more kinds of work for which different 
hourly or piece rates have been established, is 
computed at rates not less than one and one­
half times such bona fide rates applicable to 
the same work when performed during non­
overtime hours; or 

(3) is computed at a rate not less than one
and one-half times the rate established by 
such agreement or understanding as the basic 
rate to be used in computing overtime com­
pensation thereunder: Provided, That the rate 
so established shall be authorized by regula­
tion by the Administrator as being substan­
tially equivalent to the average hourly earn­
ings of the employee, exclusive of overtime 
premiums, in the particular work over a rep­
resentative period of time; 

and if (i) the employee's average hourly earnings 
for the workweek exclusive of payments de­
scribed in paragraphs (1) through (7) of sub­
section (e) are not less than the minimum hour­
ly rate required by applicable law, and (ii) extra 
overtime compensation is properly computed 
and paid on other forms of additional pay re­
quired to be included in computing the regular 
rate. 

(h) Credit toward m1mmum wage or overtime
compensation of amounts excluded from reg­
ular rate

(1) Except as provided in paragraph (2), sums
excluded from the regular rate pursuant to sub­
section (e) shall not be creditable toward wages 
required under section 206 of this title or over­
time compensation required under thJs section. 

(2) Ext.ra compensation paid as tlescrlbctl in
paragraphs (5), (6), and (7) of subsection (e) shall 
be creditable toward overtime compensation 
payable pursuant to this section. 

(i) Employment by retail or service establish­
ment

No employer shall be deemed to have violated 
subsection (a) by employing any employee of a 
retail or service establishment for a workweek 
in excess of the applicable workweek specified 
therein, if (1) the regular rate of pay of such em­
ployee is in excess of one and one-half times the 
minimum hourly rate applicable to him under 
section 206 of this title, and (2) more than half 
his compensation for a representative period 
(not less than one month) represents commis­
sions on goods or services. In determining the 
proportion of compensation representing com­
missions, all earnings resulting from the appli­
cation of a bona fide commission rate shall be 
deemed commissions on goods or services with­
out regard to whether the computed commis­
sions exceed the draw or guarantee. 

(j) Employment in hospital or est.ablisluncnt en­
gaged in care o( sick, aged, ot' men wily ill 

No employer engaged in the operation of a 
hospital or an establishment which is an institu­
tion primarily engaged in the care of the sick, 
the aged, or the mentally ill or defective who re­
side on the premises shall be deemed to have 
violated subsection (a) if, pursuant to an agree­
ment or understanding arrived at between the 
employer and the employee before performance 
of the work, a work period of fourteen consecu­
tive days is accepted in lieu of the workweek of 
seven consecutive days for purposes of overtime 
computation and if, for his employment in ex­
cess of eight hours in any workday and in excess 
of eighty hours in such fourteen-day period, the 
employee receives compensation at a rate not 
less than one and one-half times the regular rate 
at which he is employed. 

(k) Employment by public agency ngagcd in fire
protection or Ia, en.fore mcnt. a tiviti s 

No public agency shall be deemed to have vio­
lated subsection (a) with respect to the employ­
ment of any employee in fire protection activi­
ties or any employee in law enforcement activi­
ties (including security personnel in correc­
tional institutions) if-

71 

(1) in a work period of 28 consecutive days
the employee receives for tours of duty which 
in the aggregate exceed the lesser of (A) 216 
hours, or (B) the average number of hours (as 
determined by the Secretary pursuant to sec­
tion 6(c)(3) of the Fair Labor Standards 
Amendments of 1974) in tours of duty of em­
ployees engaged in such activities in work pe­
riods of 28 consecutive days in calendar year 
1975; or 

(2) in the case of such an employee to whom 
a work period of at least 7 but less than 28 

e 
y 0 C C 
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days applies, in his work period the employee 
receives for tours of duty which in the aggre­
gate exceed a number of hours which bears the 
same ratio to the number of consecutive days 
in his work period as 216 hours (or if lower, the 
number of hours referred to in clause (B) of 
paragraph (1)) bears to 28 days, 

compensation at a rate not less than one and 
one-half times the regular rate at which he is 
employed. 

(l) Employment in domestic service in one or 
more households 

No employer shall employ any employee in do­
mestic service in one or more households for a 
workweek longer than forty hours unless such 
employee receives compensation for such em­

ployment in accordance with subsection (a). 

(m) Employment in tobacco industry 

For a period or periods of not more than four­
teen workweeks in the aggregate in any cal­
endar year, any employer may employ any em­
ployee for a workweek in excess of that specified 
in subsection (a) without paying the compensa­
tion for overtime employment prescribed in 
such subsection, if such employee-

(1) is employed by such employer-
(A) to provide services (including stripping

and grading) necessary and incidental to the 
sale at auction of green leaf tobacco of type 
11, 12, 13, 14, 21, 22, 23, 24, 31, 35, 36, or 37 (as 
such types are defined by the Secretary of 
Agriculture), or in auction sale, buying, han­
dling, stemming, redrying, packing, and 
storing of such tobacco, 

(B) in auction sale, buying, handling, sort­
ing, grading, packing, or storing green leaf 
tobacco of type 32 (as such type is defined by 
the Secretary of Agriculture), or 

(C) in auction sale, buying, handling, strip­
ping, sorting, grading, sizing, packing, or 
stemming prior to packing, of perishable 
cigar leaf tobacco of type 41, 42, 43, 44, 45, 46, 
51, 52, 53, 54, 55, 61, or 62 (as such types are 
defined by the Secretary of Agriculture); and 

(2) receives for-
(A) such employment by such employer

which is in excess of ten hours in any work­
day, and 

(B) such employment by such employer
which is in excess of forty-eight hours in any 
workweek, 

compensation at a rate not less than one and 
one-half times the regular rate at which he is 
employed. 

An employer who receives an exemption under 
this subsection shall not be eligible for any 
other exemption under this section. 

(n) Employment by street, suburban, or inter• 
urban electric railway, or local trolley or 
motorbus carrier 

In the case of an employee of an employer en­
gaged in the business of operating a street, sub­
urban or interurban electric railway, or local 
trolley or motorbus carrier (regardless of wheth­
er or not such railway or carrier is public or pri­
vate or operated for profit or not for profit), in 
determining the hours of employment of such an 

employee to which the rate prescribed by sub­
section (a) applies there shall be excluded the 
hours such employee was employed in charter 
activities by such employer if (1) the employee's 
employment in such activities was pursuant to 
an agreement or understanding with his em­
ployer arrived at before engaging in such em­
ployment, and (2) if employment in such activi­
ties is not part of such employee's regular em­
ployment. 

(o) Compensatory time 

(1) Employees of a public agency which is a
State, a political subdivision of a State, or an 
interstate governmental agency may receive, in 
accordance with this subsection and in lieu of 
overtime compensation, compensatory time off 
at a rate not less than one and one-half hours 
for each hour of employment for which overtime 
compensation is required by this section. 

(2) A public agency may provide compensatory
time under paragraph (1) only-

(A) pursuant to-
(i) applicable provisions of a collective

bargaining agreement, memorandum of un­
derstanding, or any other agreement be­
tween the public agency and representatives 
of such employees; or 

(ii) in the case of employees not covered by
subclause (i), an agreement or understanding 
arrived at between the employer and em­
ployee before the performance of the work; 
and 

(B) if the employee has not accrued compen­
satory time in excess of the limit applicable to 
the employee prescribed by paragraph (3). 

In the case of employees described in clause 
(A)(ii) hired prior to April 15, 1986, the regular 
practice in effect on April 15, 1986, with respect 
to compensatory time off for such employees in 
lieu of the receipt of overtime compensation, 
shall constitute an agreement or understanding 
under such clause (A)(ii). Except as provided in 
the previous sentence, the provision of compen­
satory time off to such employees for hours 
worked after April 14, 1986, shall be in accord­
ance with this subsection. 

(3)(A) If the work of an employee for which 
compensatory time may be provided included 
work in a public safety activity, an emergency 
response activity, or a seasonal activity, the 
employee engaged in such work may accrue not 
more than 480 hours of compensatory time for 
hours worked after April 15, 1986. If such work 
was any other work, the employee engaged in 
such work may accrue not more than 240 hours 
of compensatory time for hours worked after 
April 15, 1986. Any such employee who, after 
April 15, 1986, has accrued 480 or 240 hours, as the 
case may be, of compensatory time off shall, for 
additional overtime hours of work, be paid over­
time compensation. 

(B) If compensation is paid to an employee for
accrued compensatory time off, such compensa­
tion shall be paid at the regular rate earned by 
the employee at the time the employee receives 
such payment. 

(4) An employee who has accrued compen­
satory time off authorized to be provided under 
paragraph (1) shall, upon termination of employ-
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ment, be paid for the unused compensatory time 
at a rate of compensation not less than-

(A) the average regular rate received by such 
employee during the last 3 years of the em­
ployee's employment, or 

(B) the final regular rate received by such 
employee, 

whichever is higher 3 

(5) An employee of a public agency which is a
State, political subdivision of a State, or an 
interstate governmental agency-

(A) who has accrued compensatory time off
authorized to be provided under paragraph (1), 
and 

(B) who has requested the use of such com-
pensatory time, 

shall be permitted by the employee's employer 
to use such time within a reasonable period 
after making the request if the use of the com­
pensatory time does not unduly disrupt the op­
erations of the public agency. 

(6) The hours an employee of a public agency
performs court reporting transcript preparation 
duties shall not be considered as hours worked 
for the purposes of subsection (a) if-

(A) such employee is paid at a per-page rate
which is not less than-

(i) the maximum rate established by State
law or local ordinance for the jurisdiction of 
such public agency, 

(ii) the maximum rate otherwise estab­
lished by a judicial or administrative officer 
and in effect on July 1, 1995, or 

(iii) the rate freely negotiated between the
employee and the party requesting the tran­
script, other than the judge who presided 
over the proceedings being transcribed, and 

(B) the hours spent performing such duties
are outside of the hours such employee per­
forms other work (including hours for which 
the agency requires the employee's attend­
ance) pursuant to the employment relation­
ship with such public agency. 

For purposes of this section, the amount paid 
such employee in accordance with subparagraph 
(A) for the performance of court reporting tran­
script preparation duties, shall not be consid­
ered in the calculation of the regular rate at
which such employee is employed.

(7) For purposes of this subsection-
(A) the term "overtime compensation"

means the compensation required by sub­
section (a), and 

(B) the terms "compensatory time" and
"compensatory time off" mean hours during 
which an employee is not working, which are 
not counted as hours worked during the appli­
cable workweek or other work period for pur­
poses of overtime compensation, and for which 
the employee is compensated at the employ­
ee's regular rate. 

(p) Special detail work for fire protection and
law enforcement employees; occasional or
sporadic employment; substitution

(1) If an individual who is employed by a
State, political subdivision of a State, or an 

'So ln orlglnal. Probably should be followed by a period 

interstate governmental agency in fire protec­
tion or law enforcement activities (including ac­
tivities of security personnel in correctional in­
stitutions) and who, solely at such individual's 
option, agrees to be employed on a special detail 
by a separate or independent employer in fire 
protection, law enforcement, or related activi­
ties, the hours such individual was employed by 
such separate and independent employer shall be 
excluded by the public agency employing such 
individual in the calculation of the hours for 
which the employee is entitled to overtime com­
pensation under this section if the public agen­
cy-

(A) requires that its employees engaged in
fire protection, law enforcement, or security 
activities be hired by a separate and independ­
ent employer to perform the special detail, 

(B) facilitates the employment of such em­
ployees by a separate and independent em­
ployer, or 

(C) otherwise affects the condition of em­
ployment of such employees by a separate and 
independent employer. 

(2) If an employee of a public agency which is
a State, political subdivision of a State, or an 
interstate governmental agency undertakes, on 
an occasional or sporadic basis and solely at the 
employee's option, part-time employment for 
the public agency which is in a different capac­
ity from any capacity in which the employee is 
regularly employed with the public agency, the 
hours such employee was employed in perform­
ing the different employment shall be excluded 
by the public agency in the calculation of the 
hours for which the employee is entitled to over­
time compensation under this section. 

(3) If an individual who is employed in any ca­
pacity by a public agency which is a State, po­
litical subdivision of a State, or an interstate 
governmental agency, agrees, with the approval 
of the public agency and solely at the option of 
such individual, to substitute during scheduled 
work hours for another individual who is em­
ployed by such agency in the same capacity, the 
hours such employee worked as a substitute 
shall be excluded by the public agency in the 
calculation of the hours for which the employee 
is entitled to overtime compensation under this 
section. 

(q) Maximum hour exemption for employees re­
ceiving remedial education

Any employer may employ any employee for a 
period or periods of not more than 10 hours in 
the aggregate in any workweek in excess of the 
maximum workweek specified in subsection (a) 
without paying the compensation for overtime 
employment prescribed in such subsection, if 
during such period or periods the employee is re­
ceiving remedial education that is-

(1) provided to employees who lack a high
school diploma or educational attainment at 
the eighth grade level; 

(2) designed to provide reading and other
basic skills at an eighth grade level or below; 
and 

(3) does not include job specific training.

(r) Reasonable break time for nursing mothers

(1) An employer shall provide-
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(A) a reasonable break time for an employee 
to express breast milk for her nursing child for 
1 year after the child's birth each time such 
employee has need to express the milk; and 

(B) a place, other than a bathroom, that is 
shielded from view and free from intrusion 
from coworkers and the public, which may be 
used by an employee to express breast milk. 

(2) An employer shall not be required to com­
pensate an employee receiving reasonable break 
time under paragraph (1) for any work time 
spent for such purpose. 

(3) An employer that employs less than 50 em­
ployees shall not be subject to the requirements 
of this subsection, if such requirements would 
impose an undue hardship by causing the em­
ployer significant difficulty or expense when 
considered in relation to the size, financial re­
sources, nature, or structure of the employer's 
business. 

(4) Nothing in this subsection shall preempt a 
State law that provides greater protections to 
employees than the protections provided for 
under this subsection. 

(June 25, 1938, ch. 676, §7, 52 Stat. 1063; Oct. 29, 
1941, ch. 461, 55 Stat. 756; July 20, 1949, ch. 352, § 1, 
63 Stat. 446; Oct. 26, 1949, ch. 736, § 7, 63 Stat. 912; 
Pub. L. 87-30, § 6, May 5, 1961, 75 Stat. 69; Pub. L. 
89-601, title II, §§ 204(c), (d), 212(b), title IV,
§§401-403, Sept. 23, 1966, 80 Stat. 835-837, 841, 842; 
Pub. L. 93-259, §§ 6(c)(l), 7(b)(2), 9(a), 12(b), 19, 
21(a), Apr. 8, 1974, 88 Stat. 60, 62, 64, 66, 68; Pub. 
L. 99-150, §§ 2(a), 3(a)-(c)(l), Nov. 13, 1985, 99 Stat. 
787, 789; Pub. L. 101-157, §7, Nov. 17, 1989, 103 
Stat. 944; Pub. L. 104-26, § 2, Sept. 6, 1995, 109 
Stat. 264; Pub. L. 106-202, § 2(a), (b), May 18, 2000, 
114 Stat. 308, 309; Pub. L. 111-148, title IV, §4207, 
Mar. 23, 2010, 124 Stat. 577.) 

REFERENCES IN TEXT 

The Fair Labor Standards Amendments of 1966, re­
ferred to in subsec. (a)(2), is Pub. L. 89-601, Sept. 23, 
1966, 80 Stat. 830. For complete classification of this 
Act to the Code, see Short Title of 1966 Amendment 
note set out under section 201 of this title and Tables. 

The effective date of the Fair Labor Standards 
Amendments of 1966, referred to In subsec. (a)(2)(A), 
means the effective date of Pub. L. 89-601, which Is Feb. 
1, 1967 except as otherwise provided, see section 602 of 
Pub. L. 89-601, set out as an Effective Date of 1966 
Amendment note under section 203 of this title. 

Section 6(c)(3) of the Fair Labor Standards Amend­
ments of 1974, referred to in subsec. (k)(l), is Pub. L. 
93-259, §6(c)(3), Apr. 8, 1974, 88 Stat. 61, which is set out 
as a note under section 213 of this title. 

AMENDMENTS 

2010-Subsec. (r). Pub. L. 111-148 added subsec. (r). 
2000-Subsec. (e)(8). Pub. L. 106-202, §2(a), added par. 

(8). 
Subsec. (h). Pub. L. 106-202, §2(b), designated existing· 

provisions as par. (2) and added par. (1). 
1995-Subsec. (0)(6), (7). Pub. L. 104--26 added par. (6) 

and redesignated former par. (6) as (7). 
1989-Subsec. (q). Pub. L. 101-157 added subsec. (q). 
1985-Subsec. (o). Pub. L. 99-150, § 2(a), added subsec. 

(0). 
Subsec. (p). Pub. L. 99-150, § 3(a)-(c)(l), added subsec. 

(p). 
1974-Subsec. (c). Pub. L. 93-259, § 19(a), (b), sub­

stituted "seven workweeks" for "ten workweeks", "ten 
workweeks" for "fourteen workweeks" and "forty­
elgbt hours" for "fifty hours" effective May 1, 1974. 
Pub. L. 93-259, § 19(c), substituted "five workweeks" for 

"seven workweeks" and "seven workweeks" for "ten 
workweeks" effective Jan. 1, 1975. Pub. L. 93-259, § 19(d), 
substituted "three workweeks" for "five workweeks" 
and "five workweeks" for "seven workweeks" effective 
Jan. 1, 1976, Pub. L. 93-259, § 19(e), repealed subsec. (c) 
effective Dec. 31, 1976. 

Subsec. (d). Pub. L. 93-259, § 19(a), (b), substituted 
"seven workweeks" for "ten workweeks", "ten work­
weeks" for "fourteen workweeks" and "forty-eight 
hours" for "fifty hours" effective May 1, 1974. Pub. L. 
93-259, §19(c), substituted "five workweeks" for "seven
workweeks" and "seven workweeks" for "ten work­
weeks" effective Jan. 1, 1975. Pub. L. 93-259, § 19(d), sub­
stituted "three workweeks" for "five workweeks" and 
"five workweeks" for "seven workweeks" effective 
Jan. 1, 1976. Pub. L. 93-259, § 19(e), repealed subsec. (d)
effective Dec. 31, 1976.

Subsec. (j). Pub. L. 93-259, § 12(b), extended provision 
excepting from being considered a subsec. (a) violation 
agreements or undertakings between employers and 
employees respecting consecutive work period and 
overtime compensation to agreements between employ­
ers engaged !n operation of an establishment which is 
an institution primarily eng·aged In the care of the 
sick, the aged, or the mentally ill or defective who re­
side on the premises and employees respecting consecu­
tive work period and overtime compensation. 

Subsec. (k). Pub. L. 93-259, §6(c)(l)(D), effective Jan. 
1, 1978, substituted in par. (1) "exceed the lesser of (A) 
216 hours, or (B) the average number of hours (as deter­
mined by the Secretary pursuant to section 6(c)(3) of 
the Fair Labor Standards Amendments of 1974) in tours 
of duty of employees engaged In such activities In work 
periods of 28 consecutive days in calendar year 1975" for 
"exceed 216 hours" and Inserted in par. (2) "(or If lower, 
the number of hours referred to in clause (B) of para­
graph (1)". 

Pub. L. 93-259, §6(c)(l)(C), substituted "216 hours" for 
"232 hours", wherever appearing, effective Jan. 1, 1977. 

Pub. L. 93-259, § 6(c)(l)(B), substituted "232 hours" for 
"240 hours", wherever appearing, effective Jan. 1, 1976. 

Pub. L. 93-259, § 6(c)(l)(A), added subsec. (kl, effective 
Jan. 1, 1975. 

Subsec. (Z). Pub. L. 93-259, §7(b)(2), added subsec. (Z). 
Subsec. (m). Pub. L. 93-259, §9(a), added subsec. (m). 
Subsec. (n). Pub. L. 93-259, §21(a), added subsec. (n). 
1966-Subsec. (a). Pub. L. 89�01, §401, retained provi-

sion for 40-hour workweek and compensation for em­
ployment In excess of 40 hours at not less than one and 
one-half times the regular rate of pay and substituted 
provisions setting out a phased timetable for the work­
week in the case of employees covered by the overtime 
provisions for the first tlme under the Fair Labor 
Standards Amendments of 1966 beginning at 44 hours 
during the first year from the effective date of the Fair 
Labor Standards Amendments of 1966, 42 hours during 
the second year from such date, and 40 hours after the 
expiration of the second year from such date, for provi­
sions giving a phased timetable for workweeks In the 
case of employees first covered under the provisions of 
the Fair Labor Standards Amendments of 1961. 

Subsec. (b)(3). Pub. L. 89-601, §212(b), substituted pro­
visions granting an overtime exemption for petroleum 
distribution employees If they receive compensation 
for the hours of employment In excess of 40 hours in 
any workweek at a rate not less than one and one-half 
times the applicable minimum wage rate and If the en­
terprises do an annual gross sales volume of less than 
$1,000,000, If more than 75 per centum of such enter­
prise's annual dollar volume of sales Is made within the 
state in which the enterprise is located, and not more 
than 25 per centum of the annual dollar volume Is to 
customers who are engaged in the bulk distribution of 
such products for resale for provisions covering em­
ployees for a period of not more than 14 workweeks in 
the aggregate in any calendar year In an industry 
found to be of a seasonal nature. 

Subsec. (c). Pub. L. 89-601, §204(c), substituted provi­
sions for an overtime exemption of 10 weeks In 11ny cal­
endar year or 14 weeks In the case of an employer not 
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qualifying for the exemption In subsec. (d) of this sec­
tion, limited to 10 hours a day and 50 hours a week, ap­
plicable to employees employed in seasonal Industries 
which are not engaged in agricultural processing, for 
provisions granting a year-round unlimited exemption 
applicable to employees of employers engag·ed in first 
processing of milk Into dairy products, cotton com­
pressing and ginning, cottonseed processing, and the 
processing of certain farm products into sugar, and 
granting a 14-week unlimited exemption applicable to 
employees of employers engaged in first processing of 
perishable or seasonal fresh fruits or vegetables first 
processing within the area of production of any agricul­
tural commodity during a seasonal operation, or the 
handling or slaughtering of livestock and poultry. 

Subsec. (d). Pub. L. 89-601, § 204(c), added subsec. (d). 
Former subsec. (d) redesignated (e). 

Subsecs. (e), (f). Pub. L. 89-601, § 204(d)(l), redesig­
nated former subsecs. (d) and (e) as (e) and (f) respec­
tively. Former subsec. (f) redesignated (g). 

Subsecs. (g), (h). Pub. L. 89--601, § 204(d)(l), (2), redesig­
nated former subsecs. (f) and (g) as subsecs. (g·) and (h) 
respectively, and in subsecs. (g) and (h) as so 1·edesig­
nated, substituted reference to "subsection (e)" for ref­
erence to "subsection (ct)." Former subsec. (h) redesig­
nated (i). 

Subsec. (l). Pub. L. 89-601, §§204(d)(l), 402, redeslg­
nated former subsec. (h) as (I) and Inserted provision 
that, in determining the proportion of compensation 
representing commissions, all earnings resulting from 
the application of a bona fide commission rate shall be 
deemed commissions on goods or services without re­
gard to whether the computed commissions exceed the 
draw or guarantee. 

Subsec. (j). Pub. L. 89-601, §403, added subsec. (J). 
1961-Subsec. (a). Pub. L. 87-30, §6(a), designated ex­

isting provisions as par. (1), inserted "in any work­
week", and added par. (2). 

Subsec. (b)(2). Pub. L. 87-30, §6(b), substituted "in ex­
cess of the maximum workweek applicable to such em­
ployee under subsection (a)" for "In excess of forty 
hours in the workweek". 

Subsec. (d)(5), (7). Pub. L. 87-30, §6(c), (d), substituted 
"in excess of the maximum workweek applicable to 
such employee under subsection (a)" for "forty in a 
workweek" In par. (5) and "the maximum workweek 
applicable to such employee under subsection (a)" for 
"forty hours" In par. (7). 

Subsec. (e). Pub. L. 87-30, §6(e), substituted "the max­
imum workweek applicable to such employee under 
subsection (a)", "subsection (a) or (b) of section 206 of 
this title (whichever may be applicable" and "such 
maximum" for "forty hours", "section 206(a) of this 
title" and "forty In any", respectively. 

Subsec. (f). Pub. L. 87-30, §6(f), substituted "the maxi­
mum workweek applicable to such employee under sub­
section" for "forty hours" In two places. 

Subsec. (h). Pub. L. 87-30, §6(g), added subsec. (h). 
1949-Subsec. (a). Act Oct. 26, 1949, continued require­

ment that employment in excess of 40 hours In a work­
week be compensated at rate not less than Ph times 
regular rate except as to employees specifically ex­
empted. 

Subsec. (b)(l). Act Oct. 26, 1949, Increased employ­
ment period limitation from one thousand hours to one 
thousand and forty hours In semi-annual agreements. 

Subsec. (b)(2). Act Oct. 26, 1949, Increased employ­
ment period limitation from two thousand and eighty 
hours to two thousand two hundred and forty hours In 
annual agreements, fixed minimum and maximum 
guaranteed employment periods, and provided for over­
time rate for hours worked in excess of the guaranty. 

Subsec. (c). Act Oct. 26, 1949, added buttermilk to 
commodities listed for first processing. 

Subsec. (d). Act Oct. 26, 1949, struck out former sub­
sec. (d) and Inserted a new subsec. {ct) defining regular 
rate wl th certain specified types of payments excepted. 

Subsec. (e) added by act July 20, 1949, and amended by 
act Oct. 26, 1949, which determined compensation to be 
paid for irregular hours of work. 

Subsecs. (f) and (g). Act Oct. 26, 1949, added subsecs. 
(f) and (g·).

1941-Subsec. (b)(2) amended by act Oct. 29, 1941. 

EFFECTIVE DATE OF 2000 AMENDMENT 

Pub. L. 106-202, § 2(c), May 18, 2000, 114 Stat. 309, pro­
vided that: "The amendments made by this section 
[amending this section] shall take effect on the date 
that is 90 days after the date of enactment of this Act 
[May 18, 2000)." 

EFFECTIVE DATE OF 1995 AMENDMENT 

Pub. L. 104-26, §3, Sept. 6, 1995, 109 Stat. 265, provided 
that: "The amendments made by section 2 [amending 
this section] shall apply after the date of the enact­
ment of this Act [Sept. 6, 1995) and wl th respect to ac­
tions brought in a court after the date of the enact­
ment of this Act." 

EFFECTIVE DATE OJi' 1985 AMENDMENT 

Amendment by Pub. L. 99-150 effective Apr. 15, 1986, 
see section 6 of Pub. L. 99-150, set out as a note under 
section 203 of this ti tie. 

E!i'Ji'ECTIVE DATE OJi' 1974 AMENDMENT 

Pub. L. 93-259, §6(c)(l)(A)-(D), Apr. 8, 1974, 88 Stat. 60, 
provided that the amendments made by that section 
are effective Jan. 1, 1975, 1976, 1977, and 1978, respec­
tively. 

Amendment by sections 7(b)(2), 9(a), 12(b), 19(a), (b), 
and 21(a) of Pub. L. 93-259 effective May 1, 1974, see sec­
tion 29(a) of Pub. L. 93-259, set out as a note under sec­
tion 202 of this title. 

Pub. L. 93-259, § 19(c)-(e), Apr. 8, 1974, 88 Stat. 66, pro­
vided that the amendments and repeals made by sub­
secs. (c), (d), and (e) of section 19 are effective Jan. 1, 
1975, Jan. 1, 1976, and Dec. 31, 1976, respectively. 

EFFECTIVE DATE OF 1966 AMENDMENT 

Amendment by Pub. L. 89-601 effective Feb. l, 1967, 
except as otherwise provided, see section 602 of Pub. L. 
89-601, set out as a note under section 203 of this title. 

EFFECTIVE DATE OF 1961 AMENDMENT 

Amendment by Pub. L. 87-30 effective upon expira­
tion of one hundred and twenty days after May 5, 1961, 
except as otherwise provided, see section 14 of Pub. L. 
87-30, set out as a note under section 203 of this title.

EFFECTIVE DATE OF 1949 AMENDMENT 

Amendment by act Oct. 26, 1949, effective ninety days 
after Oct. 26, 1949, see section 16(a) of act Oct. 26, 1949, 
set out as a note under section 202 of this title. 

REGULATIONS 

Pub. L. 106-202, § 2(e), May 18, 2000, 114 Stat. 309, pro­
vided that: "The Secretary of Labor may promulgate 
such regulations as may be necessary to carry out the 
amendments made by this Act [amending this sec­
tion)." 

TRANSFER OF FUNCTIONS 

Functions of all other officers of Department of 
Labor and functions of all agencies and employees of 
that Department, with exception of functions vested by 
Administrative Procedure Act (now covered by sections 
551 et seq. and 701 et seq. of Title 5, Government Orga­
nization and Employees) in hearing examiners em­
ployed by Department. transferred to Secretary of 
Labor, with power vested in him to authorize their per­
formance or performance of any of his functions by any 
of those officers, agencies, and employees, by Reorg. 
Plan No. 6 of 1950, §§ 1, 2, 15 F.R. 3174, 64 Stat. 1263, set 
out in the Appendix to Title 5. 

APPLICABILITY; LIABILITY OF EMPLOYERS 

Pub. L. 110-244, title III, §306, June 6, 2008, 122 Stat. 
1620, provided that: 
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"(a) APPLICABILITY FOLLOWING THIS ACT.-Beglnnlng 
on the date of enactment of this Act [June 6, 2008], sec­
tion 7 of the Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938 (29 U.S.C. 
207) shall apply to a covered employee notwithstanding 
section 13(b)(l) of that Act (29 U.S.C. 213(b)(l)). 

"(b) LIABILITY LIMITATION FOLLOWING 
SAFETEA-L U .-

"(1) LIMITATION ON LIABILITY.-An employer shall 
not be liable for a violation of section 7 of the Fair 
Labor Standards Act of 1938 (29 U.S.C. 207) with re­
spect to a covered employee lf-

"(A) the violation occurred in the 1-year period 
beginning on August 10, 2005; and 

"(B) as of the date of the violation, the employer 
did not have actual knowledge that the employer 
was subject to the requirements of such section 
with respect to the covered employee. 
"(2) ACTIONS TO RECOVER AMOUNTS PREVIOUSLY 

PAID.-Nothing In paragraph (1) shall be construed to 
establish a cause of action for an employer to recover 
amounts paid before the date of enactment of this 
Act [June 6, 2008] in settlement of, in compromise of, 
01· pursuant to a judgment rendered regarding a claim 
or potential claim based on an alleged or proven vio­
lation of section 7 of the Fair Labor Standards Act of 
1938 (29 U.S.C. 207) occurring in the 1-year period re­
ferred to in paragraph (l)(A) with respect to a covered 
employee. 
"(c) COVERED EMPLOYEE DEFINED.-ln this section, 

the term 'covered employee' means an individual-
"(1) who is employed by a motor carrier or motor 

private carrier (as such terms are defined by section 
13102 of title 49, United States Code, as amended by 
section 305); 

"(2) whose work, in whole or In part, is defined­
"(A) as that of a driver, driver's helper, loader, or 

mechanic; and 
"(B) as affecting the safety of operation of motor 

vehicles weighing 10,000 pounds or less in transpor­
tation on public highways In interstate or foreign 
commerce, except vehicles-

"(i) designed or used to transport more than 8 
passengers (including the driver) for compensa­
tion; 

"(ii) desJg·ned or used to transport more than 15 
passengers (including the driver) and not used to 
transport passengers for compensation; or 

"(Iii) used In transporting material found by 
the Secretary of Transportation to be hazardous 
under section 5103 of title 49, United States Code, 
and t1·ansported In a quantity requiring placard­
ing under regulations prescribed by the Secretary 
under section 5103 of title 49, United States Code; 
and 

"(3) who performs duties on motor vehicles weigh­
ing 10,000 pounds or less." 

LIABILITY OF EMPLOYERS 

Pub. L. 106-202, §2(d), May 18, 2000, 114 Stat. 309, pro­
vided that: "No employer shall be liable under the Fair 
Labor Standards Act of 1938 [29 U.S.C. 201 et seq.] for 
any failure to Include In an employee's regular rate (as 
defined for pu1·poses of such Act) any income or value 
derived from employer-provided grants or rights ob­
tained pursuant to any stock option, stock apprecia­
tion right, or employee stock purchase program if-

"(l) the grants or rights were obtained before the 
effective date described In subsection (c) [set out as 
an Effective Date of 2000 Amendment note above]; 

"(2) the grants or rights were obtained within the 
12-month period beginning on the effective date de­
scribed in subsection (c), so long as such program was 
in existence on the date of enactment of this Act 
[May 18, 2000] and will require shareholder approval 
to modify such program to comply with section 
7(e)(8) of the Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938 [29 
U.S.C. 207(e)(8)] (as added by the amendments made 
by subsection (a)); or 

"(3) such program Is provided under a collective 
bargaining agreement that ls In effect on the effec­
tive date described in subsection (c)." 

COMPENSATORY TIME; COLLECTIVE BARGAINING 
AGREEMEN'l'S IN EI•'l'ECT ON APRIL 15, 1986 

Pub. L. 99-150, §2(b), Nov. 13, 1985, 99 Stat. 788, pro­
vided that: "A collective bargaining agreement which 
is in effect on April 15, 1986, and which permits compen­
satory time off in lieu of overtime compensation shall 
remain in effect until its expiration date unless other­
wise modified, except that compensatory time shall be 
provided after April 14, 1986, in accordance with section 
7(o) of the Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938 (as added 
by subsection (a)) (29 U.S.C. 207(0)]." 

DEFERMENT OF MONETARY OVERTIME COMPENSATION 

Pub. L. 99-150, § 2(c)(2), Nov. 13, 1985, 99 Stat. 789, pro­
vided that a State, political subdivision of a State, or 
interstate governmental agency could defer until Aug. 
1, 1986, the payment of monetary overtime compensa­
tion under this section for hours worked after Apr. 14, 
1986. 

EFFECT OF AMENDMENTS BY PUBLIC LAW 99-150 ON 
PUBLIC AGENCY LIABILITY RESPECTING ANY EM­
PLOYEE COVERED UNDER SPECIAL ENFORCEMENT POL­
ICY 

Amendment by Pub. L. 99-150 not to affect liability of 
certain public agencies under section 216 of this title 
for violation of this section occurring before Apr. 15, 
1986, see section 7 of Pub. L. 99-150, set out as a note 
under section 216 of this title. 

RULES, REGULATIONS, AND ORDERS PROMULGATED WITH 
REGARD TO 1966 AMENDMENTS 

Secretary authorized to promulgate necessary rules, 
regulations, or orders on and after the date of the en­
actment of Pub. L. 89-601, Sept. 23, 1966, wJth regard to 
the amendments made by Pub. L. 8�01, see section 602 
of Pub. L. 89-601, set out as a note under section 203 of 
this title. 

STUDY BY SECRETARY OF LABOR OF EXCESSIVE 
OVERTIME 

Pub. L. 89-601, title VI, §603, Sept. 23, 1966, 80 Stat. 
844, directed Secretary of Labor to make a complete 
study of practices dealing with overtime payments for 
work in excess of forty hours per week and the extent 
to which such overtime work impeded the creation of 
new job opportunities in American industry and in­
structed him to report to the Congress by July 1, 1967, 
the findings of such survey with appropriate recom­
mendations. 

Ex. ORD. No. 9607. FORTY-EIGHT HOUR WARTIME 
WORKWEEK 

Ex. Ord. No. 9607, Aug. 30, 1945, 10 F.R. 11191, provided: 
By virtue of the authority vested In me by the Con­

stitution and statutes as President of the United States 
it ls ordered that Executive Order 9301 of February 9, 
1943 (8 F.R. 1825] (formerly set out as note under this 
section), establishing a minimum wartime workweek of 
forty-eight hours, be, and it ls hereby, revoked. 

HARRY S. TRUMAN. 

DEFINITION OF "ADMINISTRATOR" 

The term "Administrator" as meaning the Adminis­
trator of the Wage and Hour Division, see sectton 204 of 
this title. 

§ 208. Repealed. Pub. L. 110-28, title VIII,
§ 8103(c)(l)(A), May 25, 2007, 121 Stat. 189

Section, acts June 25, 1938, ch. 676, § 8, 52 Stat. 1064; 
Oct. 26, 1949, ch. 736, § 8, 63 Stat. 915; Aug. 12, 1955, ch. 
867, §§4, 5(b)-(e), 69 Stat. 711, 712; Pub. L. 85-750, Aug. 25, 
1958, 72 Stat. 844; Pub. L. 87-30, §7, May 5, 1961, 75 Stat. 
70; Pub. L. 93-259, § 5(c)(l), (d), Apr. 8, 1974, 88 Stat. 58; 
Pub. L. 95-151, §2(d)(3), Nov. 1, 1977, 91 Stat. 1246; Pub. 
L. 101-157, §4(c). Nov. 17, 1989, 103 Stat. 940; Pub. L.
101-583, § 1, Nov. 15, 1990, 104 Stat. 2871, related to wage
orders In American Samoa.
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(4) to violate any of the provisions of section 
212 of this title; 

(5) to violate any of the provisions of section 
211(c) of this title, or any regulation or order 
made or continued in effect under the provi­
sions of section 211(d) of this title, or to make 
any statement, report, or record filed or kept 
pursuant to the provisions of such section or 
of any reg·ulation or order thereunder, know­
ing such statement, report, or record to be 
false in a material respect. 

(b) For the purposes of subsection (a)(l) proof 
that any employee was employed in any place of 
employment where goods shipped or sold in com­
merce were produced, within ninety days prior 
to the removal of the goods from such place of 
employment, shall be prima facie evidence that 
such employee was engaged in the production of 
such goods. 

(June 25, 1938, ch. 676, § 15, 52 Stat. 1068; Oct. 26, 
1949, ch. 736, §13, 63 Stat. 919; 1950 Reorg. Plan 
No. 6, §§1, 2, eff. May 24, 1950, 15 F.R. 3174, 64 
Stat. 1263.) 

AMENDMENTS 

1949-Subsec. (a)(l). Act Oct. 26, 1949, § 13(a), inserted 
provision protecting purchaser In good faith in sale of 
goods produced in violation of this chapter. 

Subsec. (a)(5). Act Oct. 26, 1949, § 13(b), inserted "or 
any regulation or order made or continued in effect 
under the provisions of section 21l(d) of this title" after 
"211(c) of this title". 

EFFECTIVE DATE OF 1949 AMENDMENT 

Amendment by act Oct. 26, 1949, effective ninety days 
after Oct. 26, 1949, see section 16(a) of act Oct. 26, 1949, 
set out as a note under section 202 of this title. 

TRANSFER OF FUNCTIONS 

For transfer of functions of other officers, employees, 
and agencies of Department of Labor, with certain ex­
ceptions, to Secretary of Labor, with power to delegate, 
see Reorg. Plan No. 6 of 1950, §§1, 2, 15 F.R. 3174, 64 Stat. 
1263, set out In the Appendix to Title 5, Government Or­
ganization and Employees. 

LIABILITY OF PUBLIC AGENCY FOR DISCRIMINATION 
AGAINST EMPLOYEE FOR ASSERTION OF COVERAGE 

Pub. L. 99-150, §8, Nov. 13, 1985, 99 Stat. 791, provided 
that: "A public agency which is a State, polltical sub­
division of a State, or an interstate governmental agen­
cy and which discriminates or has discriminated 
against an employee with respect to the employee's 
wages or other terms or conditions of employment be­
cause on or after February 19, 1985, the employee as­
serted coverage under section 7 of the Fair Labor 
Standards Act of 1938 (29 U .S C. 207] shall be held to 
have violated section 15(a)(3) of such Act (29 U .S.C. 
215(a)(3)J. The protection against discrimination af­
forded by the preceding sentence shall be available 
after August 1, 1986, only for an employee who takes an 
action described In section 15(a)(3) of such Act." 

§ 216. Penalties 

(a) Fines and imprisonment 

Any person who willfully violates any of the 
provisions of section 215 of this title shall upon 
conviction thereof be subject to a fine of not 
more than $10,000, or to imprisonment for not 
more than six months, or both. No person shall 
be imprisoned under this subsection except for 
an offense committed after the conviction of 
such person for a prior offense under this sub­
section. 

(b) Damages; right of action; attorney's fees and 
costs; termination of right of action 

Any employer who violates the provisions of 
section 206 or section 207 of this title shall be 
liable to the employee or employees affected in 
the amount of their unpaid minimum wages, or 
their unpaid overtime compensation, as the case 
may be, and in an additional equal amount as 
liquidated damages. Any employer who violates 
the provisions of section 215(a)(3) of this title 
shall be liable for such legal or equitable relief 
as may be appropriate to effectuate the purposes 
of section 215(a)(3) of this title, including with­
out limitation employment, reinstatement, pro­
motion, and the payment of wages lost and an 
additional equal amount as liquidated damages. 
Any employer who violates section 203(m)(2)(B) 
of this title shall be liable to the employee or 
employees affected in the amount of the sum of 
any tip credit taken by the employer and all 
such tips unlawfully kept by the employer, and 
in an additional equal amount as liquidated 
damages. An action to recover the liability pre­
scribed in the preceding sentences may be main­
tained against any employer (including a public 
agency) in any Federal or State court of com­
petent jurisdiction by any one or more employ­
ees for and in behalf of himself or themselves 
and other employees similarly situated. No em­
ployee shall be a party plaintiff to any such ac­
tion unless he gives his consent in writing to be­
come such a party and such consent is filed in 
the court in which such action is brought. The 
court in such action shall, in addition to any 
judgment awarded to the plaintiff or plaintiffs, 
allow a reasonable attorney's fee to be paid by 
the defendant, and costs of the action. The right 
provided by this subsection to bring an action 
by or on behalf of any employee, and the right 
of any employee to become a party plaintiff to 
any such action, shall terminate upon the filing 
of a complaint by the Secretary of Labor in an 
action under section 217 of this title in which (1) 
restraint is sought of any further delay in the 
payment of unpaid minimum wages, or the 
amount of unpaid overtime compensation, as 
the case may be, owing to such employee under 
section 206 or section 207 of this title by an em­
ployer liable therefor under the provisions of 
this subsection or (2) legal or equitable relief is 
sought as a result of alleged violations of sec­
tion 215(a)(3) of this title. 

(c) Payment of wages and compensation; waiver 
of claims; actions by the Secretary; limitation 
of actions 

The Secretary is authorized to supervise the 
payment of the unpaid minimum wages or the 
unpaid overtime compensation owing to any em­
ployee or employees under section 206 or section 
207 of this title, and the agreement of any em­
ployee to accept such payment shall upon pay­
ment in full constitute a waiver by such em­
ployee of any right he may have under sub­
section (b) of this section to such unpaid mini­
mum wages or unpaid overtime compensation 
and an additional equal amount as liquidated 
damages. The Secretary may bring an action in 
any court of competent jurisdiction to recover 
the amount of unpaid minimum wages or over­
time compensation and an equal amount as liq-
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uidated damages. The right provided by sub­
section (b) to bring an action by or on behalf of 
any employee to recover the liability specified 
in the first sentence of such subsection and of 
any employee to become a party plaintiff to any 
such action shall terminate upon the filing of a 
complaint by the Secretary in an action under 
this subsection in which a recovery is sought of 
unpaid minimum wages or unpaid overtime com­
pensation under sections 206 and 207 of this title 
or liquidated or other damages provided by this 
subsection owing to such employee by an em­
ployer liable under the provisions of subsection 
(b), unless such action is dismissed without prej­
udice on motion of the Secretary. Any sums 
thus recovered by the Secretary of Labor on be­
half of an employee pursuant to this subsection 
shall be held in a special deposit account and 
shall be paid, on order of the Secretary of Labor, 
directly to the employee or employees affected. 
Any such sums not paid to an employee because 
of inability to do so within a period of three 
years shall be covered into the Treasury of the 
United States as miscellaneous receipts. In de­
termining when an action is commenced by the 
Secretary of Labor under this subsection for the 
purposes of the statutes of limitations provided 
in section 6(a) of the Portal-to-Portal Act of 1947 
[29 U.S.C. 255(a)], it shall be considered to be 
commenced in the case of any individual claim­
ant on the date when the complaint is filed if he 
is specifically named as a party plaintiff in the 
complaint, or if his name did not so appear, on 
the subsequent date on which his name is added 
as a party plaintiff in such action. The author­
ity and requirements described in this sub­
section shall apply with respect to a violation of 
section 203(m)(2)(B) of this title, as appropriate, 
and the employer shall be liable for the amount 
of the sum of any tip credit taken by the em­
ployer and all such tips unlawfully kept by the 
employer, and an additional equal amount as 
liquidated damages. 

(d) Savings provisions 

In any action or proceeding commenced prior
to, on, or after August 8, 1956, no employer shall 
be subject to any liability or punishment under 
this chapter or the Portal-to-Portal Act of 1947 
[29 U.S.C. 251 et seq.] on account of his failure to 
comply with any provision or provisions of this 
chapter or such Act (1) with respect to work 
heretofore or hereafter performed in a work­
place to which the exemption in section 213(f) of 
this title is applicable, (2) with respect to work 
performed in Guam, the Canal Zone or Wake Is­
land before the effective date of this amendment 
of subsection (d), or (3) with respect to work per­
formed in a possession named in section 
206(a)(3) 1 of this title at any time prior to the
establishment by the Secretary, as provided 
therein, of a minimum wage rate applicable to 
such work. 

(e) Civil penalties for child labor violations

(l)(A) Any person who violates the provisions
of sections2 212 or 213(c) of this title, relating to 
child labor, or any regulation issued pursuant to 

1 See References 1n Text note below, 

2So In original Probably should be ··section·• 

such sections, shall be subject to a civil penalty 
not to exceed-

(i) $11,000 for each employee who was the
subject of such a violation; or 

(ii) $50,000 with regard to each such violation
that causes the death or serious injury of any 
employee under the age of 18 years, which pen­
alty may be doubled where the violation is a 
repeated or willful violation. 

(B) For purposes of subparagraph (A), the term
"serious injury" means-

(!) permanent loss or substantial impair­
ment of one of the senses (sight, hearing, 
taste, smell, tactile sensation); 

(ii) permanent loss or substantial impair­
ment of the function of a bodily member, 
organ, or mental faculty, including the loss of 
all or part of an arm, leg, foot, hand or other 

body part; or 
(iii) permanent paralysis or substantial im­

pairment that causes loss of movement or mo­
bility of an arm, leg, foot, hand or other body 
part. 

(2) Any person who repeatedly or w1Jlfully vio­
lates section 206 or 207 of this title, relating to 
wages, shall be subject to a civil penalty not to 
exceed $1,100 for each such violation. Any person 
who violates section 203(m)(2)(B) of this title 
shall be subject to a civil penalty not to exceed 
$1,100 for each such violation, as the Secretary 
determines appropriate, in addition to being lia­
ble to the employee or employees affected for all 
tips unlawfully kept, and an additional equal 
amount as liquidated damages, as described in 
subsection (b). 

(3) In determining the amount of any penalty
under this subsection, the appropriateness of 
such penalty to the size of the business of the 
person charged and the gravity of the violation 
shall be considered. The amount of any penalty 
under this subsection, when finally determined, 
may be-

(A) deducted from any sums owing by the
United States to the person charged; 

(B) recovered in a civil action brought by
the Secretary in any court of competent juris­
diction, in which litigation the Secretary shall 
be represented by the Solicitor of Labor; or 

(C) ordered by the court, in an action
brought for a violation of section 215(a)(4) of 
this title or a repeated or willful violation of 
section 215(a)(2) of this title, to be paid to the 
Secretary. 

(4) Any administrative determination by the
Secretary of the amount of any penalty under 
this subsection shall be final, unless within 15 
days after receipt of notice thereof by certified 
mail the person charged with the violation 
takes exception to the determination that the 
violations for which the penalty is imposed oc­
curred, in which event final determination of 
the penalty shall be made in an administrative 
proceeding after opportunity for hearing in ac­
cordance with section 554 of title 5 and regula­
tions to be promulgated by the Secretary. 

(5) Except for civil penalties collected for vio­
lations of section 212 of this title, sums collected 
as penalties pursuant to this section shall be ap­
plied toward reimbursement of the costs of de­
termining the violations and assessing and col-
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lecting such penalties, in accordance with the 
provision of section 9a of this title. Civil pen­
alties collected for violations of section 212 of 
this title shall be deposited in the general fund 
of the Treasury. 

(June 25, 1938, ch. 676, § 16, 52 Stat. 1069; May 14, 
1947, ch. 52, §5(a), 61 Stat. 87; Oct. 26, 1949, ch. 
736, § 14, 63 Stat. 919; 1950 Reorg. Plan No. 6, §§ 1, 
2, 15 F.R. 3174, 64 Stat. 1263; Aug. 8, 1956, ch. 1035, 
§4, 70 Stat. 1118; Pub. L. 85-231, §1(2), Aug. 30, 

1957, 71 Stat. 514; Pub. L. 87-30, §12(a), May 5, 
1961, 75 Stat. 74; Pub. L. 89-601, title VI, § 601(a), 
Sept. 23, 1966, 80 Stat. 844; Pub. L. 93-259, §§ 
6(d)(l), 25(c), 26, Apr. 8, 1974, 88 Stat. 61, 72, 73; 
Pub. L. 95-151, § 10, Nov. 1, 1977, 91 Stat. 1252;
Pub. L. 101-157, §9, Nov. 17, 1989, 103 Stat. 945; 
Pub. L. 101-508, title III, §3103, Nov. 5, 1990, 104 
Stat. 1388-29; Pub. L. 104-174, § 2, Aug. 6, 1996, 110
Stat. 1554; Pub. L. 110--233, title III, §302(a), May
21, 2008, 122 Stat. 920; Pub. L. 115-141, div. S, title
XII, § 120l(b), Mar. 23, 2018, 132 Stat. 1148.)

REFERENCES IN TEXT 

The Portal-to-Portal Act of 1947, referred to in sub­
sec. {d), is act May 14. 1947, ch. 52, 61 Stat. 84, as amend­
ed, which is classified principally to chapter 9 (§ 251 et 
seq.) of this title. For complete classification of this 
Act to the Code, see Short Title note set out under sec­
tion 251 of this title and Tables. 

The effective date of this amendment of subsection 
(d), referred to in subsec. (d), occurred upon the expira­
tion of 90 days after Aug. 30, 1957. See section 2 of Pub. 
L. 85-231, set out as an Effective Date of 1957 Amend­
ment note under section 213 of this title. 

Section 206(a)(3) of this title, referred to in subsec. 
(d)(3), was repealed and section 206(a)(4) of this title 
was reclesignated section 206(a)(3) by Pub. L. 110-28, 
title VIII, §8103(c)(l)(B), May 25, 2007, 121 Stat. 189. 

CONSTITUTIONALITY 

For information reg-arding constitutionality of cer­
tain provisions of section 16 of act June 25, 1938, as 
amended by section 6(d)(l) of Pub. L. 93-259, see Con­
g-ressional Research Service, The Constitution of the 
United States of America: Analysis and Interpretation, 
Appendix 1, Acts of Cong-ress Held Unconstitutional In 
Whole or in Part by the Supreme Court of the United 
States. 

AMENDMENTS 

201S-Subsec. (b). Pub. L. 115-141, § 120l(b)(l), inserted 
"Any employer who violates section 203(m)(2)(B) of this 
title shall be liable to the employee or employees af­
fected in the amount of the sum of any tip credit taken 
by the employer and all such tips unlawfully kept by 
the employer, and in an additional equal amount as liq­
uidated damages." after second sentence and struck 
out "either of" after "liability prescribed In". 

Subsec. (c). Pub. L. 115-141, § 1201(b)(2), inserted at end 
"The authority and requirements described in this sub­
section shall apply with respect to a violation of sec­
tion 203(m)(2)(B) of this title, as appropriate, and the 
employer shall be liable for the amount of the sum of 
any tip credit taken by the employer and all such tips 
unlawfully kept by the employer, and an additional 
equal amount as liquidated damages." 

Subsec. (e)(2). Pub. L. 115-141, § 1201(b)(3). Inserted at 
end "Any person who violates section 203(m)(2)(B) of 
this title shall be subject to a civil penalty not to ex­
ceed $1,100 for each such violation, as the Secretary de­
termines appropriate, in addition to being liable to the 
employee or employees affected for all tips unlawfully 
kept, and an additional equal amount as liquidated 
damages, as described in subsection (b)." 

2008-Subsec. (e). Pub. L. 110-233 amended subsec. (e) 
generally. Prior to amendment, subsec. (e) related to 
civil penalties for child labor violations. 

1996-Subsec. (e). Pub. L. 104--174 in first sentence sub­
stituted "of section 212 of this ti Lie or section 213(c)(5) 
of this title" for "of section 212 of this t1tle" and 
"under section 212 of this title or section 213(c)(5) of 
this title" for "under that section". 

1990-Subsec. (e). Pub. L. 101-508 struck out "or any 
person who repeatedly or w!llfully violates section 206 
or 207 of this title" after "Issued under that section," 
in first sentence, substituted "not to exceed $10,000 for 
each employee who was the subject of such a violation" 
for "not to exceed $1,000 for each such violation" in 
first sentence, Inserted after first sentence "Any person 
who repeatedly or willfully violates section 206 or 207 of 
this title shall be subject to a civil penalty of not to ex­
ceed $1,000 for each such violation.", substituted "any 
penalty under this subsection" for "such penalty" 
wherever appearing except after "appropriateness of", 
substituted "Except for civil penalties collected for 
violations of section 212 of this title, sums" for "Sums" 
in last sentence, and inserted at end "Civil penalties 
collected for violations of section 212 of this ti tie shall 
be deposited in the general fund of the Treasury." 

1989-Subsec. (e). Pub. L. 101-157 inserted "or any per­
son who repeatedly or w!llfully violates section 206 or 
207 of this title" in introductory provisions and in­
serted "or a repeated or willful violation of section 
215(a)(2) of this title" in par. (3). 

1977-Subsec. (b). Pub. L. 95-151, § lO(a), (b), inserted 
provisions relating to violations of section 215(a)(3) of 
this title by employers, "(1)" after "section 217 of this 
title in which", and cl. (2), and substituted "An action 
to recover the liability prescribed in either of the pre­
ceding sentences" for "Action to recover such liabil­
ity". 

Subsec. (C). Pub. L. 95-151, § lO(c), inserted "to recover 
the liablllty specified in the first sentence of such sub­
section" after "an action by or on behalf of any em­
ployee". 

1974-Subsec. (b). Pub. L. 93-259, §6(d)(l), substituted 
in second sentence "maintained ag-ainst any employer 
(Including a public agency) in any Federal or State 
court" for "maintained In any court". 

Subsec. (CJ. Pub. L. 93-259, § 26, in revising first three 
sentences, reenacted first sentence, substituting "Sec­
retary" for "Secretary of Labor"; included in second 
sentence provision for an action by the Secretary for 
liquidated damag-ed and deleted requirement of a writ­
ten request by an employee claiming unpaid minimum 
wages or unpaid overtime compensation with the Sec­
retary of Labor prior to an action by the Secreta1•y and 
proviso prohibiting any action in any case involving- an 
Issue of law not settled finally by the courts and de­
priving courts of jurisdiction of any action or proceed­
Ing Involving the issue of law not settled finally; and 
substituted third sentence "The right provided by sub­
section (b) to bring- by or on behalf of any employee and 
of any employees to become a party plaintiff to any 
such action shall terminate upon the filing of a com­
plaint by the Secretary in an action under this sub­
section in which a recovery Is sought of unpaid mini­
mum wages or unpaid overtime compensation under 
sections 206 and 207 of this title or liquidated or other 
damages provided by this subsection owing to such em­
ployee by an employer llable under the provisions of 
subsection (b), unless such action is dismissed without 
prejudice on motion of the Secretary." for "The con­
sent of any employee to the bringing- of any such action 
by the Secretary of Labor, unless such action Is dis­
missed without prejudice on motion of the Secretary of 
Labor, shall constitute a waiver by such employee of 
any right of action he may have under subsection (b) of 
this section for such unpaid wages or unpaid overtime 
compensation and an additional equal amount as liq­
uidated damag·es." 

Subsec. (e). Pub. L. 93-259, § 25(c), added subsec. (e). 
1966-Subsec. (c). Pub. L. 89-601 substituted "statutes 

of limitations" for "two-year statute of limitations". 
1961-Subsec. (b). Pub. L. 87-30 provided for termi­

nation of right of action upon commencement of in­
junction proceedings hy the Secretary of Labor. 

79 

Massachusetts Appeals Court      Case: 2021-P-0301      Filed: 5/13/2021 12:21 PM



Page 101 TITLE 29-LABOR §216a 

1957-Subsec. (d). Pub. L. 85-231 added els. (1) and (2) 
and designated existing provisions as cl. (3). 

1956---Subsec. (d). Act Aug. 8, 1956, added subsec. (d). 
1949-Subsec. (c). Act Oct. 26, 1949, added subsec. (c). 
1947-Subsec. (b). Act May 14, 1947, struck out provi-

sions relating to the designation by employee or em­
ployees of an agent or representative to maintain an 
action under this section for and on behalf of all em­
ployees similarly situated and inserted provisions re­
lating to the requirement that no employee shall be a 
party plaintiff unless he gives his consent in writing 
and such consent Is filed wl th the court. 

EFFECTIVE DATE OF 2008 AMENDMENT 

Pub. L. 110-233, title III, §302(b), May 21, 2008, 122 
Stat. 922, provided that: "The amendments made by 
this section [amending this section] shall take effect on 
the date of the enactment of this Act [May 21, 2008]." 

EF!i'ECTIVE DATE OF 1977 AMENDMENT 

Amendment by Pub. L. 95-151 effective Jan. 1, 1978, 
see section 15(a) of Pub. L. 95-151, set out as a note 
under section 203 of this title. 

EFFECTIVE DATE OF 1974 AMENDMENT 

Amendment by Pub. L. 93-259 effective May 1, 1974, 
see section 29(a) of Pub. L. 93-259, set out as a note 
under section 202 of this title. 

EFFECTIVE DATE OF 1966 AMENDMENT 

Amendment by Pub. L. 89-601 effective Feb. 1, 1967, 
except as otherwise provided, see section 602 of Pub. L. 
89-601, set out as a note under section 203 of this title. 

EFFECTIVE DATE O!i' 1961 AMENDMENT 

Amendment by Pub. L. 87-30 effective upon expira­
tion of one hundred and twenty days after May 5, 1961, 
except as otherwise provided, see section 14 of Pub. L. 
87-30, set out as a note under section 203 of this title. 

EFFECTIVE DATE OF 1957 AMENDMENT 

Amendment by Pub. L. 85-231 effective upon expira­
tion of ninety days from Aug. 30, 1957, see section 2 of 
Pub. L. 85-231, set out as a note under section 213 of 
this title. 

EFFECTIVE DATE OF 1949 AMENDMENT 

Amendment by act Oct. 26, 1949, effective ninety days 
after Oct. 26, 1949, see section 16(a) of act Oct. 26, 1949, 
set out as a note under section 202 of this title. 

EFFECTIVE DATE OF 1947 AMENDMENT 

Act May 14, 1947, ch. 52, §5(b), 61 Stat. 87, provided 
that: "The amendment made by subsection (a) of this 
section [amending this section] shall be applicable only 
with respect to actions commenced under the Fair 
Labor Standards Act of 1938, as amended [this chapter], 
on or after the date of the enactment of this Act [May 
14, 1947]." 

TRANSFER OF FUNCTIONS 

Functions relating to enforcement and administra­
tion of equal pay provisions vested by subsecs. (b) and 
(c) of this section in Secretary of Labor transferred to 
Equal Employment Opportunity Commission by Reorg. 
Plan No. 1 of 1978, §1, 43 F.R. 19807, 92 Stat. 3781, set out 
In the Appendix to Title 5, Government Organization 
and Employees, effective Jan. 1, 1979, as provided by 
section 1-101 of Ex. Ord. No. 12106, Dec. 28, 1978, 44 F.R. 
1053. 

For transfer of functions of other officers, employees, 
and agencies of Department of Labor, with certain ex­
ceptions, to Secretary of Labor, with power to delegate, 

see Reorg. Plan No. 6 of 1950, §§ 1, 2, 15 F.R. 3174, 64 Stat. 
1263, set ouL in the Appendix Lo Title 5. 

LIABILITY OF STATE, POLITICAL SUBDIVISION, OR INTER­
STATE GOVERNMENTAL AGENCY FOR VIOLATIONS BE­
FORE APRIL 15, 1986, RESPECTING ANY EMPLOYEE NOT 
COVERED UNDER SPECIAL ENFORCEMENT POLICY 

Pub. L. 99-150, §2(c)(l), Nov. 13, 1985, 99 Stat. 788, pro­
vided that: "No State, political subdivision of a State, 
or interstate governmental agency shall be liable under 
section 16 of the Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938 [29 
U.S.C. 216] for a violation of section 6 [29 U.S.C. 206] (in 
the case of a terr! tory or possession of the United 
States), 7 [29 U.S.C. 207], or ll(c) [29 U.S.C. 211(c)J (as It 
relates to section 7) of such Act occurring before April 
15, 1986, with respect to any employee of the State, po­
litical subdivision, or agency who would not have been 
covered by such Act [this chapter] under the Secretary 
of Labor's special enforcement policy on January 1, 
1985, and published in sections 775.2 and 775.4 of ti tie 29 
of the Code of Federal Regulations.'' 

EF!i'ECT O!i' AMENDMENTS BY PUBLIC LAW 99-150 ON 
PUBLIC AGENCY LIABILITY RESPECTING ANY EM­
PLOYEE COVERED UNDER SPECIAL ENFORCEMENT POL­
ICY 

Pub. L. 99-150, §7, Nov. 13, 1985, 99 Stat. 791, provided 
that: "The amendments made by this Act [see Short 
Title of 1985 Amendment note set out under section 201 
of this title] shall not affect whether a public agency 
which is a State, political subdivision of a State, or an 
Interstate governmental agency is liable under section 
16 of the Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938 [29 U.S.C. 
216] for a violation of section 6, 7, or 11 of such Act [29
U.S.C. 206, 207, 211] occurring· before April 15, 1986, with 
respect to any employee of such public agency who 
would have been covered by such Act [this chapter] 
under the Secretary of Labor's special enforcement pol­
icy on January 1, 1985, and published in section 775.3 of
ti tie 29 of the Code of Federal Regulations." 

RULES, REGULATIONS, AND ORDERS PROMULGATED WITH 
REGARD TO 1966 AMENDMENTS 

Secretary authorized to promulgate necessary rules, 
regulations, or orders on and after the date of the en­
actment of Pub. L. 89-601, Sept. 23, 1966, with regard to 
the amendments made by Pub. L. 89-601, see section 602 
of Pub. L. 89-601, set out as a note under section 203 of 
this title. 

CONSTRUCTION OF 1949 AMENDMENTS WITH PORTAL-TO­
PORTAL ACT OF 1947 

Act Oct. 26, 1949, ch. 736, § 16(b), 63 Stat. 920, provided 
that: "Except as provided In section 3(o) [29 U.S.C. 
203(0)] and in the last sentence of section 16(0) of the 
Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938, as amended [29 U.S.C. 
216(c)J, no amendment made by this Act [amending sec­
tions 202, 208, 211 to 217 of this title] shall be construed 
as amending, modifying, or repealing any provisions of 
the Portal-to-Portal Act of 1947." 

RETROACTIVE EFFECT O!i' 1949 AMENDMENTS; 
LIMITATION OF ACTIONS 

Act Oct. 26, 1949, ch. 736, § 16(d), 63 Stat. 920, provided 
that actions based upon acts or omissions occurring 
prior to the effective date of act Oct. 26, 1949, which was 
to be effective ninety days after Oct. 26, 1949, were not 
prevented by the amendments made to sections 202 to 
208, and 211 to 217 of this title by such act, so long as 
such actions were Instituted within two years from 
such effective date. 

§ 216a. Repealed. Oct. 26, 1949, ch. 736, § 16(f), 63 
Stat. 920 

Section, act July 20, 1949, ch. 352, § 2, 63 Stat. 446, re­
lated to liablll ty for overtime work performed prior to 
July 20, 1949. See section 216b of this title. 
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Page 109 TITLE 29-LABOR §262

lized by him in the administration of such 
Act; and 

(3) in the case of the Bacon-Davis Act1-the
Secretary of Labor. 

(May 14, 1947, ch. 52, §10, 61 Stat. 89.) 

REFERENCES IN TEXT 

The Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938, as amended, re­
ferred to Jn text, is act June 25, 1938, ch. 676, 52 Stat. 
1060, which is classified generally to chapter 8 (§ 201 et 
seq.) of this title. For complete classification of this 
Act to the Code, see section 201 of this ti tie and Tables. 

The Walsh-Healey and Bacon-Davis Acts, referred to 
In text, are defined for purposes of this chapter in sec­
tion 262 of this ti tie. 

TRANSFER OF FUNCTIONS 

Functions relating to enforcement and administra­
tion of equal pay provisions vested by subsec. (b)(l) of 
this section in Administrator of Wage and Hour Divi­
sion of Department of Labor transferred to Equal Em­
ployment Opportunity Commission by Reorg. Plan No. 
1 of 1978, §1, 43 F.R. 19807, 92 Stat. 3781, set out in the 
Appendix to Title 5, Government Organization and Em­
ployees, effective Jan. 1, 1979, as provided by section 
1-101 of Ex. Ord. No. 12106, Dec. 28, 1978, 44 F.R. 1053.

For transfer of functions of other officers, employees,
and agencies of Department of Labor, with certain ex­
ceptions, to Secretary of Labor, with power to delegate, 
see Reorg. Plan No. 6, of 1950, §§ l, 2, 15 F.R. 3174, 64 
Stat. 1263, set out in the Appendix to Title 5, Govern­
ment Organization and Employees. 

§ 260. Liquidated damages 

In any action commenced prior to or on or
after May 14, 1947 to recover unpaid minimum 
wages, unpaid overtime compensation, or liq­
uidated damages, under the Fair Labor Stand­
ards Act of 1938, as amended [29 U.S.C. 201 et 
seq.], if the employer shows to the satisfaction 
of the court that the act or omission giving rise 
to such action was in good faith and that he had 
reasonable grounds for believing that his act or 
omission was not a violation of the Fair Labor 
Standards Act of 1938, as amended, the court 
may, in its sound discretion, award no liq­
uidated damages or award any amount thereof 
not to exceed the amount specified in section 216 
of this title. 

(May 14, 1947, ch. 52, §11, 61 Stat. 89; Pub. L. 
93-259, § 6(d)(2)(B), Apr. 8, 1974, 88 Stat. 62.)

REFERENCES IN TEXT 

The Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938, as amended, re­
ferred to in text, is act June 25, 1938, ch. 676, 52 Stat. 
1060, as amended, which is classified generally to chap­
ter 8 (§ 201 et seq.) of this title. For complete classifica­
tion of this Act to the Code, see section 201 of this ti tie 
and Tables. 

AMENDMENTS 

1974-Pub. L. 93-259 substituted "section 216 of this 
title" for "section 216(b) of this title". 

EFFECTIVE DATE OF 1974 AMENDMENT 

Amendment by Pub. L. 93-259 effective May 1, 1974, 
see section 29(a) of Pub. L. 93-259, set out as a note 
under section 202 of this title. 

§ 261. Applicability of "area of production" regu­
lations 

No employer shall be subject to any liability 
or punishment under the Fair Labor Standards 

Act of 1938, as amended [29 U.S.C. 201 et seq.], on 
account of the failure of such employer to pay 
an employee minimum wages, or to pay an em­
ployee overtime compensation, for or on ac­
count of an activity engaged in by such em­
ployee prior to December 26, 1946, if such em­
ployer-

(1) was not so subject by reason of the defini­
tion of an "area of production", by a regula­
tion of the Administrator of the Wage and 
Hour Division of the Department of Labor, 
which regulation was applicable at the time of 
performance of the activity even though at 
that time the regulation was invalid; or 

(2) would not have been so subject if the reg­
ulation signed on December 18, 1946 (Federal 
Register, Vol. 11, p. 14648) had been in force on 
and after October 24, 1938. 

(May 14, 1947, ch. 52, § 12, 61 Stat. 89.) 

REFERENCES IN TEXT 

The Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938, as amended, re­
ferred to in text, is act June 25, 1938, ch. 676, 52 Stat. 
1060, as amended, which is classified generally to chap­
ter 8 ( §201 et seq.) of this title. For complete classifica­
tion of this Act to the Code, see section 201 of this title 
and Tables. 

TRANSFER OF FUNCTIONS 

For transfer of functions of other officers, employees, 
and agencies of Department of Labor, with certain ex­
ceptions, to Secretary of Labor, with power to deleg-ate, 
see Reorg. Plan No. 6, of 1950, §§1, 2, 15 F.R. 3174, 64 
Stat. 1263, set out in the Appendix to Title 5, Govern­
ment Organization and Employees. 

§ 262. Definitions 

(a) When the terms "employer", "employee",
and "wage" are used in this chapter in relation 
to the Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938, as 
amended [29 U.S.C. 201 et seq.], they shall have 
the same meaning as when used in such Act of 
1938. 

(b) When the term "employer" is used in this
chapter in relation to the Walsh-Healey Act or 
Bacon-Davis Act1 it shall mean the contractor 
or subcontractor covered by such Act. 

(c) When the term "employee" is used in this
chapter in relation to the Walsh-Healey Act or 
the Bacon-Davis Act 1 it shall mean any individ­
ual employed by the contractor or subcontrac­
tor covered by such Act in the performance of 
his contract or subcontract. 

(d) The term "Wash-Healey Act"2 means the
Act entitled "An Act to provide conditions for 
the purchase of supplies and the making of con­
tracts by the United States, and for other pur­
poses", approved June 30, 1936 (49 Stat. 2036), as 
amended; 1 and the term "Bacon-Davis Act" 
means the Act entitled "An Act to amend the 
Act approved March 3, 1931, relating to the rate 
of wages for laborers and mechanics employed 
by contractors and subcontractors on public 
buildings", approved August 30, 1935 (49 Stat. 
1011), as amended.1 

(e) As used in section 255 of this title the term
"State" means any State of the United States 
or the District of Columbia or any Territory or 
possession of the United States. 

1 See References ln Text note below. 

2So In orlglnal. Probably should be "Walsh-Healey Act". 
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Wage and Hour Division, Labor 

"statutory exclusions.") As stated by 
the Supreme Court in the Youngerman­
Reynolds case cited above: "Once the 
parties have decided upon the amount 
of wages and the mode of payment the 
determination of the regular rate be­
comes a matter of mathematical com­
putation, the result of which is unaf­
fected by any designation of a contrary 
'regular rate' in the wage contracts.'' 

§ 778.109 The regular rate is an hourly 
rate. 

The "regular rate" under the Act is a 
rate per hour. The Act does not require
employers to compensate employees on 
an hourly rate basis; their earnings
may be determined on a piece-rate, sal­
ary, commission, or other basis, but in
such case the overtime compensation
due to employees must be computed on
the basis of the hourly rate derived
therefrom and, therefore, it is nec­
essary to compute the regular hourly
rate of such employees during each 
workweek, with certain statutory ex­
ceptions discussed in §§ 778.400 through
778.421. The regular hourly rate of pay
of an employee is determined by divid­
ing his total remuneration for employ­
ment (except statutory exclusions) in
any workweek by the total number of 
hours actually worked by him in that 
workweek for which such compensa­
tion was paid. The following sections
give some examples of the proper
method of determining the regular rate
of pay in particular instances: (The
maximum hours standard used in these
examples is 40 hours in a workweek).

§ 778.110 Hourly rate employee. 

(a) Earnings at hourly rate exclusively.
If the employee is employed solely on 
the basis of a sing·le hourly rate, the 
hourly rate is the "regular rate." For 
overtime hours of work the employee 
must be paid, in addition to the 
straight time hourly earnings, a sum 
determined by multiplying one-half the 
hourly rate by the number of hours 
worked in excess of 40 in the week. 
Thus a $12 hourly rate will bring, for an 
employee who works 46 hours, a total 
weekly wage of $588 (46 hours at $12 
plus 6 at $6). In other words, the em­
ployee is entitled to be paid an amount 
equal to $12 an hour for 40 hours and 

§ 778.111

$18 an hour for the 6 hours of overtime, 
or a total of $588. 

(b) Hourly rate and bonus. If the em­
ployee receives, in addition to the 
earnings computed at the $12 hourly 
rate, a production bonus of $46 for the 
week, the regular hourly rate of pay is 
$13 an hour (46 hours at $12 yields $552; 
the addition of the $46 bonus makes a 
total of $598; this total divided by 46 
hours yields a regular rate of $13). The 
employee is then entitled to be paid a 
total wage of $637 for 46 hours (46 hours 
at $13 plus 6 hours at $6.50, or 40 hours 
at $13 plus 6 hours at $19.50). 

[76 FR 18857, Apr. 5, 2011] 

§ 778.111 Pieceworker. 

(a) Piece rates and supplements gen­
erally. When an employee is employed 
on a piece-rate basis, the regular hour­
ly rate of pay is computed by adding 
together total earnings for the work­
week from piece rates and all other 
sources (such as production bonuses) 
and any sums paid for waiting time or 
other hours worked (except statutory 
exclusions). This sum is then divided 
by the number of hours worked in the 
week for which such compensation was 
paid, to yield the pieceworker's "reg­
ular rate" for that week. For overtime 
work the pieceworker is entitled to be 
paid, in addition to the total weekly 
earnings at this regular rate for all 
hours worked, a sum equivalent to one­
half this regular rate of pay multiplied 
by the number of hours worked in ex­
cess of 40 in the week. (For an alter­
native method of complying with the 
overtime requirements of the Act as 
far as pieceworkers are concerned, see 
§778.418.) Only additional half-time pay 
is required in such cases where the em­
ployee has already received straight­
time compensation at piece rates or by
supplementary payments for all hours
worked. Thus, for example, if the em­
ployee has worked 50 hours and has
earned $491 at piece rates for 46 hours
of productive work and in addition has
been compensated at $8.00 an hour for 4
hours of waiting time, the total com­
pensation, $523.00, must be divided by
the total hours of work, 50, to arrive at 
the regular hourly rate of pay-$10.46.
For the 10 hours of overtime the em­
ployee is entitled to additional com­
pensation of $52.30 (10 hours at $5.23). 
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§ 778.112

For the week's work the employee is 
thus entitled to a total of $575.30 
(which is equivalent to 40 hours at 
$10.46 plus 10 overtime hours at $15.69). 

(b) Piece rates with minimum hourly
guarantee. In some cases an employee is 
hired on a piece-rate basis coupled with 
a minimum hourly guaranty. Where 
the total piece-rate earnings for the 
workweek fall short of the amount 
that would be earned for the total 
hours of work at the guaranteed rate, 
the employee is paid the difference. In 
such weeks the employee is in fact paid 
at an hourly rate and the minimum 
hourly guaranty is the regular rate in 
that week. In the example just given, if 
the employee was guaranteed $11 an 
hour for productive working time, the 
employee would be paid $506 (46 hours 
at $11) for the 46 hours of productive 
work (instead of the $491 earned at 
piece rates). In a week in which no 
waiting time was involved, the em­
ployee would be owed an additional 
$5.50 (half time) for each of the 6 over­
time hours worked, to bring the total 
compensation up to $539 (46 hours at $11 
plus 6 hours at $5.50 or 40 hours at $11 
plus 6 hours at $16.50). If the employee 
is paid at a different rate for waiting 
time, the regular rate is the weighted 
average of the 2 hourly rates, as dis­
cussed in §778.115. 

[76 FR 18857, Apr. 5, 2011] 

§ 778.112 Day rates and job rates.

If the employee is paid a flat sum for
a day's work or for doing a particular
job, without regard to the number of
hours worked in the day or at the job,
and if he receives no other form of
compensation for services, his regular
rate is determined by totaling all the
sums received at such day rates or job
rates in the workweek and dividing by
the total hours actually worked. He is
then entitled to extra half-time pay at
this rate for all hours worked in excess
of 40 in the workweek.

§ 778.113 Salaried employees-general.

(a) Weekly salary. If the employee is
employed solely on a weekly salary 
basis, the regular hourly rate of pay, 
on which time and a half must be paid, 
is computed by dividing the salary by 
the number of hours which the salary 
is intended to compensate. If an em-

29 CFR Ch. V (7-1-19 Edition) 

ployee is hired at a salary of $350 and if 
it is understood that this salary is 
compensation for a regular workweek 
of 35 hours, the employee's regular rate 
of pay is $350 divided by 35 hours, or $10 
an hour, and when the employee works 
overtime the employee is entitled to 
receive $10 for each of the first 40 hours 
and $15 (one and one-half times $10) for 
each hour thereafter. If an employee is 
hired at a salary of $375 for a 40-hour 
week the regular rate is $9.38 an hour. 

(b) Salary for periods other than work­
week. Where the salary covers a period 
longer than a workweek, such as a 
month, it must be reduced to its work­
week equivalent. A monthly salary is 
subject to translation to its equivalent 
weekly wage by multiplying by 12 (the 

number of months) and dividing by 52 
(the number of weeks). A semimonthly 
salary is translated into its equivalent 
weekly wage by multiplying by 24 and 
dividing by 52. Once the weekly wage is 
arrived at, the regular hourly rate of 
pay will be calculated as indicated 
above. The regular rate of an employee 
who is paid a regular monthly salary of 
$1,560, or a regular semimonthly salary 
of $780 for 40 hours a week, is thus 
found to be $9 per hour. Under regula­
tions of the Administrator, pursuant to 
the authority given to him in section 
7(g)(3) of the Act, the parties may pro­
vide that the regular rates shall be de­
termined by dividing the monthly sal­
ary by the number of working days in 
the month and then by the number of 
hours of the normal or regular work­
day. Of course, the resultant rate in 
such a case must not be less than the 
statutory minimum wage. 

[46 FR 7310, Jan. 23, 1981, as amended at 76 
FR 18857, Apr. 5, 2011] 

§ 778.114 Fixed salary for fluctuating
hours.

(a) An employee employed on a sal­
ary basis may have hours of work 
which fluctuate from week to week and 

the salary may be paid him pursuant to 
an understanding with his employer 

that he will receive such fixed amount 
as straight time pay for whatever 

hours he is called upon to work in a 
workweek, whether few or many. 
Where there is a clear mutual under­
standing of the parties that the fixed 
salary is compensation (apart from 
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Part I 

Title XXI 

Chapter 149 

Section 148 

General Law - Part I, Title XX), Chapter 149, Section l 48 

ADMINISTRATION OF THE GOVERNMENT 

LABOR AND INDUSTRIES 

LABOR AND INDUSTRIES 

PAYMENT OF WAGES; COMMISSIONS; EXEMPTION BY 

CONTRACT; PERSONS DEEMED EMPLOYERS; PROVISION 

FOR CASHING CHECK OR DRAFT; VIOLATION OF STATUTE 

Section 148. Every person having employees in his service shall pay 

weekly or bi-weekly each such employee the wages earned by him to 

within six days of the termination of the pay period during which the 

wages were earned if employed for five or six days in a calendar week, or 

to within seven days of the termination of the pay period during which 

the wages were earned if such employee is employed seven days in a 

calendar week, or in the case of an employee who has worked for a 

period of less than five days, hereinafter called a casual employee, shall, 

within seven days after the termination of such period, pay the wages 

earned by such casual employee during such period, but any employee 

leaving his employment shall be paid in full on the following regular pay 

day, and, in the absence of a regular pay day, on the following Saturday; 

and any e1nployee discharged from such employment shall be paid in full 

on the day of his discharge, or in Boston as soon as the laws requiring pay 

rolls, bills and accounts to be certified shall have been complied with; and 

the com1nonwealth, its departments, officers, boards and commissions 

hllps://malegislature.gov/Laws/GeneralLnws/Partl/TitleXXI/Chapter 149/Section J 48 
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5/11/2021 General Law - Part I, Ti lie XXI, Chapter 149, Section 148 

shall so pay every mechanic, workman and laborer employed by it or 

them, and every person employed in any other capacity by it or the1n in 

any penal or charitable institution, and every county and city shall so pay 

every employee engaged in its business the wages or salary earned by 

him, unless such mechanic, workman, laborer or employee requests in 

writing to be paid in a different manner; and every town shall so pay each 

employee engaged in its business if so required by him; but an employee 

absent from his regular place of labor at a tiine fixed for payment shall be 

paid thereafter on demand; provided, however, that the department of 

telecommunications and energy, after hearing, may authorize a railroad 

corporation or a parlor or sleeping car corporation to pay the wages of 

any of its employees less frequently than weekly, if such employees 

prefer less frequent payments, and if their interests and the interests of the 

public will not suffer thereby; and provided, further, that employees 

engaged in a bona fide executive, administrative or professional capacity 

as determined by the attorney general and employees whose salaries are 

regularly paid on a weekly basis or at a weekly rate for a work week of 

substantially the same number of hours from week to week may be paid 

bi-weekly or semi-monthly unless such employee elects at his own option 

to be paid monthly; and provided, further, that employees engaged in 

agricultural work may be paid their wages monthly; in either case, 

however, failure by a railroad corporation or a parlor or sleeping car 

corporation to pay its employees their wages as authorized by the said 

department, or by an e1nployer of employees engaged in agricultural 

work to pay monthly the wages of his or her employees, shall be deemed 

a violation of this section; and provided, further, that an employer may 

1nake payment of wages prior to the time that they are required to be paid 

under the provisions of this section, and such wages together with any 

https://malegislature .gov/Laws/GeneralLa ws/Parll/Tit leXXI/Chapter 149/Section 148 
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5/11/2021 General Law-Part I, Title XXl,Chapter 149, Section 148 

wages already earned and due under this section, if any, may be paid 

weekly, bi-weekly, or semi-monthly to a salaried employee, but in no 

event shall wages remain unpaid by an employer for more than six days 

fro1n the termination of the pay period in which such wages were earned 

by the employee. For the purposes of this section the words salaried 

employee shall mean any employee whose remuneration is on a weekly, 

bi-weekly, semi-monthly, monthly or annual basis, even though 

deductions or increases may be made in a particular pay period. The word 

"wages" shall include any holiday or vacation pay1nents due an employee 

under an oral or written agreement. An employer, when paying an 

employee his wage, shall furnish to such employee a suitable pay slip, 

check stub or envelope showing the naine of the employer, the name of 

the employee, the day, month, year, number of hours worked, and hourly 

rate, and the amounts of deductions or increases made for the pay period. 

Compensation paid to public and non-public school teachers shall be 

deemed to be fully earned at the end of the school year, and 

proportionately earned during the school year; provided, however, that 

payment of such compensation may be def erred to the extent that equal 

payments may be established for a 12 month period including amounts 

payable in July and August subsequent to the end of the school year. 

Every railroad corporation shall furnish each employee with a statement 

accompanying each payment of wages listing current accrued total 

earnings and taxes and shall also furnish said employee with each such 

payment a listing of his daily wages and the method used to compute 

such wages. 

ht1ps://malegislature.gov/Laws/Generallaws/Partl/Ti tleXXI/Chapter 149/Section 148 
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5/11/2021 General Law - Part I, Title XXI, Chapter 149, Section 148 

This section shall apply, so far as apt, to the payment of commissions 

when the ainount of such commissions, less allowable or authorized 

deductions, has been definitely determined and has become due and 

payable to such employee, and commissions so determined and due such 

employees shall be subject to the provisions of section one hundred and 

fifty. 

This section shall not apply to an employee of a hospital which is 

supported in part by contributions from the commonwealth or from any 

city or town, nor to an employee of an incorporated hospital which 

provides treatment to patients free of charge, or which is conducted as a 

public charity, unless such employee requests such hospital to pay him 

weekly. This section shall not apply to an employee of a co-operative 

association if he is a shareholder therein, unless he requests such 

association to pay him weekly, nor to casual employees as hereinbefore 

defined employed by the commonwealth or by any county, city or town. 

No person shall by a special contract with an employee or by any other 

means exempt himself from this section or from section one hundred and 

fifty. The president and treasurer of a corporation and any officers or 

agents having the management of such corporation shall be deemed to be 

the employers of the employees of the corporation within the meaning of 

this section. Every public officer whose duty it is to pay money, approve, 

audit or verify pay rolls, or perform any other official act relative to 

payment of any public employees, shall be deemed to be an employer of 

such employees, and shall be responsible under this section for any 

failure to perform his official duty relative to the payment of their wages 

or salaries, unless he is prevented fro1n perf arming the same through no 

fault on his part. 

htlps://malegislature .gov/Laws/GeneralLaws/PartlffitleXXI/Chapler 149/Section 148 
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Any employer paying wages to an employee by check or draft shall 

provide for such e1nployee such facilities for the cashing of such check or 

draft at a bank or elsewhere, without charge by deduction from the face 

amount thereof or otherwise, as shall be deemed by the attorney general 

to be reasonable. The state treasurer may in his discretion in writing 

exempt himself and any other public officer from the provisions of this 

paragraph. 

An employer paying his employees on a weekly basis on July first, 

nineteen hundred and ninety-two shall, prior to paying said employees on 

a bi-weekly basis, provide each employee with written notice of such 

change at least ninety days in advance of the first such bi-weekly 

paycheck. 

Whoever violates this section shall be punished or shall be subject to a 

civil citation or order as provided in section 27C. 

h l lps ://m�le g i sla tu re .gov /Laws/Genera I Laws/Part I/Ti tleXXI/Ch apter 14 9/Section. 148 
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Part I 

Title XXI 

Chapter 149 

Section 150 

General Law - Part I, Tille XXI, Chapter 149, Section I 50 

ADMINISTRATION OF THE GOVERNMENT 

LABOR AND INDUSTRIES 

LABOR AND INDUSTRIES 

COMPLAINT FOR VIOLATION OF CERTAIN SECTIONS; 

DEFENSES; PAYMENT AFTER COMPLAINT; ASSIGNMENTS; 

LOAN OF WAGES TO EMPLOYER; CIVIL ACTION 

Section 150. The attorney general may make complaint or seek 

indictment against any person for a violation of section 148. On the trial 

no defence for failure to pay as required, other than the attachment of 

such wages by trustee process or a valid assignment thereof or a valid set­

off against the same, or the absence of the employee from his regular 

place of labor at the time of payment, or an actual tender to such 

employee at the time of payment of the wages so earned by him, shall be 

valid. The defendant shall not set up as a defence a payment of wages 

after the bringing of the complaint. An assignment of future wages 

payable weekly under section one hundred and forty-eight shall not be 

valid if made to the person from whom such wages are to become due or 

to any person on his behalf, or if made or procured to be made to another 

person for the purpose of relieving the e1nployer from the obligation to 

pay weekly. A loan made by an employee to his employer of wages 

which are payable weekly under section one hundred and forty-eight, 

whether made directly to the employer or to another person or persons on 

hllps://malegislalure .gov/Laws/GeneralLaws/Partl/Ti lleXXI/Chapler 149/Seclion 150 

89 

1/2 

Massachusetts Appeals Court      Case: 2021-P-0301      Filed: 5/13/2021 12:21 PM



5/11/2021 General Law - Part I, Title XXI, Chapter 149, Section 150 

his behalf, shall not be valid as a defense on the trial of a complaint for 

failure to pay such wages weekly, unless such loan shall have been made 

with the approval of the attorney general. 

An employee claiming to be aggrieved by a violation of sections 33E, 

52E, 148, 148A, 148B, 148C, 150C, 152, 152A, 159C or 190 or section 

19 of chapter 151 may, 90 days after the filing of a complaint with the 

attorney general, or sooner if the attorney general assents in writing, and 

within 3 years after the violation, institute and prosecute in his own name 

and on his own behalf, or for himself and for others similarly situated, a 

civil action for injunctive relief, for any damages incurred, and for any 

lost wages and other benefits; provided, however, that the 3 year 

limitation period shall be tolled from the date that the employee or a 

similarly situated employee files a complaint with the attorney general 

alleging a violation of any of these sections until the date that the attorney 

general issues a letter authorizing a private right of action or the date that 

an enforcement action by the attorney general becomes final. An 

employee so aggrieved who prevails in such an action shall be awarded 

treble damages, as liquidated damages, for any lost wages and other 

benefits and shall also be awarded the costs of the litigation arid 

reasonable attorneys' fees. 
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Part I ADMINISTRATION OF THE GOVERNMENT 

Title XXI LABOR AND INDUSTRIES 

Chapter MINIMUM FAIR WAGES 

151 

Section lA OVERTIME PAY; EXCLUDED EMPLOYMENTS 

Section IA. Except as otherwise provided in this section, no employer in 

the commonwealth shall employ any of his employees in an occupation, 

as defined in section two, for a work week longer than forty hours, unless 

such employee receives compensation for his employment in excess of 

forty hours at a rate not less than one and one half times the regular rate at 

which he is employed. Sums paid as commissions, drawing accounts, 

bonuses, or other incentive pay based on sales or production, shall be 

excluded in computing the regular rate and the overtime rate of 

compensation under the provisions of this section. In any work week in 

which an employee of a retail business is employed on a Sunday or 

certain holidays at a rate of one and one-half times the regular rate of 

compensation at which he is employed as provided in chapter 136, the 

hours so worked on Sunday or certain holidays shall be excluded fro1n the 

calculation of overtime pay as required by this section, unless a 

collectively bargained labor agreement provides otherwise. Except as 

otherwise provided in the second sentence, nothing in this section shall be 
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construed to otherwise limit an employee's right to receive one and one­

half times the regular rate of co1npensation for an e1nployee on Sundays 

or certain holidays or to limit the voluntary nature of work on Sundays or 

certain holidays, as provided for in said chapter 136. 

This section shall not be applicable to any employee who is employed:­

( 1) as a janitor or caretaker of residential property, who when furnished

with living quarters is paid a wage of not less than thirty dollars per week. 

(2) as a golf caddy, newsboy or child actor or perfonner.

(3) as a bona fide executive, or administrative or professional person or

qualified trainee for such position earning more than eighty dollars per

week.

( 4) as an outside salesman or outside buyer.

( 5) as a learner, apprentice or handicapped person under a special license

as provided in section nine. 

( 6) as a fisherman or as a person employed in the catching or taking of

any kind of fish, shellfish or other aquatic forms of animal and vegetable 

life. 

(7) as a switchboard operator in a public telephone exchange.

(8) as a driver or helper on a truck with respect to whom the Interstate

Commerce Commission has power to establish qualifications and 

maximum hours of service pursuant to the provisions of section two 

hundred and four of the motor carrier act of nineteen hundred and thirty­

five, or as employee of an employer subject to the provisions of Part 1 of 

the Interstate Commerce Act or subject to title II of the Railway Labor 

Act. 
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(9) in a business or specified operation of a business which is carried on

during a period or accumulated periods not in excess of one hundred and

twenty days in any year, and determined by the commissioner to be

seasonal in nature.

(10) as a seaman.

(11) by an employer licensed and regulated pursuant to chapter one

hundred and fifty-nine A. 

(12) in a hotel, motel, motor court or like establishment.

( 13) in a gasoline station.

( 14) in a restaurant.

( 15) as a garageman, which term shall not include a parking lot attendant.

( 16) in a hospital, sanitarium, convalescent or nursing home, infinnary,

rest home or charitable home for the aged. 

(17) in a non-profit school or college.

(18) in a summer camp operated by a non-profit charitable corporation.

(19) as a laborer engaged in agriculture and farming on a farm.

(20) in an amusement park containing a permanent aggregation of

amusement devices, games, shows, and other attractions operated during 

a period or accumulated periods not in excess of one hundred and fifty 

days in any one year. 
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Case No: 8:17-cv-2254-T-36CPT 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA TAMPA DIVISION 

Thomas v. Waste Pro USA, Inc. 

Decided Ser 30, 2019 

Case No: 8:17-cv-2254-T-36CPT 

09-30-2019

ALFRED W. THOMAS, Plaintiff, v. WASTE 

PRO USA, INC. and WASTE PRO OF 

FLORIDA, INC., Defendants. 

Charlene Edwards Honeywell United States 

District Judge 

ORDER 

This matter comes before the Court on Defendant 

Waste Pro USA, Inc.'s Motion for Summary 

Judgment and Incorporated Memorandum of Law 

(Doc. 185), Plaintiff's response thereto (Doc. 206), 

Defendant Waste Pro USA Inc.'s reply (Doc. 215), 

Waste Pro of Florida, Inc.'s Motion for Summary 

Judgment and Incorporated Memorandum of Law 

(Doc. 187), Plaintiff's response thereto (Doc. 207), 

Defendant Waste Pro of Florida, Inc.'s reply (Doc. 

218), Plaintiffs Amended Motion for Partial 

Summary Judgment and Incorporated Supporting 

Memorandum of Law (Doc. 197), Defendant 

Waste Pro USA, Inc.'s response thereto (Doc. 

210), Defendant Waste Pro of Florida, Inc.'s 

response thereto (Doc. 211 ), and Plaintiff's reply 

(Doc. 221). Defendants both move for summary 

judgment and Plaintiff moves for partial summary 

judgment as to liability. Doc. 185, Doc. 187, Doc. 

197. 

The Court, having considered the motions, being 

duly advised in the premises and for reasons 

described herein, will deny Defendant Waste Pro 

USA, Inc.'s Motion for Summary Judgment (Doc. 

185), will grant in part and deny in part Waste Pro 

of Florida, Inc.'s Motion for Summary Judgment 

·% casetext

(Doc. 187) and deny Plaintiffs Amended Motion 

2 for Partial Summary Judgment (Doc. 197). "2 I. 
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BACKGROUND AND FACTS 

t The Court has determined the facts, which 

are undisputed unless otherwise noted, 

based on the parties' submissions, 

including depositions, interrogatory 

responses, declarations, and exhibits (Doc. 

185-187; Doc. 197; Doc. 206-207, 209-

211, Doc. 215-216, Doc. 218-219, Doc.

221 ), as well as the parties' Stipulation of

Agreed Material Facts Regarding

Defendants Waste Pro USA's Motion for 

Summary Judgment (Doc. 205), Amended

Stipulation of Agreed Material Facts

Regarding Defendant Waste Pro of

Florida's Motion for Summary Judgment

(Doc. 208), and Stipulation of Agreed

Material Facts Regarding Plaintiff's

Amended Motion for Partial Summary

Judgment (Doc. 213). 

This is a collective action filed pursuant to § 

216(6) of the FLSA by Plaintiff Alfred W. Thomas 

("Thomas" or "Plaintiff'') pertaining to the pay of 

certain "Helpers" employed by Defendants Waste 

Pro USA, Inc. ("Waste Pro USA" or "WP USA"), 

and Waste Pro of Florida, Inc. ("Waste Pro of 

Florida" or "WP Florida") (collectively, 

"Defendants"), which alleges willful violations of 

the FLSA. Doc. 111 mJ 1, 64, 72. Waste Pro USA 

is the parent company to various subsidiaries who 

provide professional solid waste collection and 

disposal and recycling services in nine states 

pursuant to various commercial, municipal, 

subscription or military contracts. Id. � 23, Doc. 
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130 ,i 23, Doc. 197-28 at 2; Doc. 213 ii 4. One of 

those subsidiaries is Waste Pro of Florida. Doc. 

111 ,i 23, Doc. 131 ,i 23; Doc. 213 ,i 4. 

The Second Amended Complaint raises two 

causes of action: (I) violation of the FLSA by 

Defendants, jointly and severally, by failing to pay 

Plaintiff and other Helpers time and a half 

overtime premium pay when they worked more 

than forty hours per week, and (2) violation of the 

FLSA by Waste Pro USA by failing to pay 

Plaintiff and other Helpers time and a half 

overtime premium pay when they work more than 

3 forty hours per week. Doc. 111 ,i,i 58-73. *3 

A. Undisputed Facts

1. Company Structure

WP USA was founded by John J. Jennings, who is 

the Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive 

Officer ("CEO") of WP USA. Doc. 197-27 at 7:8-

9; Doc. 197-30 at 2. Jennings is also the CEO of 

WP Florida. Doc. 206-1 at 3211-14. WP USA 
operates in nine states, including Florida, Georgia, 

North Carolina, South Carolina, Alabama, 

Mississippi, Louisiana, Arkansas, and Tennessee. 

Doc. 197-30 at 2. WP USA is "one of the largest, 

full-service, vertically integrated waste 
management companies." Id. at 3. 

Regional Vice Presidents act as the CEOs of their 

area, but report to Jennings. Doc. 206-1 at 32:8-

14. There are ten Regional Vice Presidents. Doc.

197-30. The CEO of WP USA hires Regional Vice

Presidents and the decision to fire a Regional Vice

President is made by Jennings or the Board of
Directors of WP USA. Doc. 213 ,i,i 8-9. Jennings

meets with the Regional Vice Presidents roughly

three times per year to discuss the status of the

regions. Id. ,i 13. Once every week, the Regional

Vice Presidents conduct a conference call to

discuss the needs and success of their regions. Id.

iJ 16.

Each subsidiary has its own Human Resources 

Manager. Doc. 205 ,i 17. Some subsidiaries, 

including WP Florida, has a Human Resources 
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Manager for each region. Id. ,i 18. 

WP Florida consists of five regions: southeast, 

central, north, southwest, and coastal. Doc. 205 ,i 

1. Each region is made up of divisions. Id. ,i 3.

Each region within WP Florida is managed by a

Regional Vice President, and each division is

managed by a Division Manager, who reports to

the Regional Vice President. Id. ,i,i 2, 4.

Depending on the size of the division, there is also
an Operations Manager or Site Manager who

reports to the Division Manager and who oversees
4 *4 Route Supervisors or Route Managers. Id. ,i,i 5, 

6. Helpers report to Route Supervisors or Route

Managers. Id. ,i 7.
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Division Managers have the authority to determine 

schedules for Helpers and staff the routes. Id. ,i 8. 

The number of hours worked by a Helper each day 

depends on his or her assigned route. Id. ,i 11. 

Additionally, Division Managers have the 

authority to train and evaluate Helpers, although 

WP USA provides guidelines related to training. 
Id. ,i,i 8, 16. Because Helpers are laborers, most 

training occurs on the job, although Helpers 

receive limited classroom training. Id. ,i,i 13-14. 

The rate of pay for Helpers varies among divisions 

and regions. Id. ,i 9. Some divisions start all 

Helpers at the same pay rate, whereas others set 

Helpers' rates based on experience. Id. ,i 10. WP 

USA maintains employees' 401 (k)s and health 

insurance plans. Id. ,i 19. 

WP USA and WP Florida are indisputably related 

to a certain extent. Defendants urge in this 

proceeding that WP USA provides guidance and 

administrative support to its subsidiaries, 

including WP of Florida. See generally Doc. 210. 

Banasiak testified during his deposition with 
respect to various forms of support provided by 

WP USA, including human resources support as 
needed with respect to specific questions or issues 

(Doc. 206-1 at 58:19-59:12), provision of a 

timekeeping system, ADP (Id. at 62:11-63:5), and 

2 
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provision of an intranet site that hosts forms and 

data that can be used by the subsidiaries (Id. at 

63:7-15). 

WP USA also has a corporate safety department, 

accounting department, maintenance department, 

and sales department. Id. at 66:7-16, 69: 14-16. 

The WP USA safety department provides 

information related to changes m safety 

information, such as changes in Department of 

Transportation regulations, via posting documents 

with such information on the intranet. Id. at 70: 19-

22, 71: 1-8. The maintenance department is 

5 responsible for changes in equipment and "5 

service for equipment. Id. at 72: 15-16. For 

example, maintenance would advise of changes in 

how often oil should be changed for trucks. Id. at 

72:15-23. The WP USA maintenance department 

has a record of the vehicles that are purchased by 

the regions. Id. at 73:25-74:9. The WP USA 

accounting department evaluates financial results 

and performance. Id. at 76:16-17. The financial 

results handled by the WP USA accounting 

department are generated by each region by a 

regional controller. Id. at 77:3-5. The WP USA 

sales department is a support mechanism for the 

field and does not generate any sales. Id. at 79:3-6. 

Plaintiff argues that WP USA and its subsidiaries 

are a single enterprise and WP USA is a joint 

employer of the Helpers. See generally Doc. 197. 

Plaintiff relies on evidence that WP USA 

advertises itself as a waste removal company, like 

its subsidiaries (Doc. 197-30), and Jennings is on 

the Board of Directors of WP USA, is CEO of 

each subsidiary, and delegates management to the 

Regional Vice Presidents, some of whom oversee 

operations across several different subsidiaries 

(Doc. 197-24, Doc. 197-27 at 7:7-9, 17:14-18, 

Doc. 197-28 at 2). Additionally, payroll for the 

subsidiaries is handled locally, but managed by 

WP USA. Doc. 197-35. Moreover, the subsidiaries 

may use documents with the WP USA logo on 

them and, even if they have the power to change 

vanous documents, such as an employee 

handbook, Defendants present no evidence that 
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any region actually made any changes. Doc. 197-

41, Doc. 206-1 at 17-19, Doc. 206-14, Doc. 206-

15, Doc. 206-16, Doc. 206-17. Plaintiff also relies 

on evidence that employees applied for Helper 

positions through the WP USA webpage, receive 

documents purportedly from WP USA, and 

understand themselves to be WP USA employees. 

Doc. 206-14 il� 5-8; Doc. 206-15 iMl 1-7, Doc. 

6 206-16 �� 1-6, Doc. 206-17 �� 1-5. *(i 
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2. Pay Methods

Helpers are employees who load garbage, 

recycling, or other solid waste into a rear-load 

truck. Doc. 197-2; Doc. 206-1 at 30:22-31:1. 

Helpers in WP Florida are paid a day rate, 

although the starting pay differs by division and is 

set by the division manager. Doc. 206-1 at 181 :21-

183 :9-14. Most Helpers employed by WP USA 

subsidiaries are paid via the day rate method, 

although some are paid on an hourly basis. Doc. 

197-4. A day rate is intended to compensate an

employee for his or her work that day, regardless 

of the number of hours worked. Doc. 197-1 at 8, 

Doc. 197-10 at 61:9-17. More specifically, 

divisions have routes to collect solid waste, and 

Helpers have a daily task of picking up a route, 

and receive a day rate for picking up that daily 

task. Doc. 206-1 at 91:12-19. Additionally, 

Helpers also receive non-discretionary bonuses if 

they assist on other routes or meet the criteria for 

performance bonuses. Id. at 95:24-96:2, Doc. 197-

18; Doc. 213 � 2-3. 

With respect to half-day rates, these were paid by 

various WP USA subsidiaries, including WP 

Florida, until 2017. Doc. 206-1 at 124:1-125:25. 

The half day rate was not paid anywhere in WP 

Florida after August 24, 2017. Doc. 186-1 � 14. 

Overtime for day rate workers in WP Florida is 

calculated by multiplying each hour worked over 

40 hours by one-half of the workers' regular rate, 

which is calculated by dividing the total 

compensation by the total hours worked. Doc. 

3 
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I 97-1 at 9. The workers' total compensation for 

the week includes their day rate, their half day 

rate, and non-discretionary bonuses. Doc. 18 7 at 3. 

B. Disputed Facts as to Pay Method

Regional Vice President for the West Coast of 

Florida, Keith Banasiak, testified during his 

deposition that the half day rate is "compensation 

for something less than what the daily task would 

7 ''7 be." Doc. 206-1 at 124:1-6. When asked 

whether it was triggered by hours, Banasiak stated 

that he would describe the half day rate as a task. 

Id. at 126:5-11. He further explained that "if an 

employee . . .  has a set task to do, but" the helper 

is also asked to do something that was not "his 

normal daily task," such as coming in on a 

weekend to clean the yard, he would be paid the 

half day rate. Id. at 126:11-17. 

However, Plaintiff argues that Defendants have a 

common practice of paying the half day rate if 

Helpers work 4.0 hours or less in a day. Doc. 197 

at 11. To support this assertion, Plaintiff cites to an 

e-mail from Judi Craigo, the Director of Benefits

for WP USA (Doc. 197-29), to Tia Epps, a

regional human resources representative for

Georgia, North Carolina, and South Carolina, in

response to Epps' question of "after how many

hours a person has worked do we pa[y] them the

FULL Day Rate?" Doc. 197-13. Craigo's response

states "Less than 4 hours = ½ Day[;) 4 hours or

more = 1 Full Day." Id. Plaintiff also relies on an

e-mail exchange between Craigo, Shannon Early,

who is the Director of Human Resources for WP

USA, and Trish Reid, who is a human resources

manager for the "Southern Region of WastePro

USA." Doc. 197-14. The exchange concerns how

to explain the overtime rate for a day rate

employee. Id. In the exchange, Reid states that she

is hesitant to use a supplied spreadsheet because

employees did "not understand it" and it shows

that a specific employee was being paid a low

overtime rate. Id. at 2. Reid suggests explaining

the overtime rate by stating, in relevant part, that

day rate employees "are not paid time and a half

·% casetext

like hourly employees are because [ day rate 

employees] earn a day rate for the day. As long as 

[day rate employees] work at least 4.00 hours they 

get their whole day rate." Id. 

C.Andreu

Plaintiff contends that this case is similar to a prior 

case against WP Florida, Andreu v. Waste Pro of 

Florida, et al., No. 17-60926-ClV-WPD (S.D. 

8 Fla.). That case involved a lawsuit ''k by a driver 

employed by WP Florida who alleged that WP 

Florida's day rate compensation practice violated 

the FLSA and entitled him to unpaid overtime 

compensation. Doc. 197-5. There, the court denied 

a motion for summary judgment filed by WP 

Florida, that is similar to WP Florida's Motion for 

Summary Judgment in this case. Doc. 207-1, Doc. 

207-2. The case proceeded to a jury trial and the

jury returned a verdict in favor of the Andreu

plaintiff. Doc. 197-8.
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D. Previous Reviews of WP Florida Pay

Methods 

WP Florida relies on prior reviews of its pay 

method by the Department of Labor ("DOL"). 

More specifically, the DOL conducted an audit of 

WP Florida's compliance with the FLSA's 

overtime provisions for the period between 

August 6, 2011 through August 5, 2013. Doc. 187-

1 at 11-23. The DOL Audit indicates that 

"employees were paid on a daily fee basis, 

however the firm accurately paid for their 

overtime hours." Id. at 18. The Audit explains that 

"employees received the same rate for each day of 

work," and, therefore, received half their regular 

rate for hours worked over 40 per week. Id. 

Additionally, the auditor does not conclude that 

this was altered by the payment of bonuses. Id. at 

20. The auditor explains that "[b]onuses were

divided by all hours worked during the same week

in which the bonus was allocated in order to

obtain the additional amount originally not

included in the regular rate. Once the new rate was

4 
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obtained, it was then divided by ½ and then 

multiplied by all the hours worked over 40 during 

the same workweek." Id. 

The DOL conducted another investigation of WP 

Florida for the period of March 15, 2014, to 

March 14, 2016. Id. at 25-30. The report indicates 

that "[m]ost drivers and helpers [were] paid a day 

rate." Id. at 25. The investigation was conducted 

because an employee complained that he or she 

was not paid proper overtime because he received 

only half time for his or her daily rate. Id. at 27. 

With respect to the half day rate, the investigator 

9 concludes that this "was still a flat rate *9 without 

regard to the number of hours worked and did not 

result in an ove11ime violation." Id. at 27-28. The 

investigation concluded that "the drivers and 

helpers . . . were paid a daily rate intended to 

cover all hours worked," and were paid half time 

for hours worked in excess of 40 per week, there 

was no FLSA violation. Id. at 28. 

E. The Motions for Summary Judgment

Plaintiff filed a Motion for Summary Judgment 

requesting judgment with respect to three issues: 

(1) that Defendants' day rate ove11ime pay violates

the FLSA; (2) that WP USA employs Plaintiff and

Helpers; and (3) that WP of Florida is collaterally

estopped from asserting its good faith affirmative

defense in this case. Doc. 197 at 23-24.

WP USA moved for summary judgment on the 

basis that it does not employ Plaintiff or any Opt­

In Plaintiff. Doc. 185. WP USA argues that the 

record evidence shows that it does not control 

Plaintiff's or other Helpers' conditions of 

employment. Id. 

WP Florida moved for summary judgment and 

argues that its compensation methodology is 

consistent with the FLSA, 29 C F.R. § 778.112 is 

not the only permissible method for compensating 

day rate employees, and occasional instances in 

which Helpers were paid the half day rate did not 

invalidate WP Florida's compensation 

methodology. Doc. 187 at 8-15. WP Florida also 
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argues that summary judgment is appropriate for 

Helpers who are not adversely affected by any 

common policy or plan of WP Florida. Id. at 15-

17. 

II. LEGAL STANDARD

Summary judgment is appropriate when the 

pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, 

and admissions on file, together with the 

affidavits, show there is no genuine issue as to any 

material fact and that the moving party is entitled 

to judgment as a matter of law. Fed. R. Civ. P. 

56(c); Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 322, 

Io 106 S. Ct. 2548, 91 L. Ed. 2d 265 "1 u (1986). The 

moving party bears the initial burden of stating the 

basis for its motion and identifying those portions 

of the record demonstrating the absence of 

genuine issues of material fact. Celotex, 477 U.S. 

at 323; Hickson Corp. v. N. Crossarm Co., 357 

F.3d 1256, 1259-60 (1 Ith Cir. 2004). That burden

can be discharged if the moving party can show

the court that there is "an absence of evidence to

support the nonmoving party's case." Celotex, 4 77

U.S. at 325. 
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When the moving party has discharged its burden, 

the nonmoving party must then designate specific 

facts showing that there is a genuine issue of 

material fact. Id. at 324. Issues of fact are 

"genuine only if a reasonable jury, considering the 

evidence present, could find for the nonmoving 

party," and a fact is "material" if it may affect the 

outcome of the suit under governing law. 

Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242,

248-49, 106 S. Ct. 2.505, 91 L. Ed. 2d 202 (1986).

In determining whether a genuine issue of material

fact exists, the cou11 must consider all the

evidence in the light most favorable to the

nonmoving party. Celotex, 477 U.S. at 323. 

However, a party cannot defeat summary 

judgment by relying upon conclusory allegations. 

See Hill v. Oil Dri Corp. of Ga., 198 F. App'x 852,

858 (11th Cir. 2006). 
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The standard of review for cross-motions for 

summary judgment does not differ from the 

standard applied when only one party files a 

motion, but simply requires a determination of 

whether either of the parties deserves judgment as 

a matter of law on the facts that are not disputed. 

Am. Bankers Ins. Grp. v. United States, 408 F.3d 

1328, 1331 (11th Cir. 2005). The Court must 

consider each motion on its own merits, resolving 

all reasonable inferences against the party whose 

motion is under consideration. Id. The Eleventh 

Circuit has explained that "[c]ross-motions for 

summary judgment will not, in themselves, 

warrant the com1 in granting summary judgment 

unless one of the parties is entitled to judgment as 

a matter of law on facts that are not genuinely 

disputed." United States v. Oakley, 744 F.2d 1553, 

1555 (11th Cir. 1984) (quoting Bricklayers Int'/ 

11 Union, * 11 Local 15 v. Stuart Plastering Co., 512 

F.2d JO I 7 (5th Cir. 1975)). Cross-motions may,

however, be probative of the absence of a factual 

dispute where they reflect general agreement by 

the parties as to the controlling legal theories and 

material facts. Id. at 1555-56. 

III. DISCUSSION

The FLSA states that, except as otherwise 

provided, 

[N]o employer shall employ any of his

employees who in any workweek is 

engaged in commerce ... or is employed 

in an enterprise engaged in commerce ... 

for a workweek longer than forty hours 

unless such employee receives 

compensation for his employment in 

excess of the hours above specified at a 

rate not less than one and one-half times 

the regular rate at which he is employed. 

29 U.S.C. § 207(a)(I). Time and a half overtime 

pay is the presumed amount to which workers are 

entitled as overtime pay. Fa/ken v. Glynn Cty., 

Ga., 197 F.3d 1 341, 1345 (11th Cir. 1999). 

A. Plaintiffs Evidence

"' casetext 

Defendants argue that the Com1 should not 

consider the evidence Plaintiff submits in support 

of his Motion for Summary Judgment because it is 

not authenticated and is not self-authenticating. 

Doc. 210 at 2-4; Doc. 211 at 1-4. Defendants, 

apparently, did not realize that a 2010 amendment 

to the Rule 56(c) allows parties to submit evidence 

that can be presented in an admissible form at 

trial, and requires the opposing party to object to 

the evidence on the basis that it "cannot be 

presented in a form that would be admissible in 

evidence." Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(2). 

Federal Ruic of Civil Procedure 56(c)(I) directs 

that a party must support its assertion that a fact 

cannot be genuinely disputed by "citing to 

particular parts of materials in the record, 

including depositions, documents, electronically 

stored information, affidavits or declarations, 

stipulations (including those made for purposes of 

the motion only), admissions, interrogatory 

answers, or other materials." This may be objected 

to by the other party on the basis that "a fact 

cannot be presented in a form that would be 

admissible in evidence." Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(2). 

12 * 12 The practice commentary to Rule 56 explains 

that "parties who want the court to consider 

documentary evidence must be sure to include it in 

the record and to make sure that it is properly 

authenticated (usually by affidavit) and otherwise 

admissible." Fed. R. Civ. P. 56, Rules and 

Commentary (citing Woods v. City of Chi., 234 

F.3d 979, 988 (7th Cir. 2000)). The commenta1y

further explains that the party submitting 

documents that are not self-authenticating may 

"meet the authentication requirement by attaching 

the documents to an affidavit of a witness who can 

authenticate them," Federal Rule of Civil 

Procedure 56, Rules and Commentary (citations 

omitted), or "through deposition testimony," id. 

99 

Prior to 2010, a party was required to authenticate 

documents for them to be considered in support of 

summary judgment. However, Rule 56 was 

amended in 20 IO so that authentication is no 

longer required until an objection is raised that the 
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evidence cannot be submitted in an admissible 

form. Abbott v. Elwood Staffing Servs., Inc., 44 F. 

Supp. 3d I 125, l 134 (N.D. Ala. 2014) (quoting 

Foreword Magazine, Inc. v. OverDrive, Inc., No. 

I:IO-cv-1144, 2011 WL 5169384, at *2 (Oct. 31, 

2011)). The advisory committee explained the 

amendment, stating that such an "objection 

functions much as an objection at trial, adjusted 

for the pretrial setting," and that "[t]he burden is 

on the proponent to show that the material is 

admissible as presented or to explain the 

admissible form that is anticipated." Fed. R. Civ. 

P. 56, Advisory Comm. Notes.

Here, Defendants do not raise a sufficient 

objection to the documentary evidence submitted 

by Plaintiff to support his Motion for Summary 

Judgment because they do not argue, as Rule 56 

requires an objection to do, that the evidence 

1 :l "cannot be presented in a form that would be • 13 

admissible evidence." Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(2). 

Accordingly, the Court will consider the 

documents provided by Plaintiff to support his 

Motion for Summary Judgment. 2

2 Plaintiff responds that his evidence will be

admissible at trial because Defendants 

produced the documents and emails and 

created the website whose pages Plaintiff 

relies on. Doc. 22, p. 7-8. 

B. Single Enterprise

To establish that two entities are a single 

enterprise, a plaintiff must demonstrate: ( 1) related 

activities; (2) unified operation or common 

control; and (3) a common business purpose. 

Donovan v. Easton Land & Dev. Co., 723 F.2d 

1549, 1551 (11th Cir. 1984). Because the FLSA is 

to be construed liberally, Dunlop v. Ashy, 555 F.2d 

I 228, I 234 (5th Cir. 1977), the Court must 

construe the definition of "enterprise" liberally, 

Wi1/iams v. Johnny Kynard Logging, Inc., No. 

2:l l-CV-2138-VEH, 2013 WL 2107658, at *6 

(N.D. Ala. May 10, 2013). Whether two entities 

constitute an enterprise is a question of law for the 

court to decide. Cabral v. Lakes Cafe Sports Bar 

·%, casetext

& Grill, Inc., No. 09-21128-CIV, 2010 WL 

1372457, at *3 (S.D. Fla. Mar. 31, 2010) (citing 

Tafalla v. All Fla. Dialysis Serv., Inc., No. 07-

80396, 2009 WL 151159, at *9 (S.D. Fla. Jan. 21, 

2009)). 

However, establishing that two entities are a single 

enterprise does not establish that both are 

potentially liable. Patel v. Wargo, 803 f.2d 632, 

636 (11th Cir. 1986). Instead, whether entities are 

a single enterprise is relevant to determining 

coverage under the FLSA. Id. at 635. To establish 

liability for two entities, the plaintiff must show 

that there is a joint employer relationship. Id. 

("There is no suggestion in the language of the 

[FLSA] that an employer is responsible to other 

employers' employees, unless of course there is a 

joint employer relationship."). 

Here, WP USA does not contest whether it is a 

covered employer under the FLSA. Doc. 210 at 6. 

Because whether WP Florida and WP USA are a 

14 single enterprise is not determinative ''' 14 of 

liability, the issue on which Plaintiff seeks 

summary judgment, the Court need not address 

whether Defendants are a single enterprise. Id. 

100 

C. Joint Employer

"The overtime wage provisions of the FLSA apply 

only to workers who are 'employees' within the 

meaning of the Act." Tafal/a v. All Fla. Dialysis 

Servs., Inc., No. 07-80396-CJV, 2009 WL 151159, 

at *5 (S.D. Fla. Jan. 21, 2009) (quoting 29 U.S.C. 

§ 206(a)( I)). An employee is defined by the FLSA

as an "individual employed by an employer." 29

U.S.C. § 203(c)(1 ). An employer includes "any

person acting directly or indirectly in the interest

of an employer in relation to an employee." Id. §

203(d).

"A joint employer relationship can be found where 

'one employer[,] while contracting in good faith 

with an othe1wise independent company, has 

retained for itself sufficient control of the terms 

and conditions of employment of the employees 

who arc employed by the other employer.' " 

7 
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E.E.O.C. v. Papin Enters., 6:07-cv-1548-Orl­

l 7GJK, 2009 WL 961108, at *8 (M.D. Fla. Apr. 7, 

2009) (quoting Virgo v. Riviera Beach Assocs., 30 

FJd 1350, 1360 (11th Cir. 1994)). In determining 

whether entities are joint employers, a court 

"focus[es] on the entities' relationships to a given 

employee or class of employees." Peppers v. Cobb 

Cty., Ga., 835 F.3d 1289, 1300 (11th Cir. 2016) 

(quoting Sandoval v. City of Boulder, Colo., 388 

F.3d 1312, 1324 (10th Cir. 2004)) . "A

determination of joint employment status under 

the FLSA is a question of law." Tafalla, 2009 WL 

151159, at *5 (citingAntenor v. D&S Farms, 88 

F.3d925,929(l l th Cir. 1996).

In Patel v. Wargo, 803 F.2d al 634, the Eleventh 

Circuit has explained that whether defendants are 

"employers within the meaning of [the FLSA] is a 

legal determination," but that "the individual 

findings of fact which led to that legal 

determination [are] examined under the clearly 

erroneous standard." The Eleventh Circuit 

1 s recognized that prior law "wavered" as to * 15 

whether joint employment status was a legal or 

factual issue. Id. at 634 n. l .  The Court stated, 

however, that "[t]he weight of authority in other 

circuits support [its] characterization of the 

question as one of law, with the subsidiary 

findings being issues of fact." Id. The Eleventh 

Circuit later explained that in reviewing a 

summary judgment motion in favor of the 

defendant on the issue of joint employment the 

Court "must determine whether there are genuine 

issues of material fact and, if not, whether the 

[defendants] were entitled to judgment on the 

question of joint employment as a matter of law." 

Antenor v. D&S Farms, 88 F. 3d 925, 929 (11th 

Cir. 1996). 

Where issues of fact exist within the employment 

inquiry, this Court has taken different approaches. 

For example, in Schumann v. Collier Anesthesia, 

P.A., No. 2: 12-cv-347-FtM-29CM, 2017 WL

1207263, at *2-3 (M.D. Fla. Apr. 3, 2017), the 

Court denied a motion for summary judgment as 

to joint employer status because of issues of fact 

✓- casetext 

on the matter and concluded that in such 

circumstances "employment status becomes a 

mixed issue of law and fact to be resolved by a 

jury, assuming one has been properly demanded .. 

. .  " Id. By contrast, in Vondriska v. Cugno, No. 

8:07-cv-l 322-T-24TGW, 2010 WL 3245426, at *2 

(M.D. Fla. Aug. 17, 2010), the Court, on remand, 

denied the parties' motions for summary judgment 

because issues of material fact existed as to the 

issue of whether the defendant employed the 

plaintiff, and conducted a bifurcated bench trial on 

the issue. There, the Court stated that " 

[ c ]on trolling Eleventh Circuit precedent mandates 

that the issue of whether the defendant is an 

employer is a question of law, 'with the subsidiary 

findings being issues of fact.' " Id. The Court 

concluded that those issues of fact would be 

resolved by a "miniature bench trial." Id. 

In determining whether a joint employment 

relationship exists, a court looks to the "economic 

reality" of the relationship between the plaintiff 

and the alleged employer "to determine whether 

the surrounding circumstances show that the 

I 6 plaintiff is economically dependent on the • 111 

putative employer." Id. (citing Goldberg v. 

Whitaker House Co-op., Inc., 366 U.S. 28, 33 

(1961)). The following factors have been 

identified by the Eleventh Circuit as relevant to 

the determination of whether an employee is 

economically dependent on, and employed by, 

another entity: (1) the nature and degree of control 

of the alleged joint employer over the employee; 

(2) the degree of supervision over work, either

direct or indirect; (3) the right to hire, fire, or

modify the employment conditions; (4) the power

to dete1mine the workers' pay or method of

payment; (5) the preparation of payroll and

payment of wages; (6) the ownership of facilities

where the work occurred; (7) the performance of a

job integral to the business, and (8) the relative

investment in the equipment and facilities. Id.

(citing Antenor v. D&S Farms, 88 F.3d 925, 929

101 
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(11th Cir. 1996)). These factors are weighted 

collectively and qualitatively. Id. (citing Antenor, 

88 F.3d at 929). 

1. Nature and Degree of Control

"For purposes of analyzing the nature and degree 

of a purported joint employer's control over an 

alleged employee, courts have held that '[ c ]ontrol 

arises . .. when the [purported joint employer] 

goes beyond general instructions ... and begins to 

assign specific tasks, to assign workers, or to take 

an overly active role in the oversight of the work.' 

"Molina v. Hentech, LLC, No. 6:13-cv- l l l l-Orl-

22KRS, 2015 WL l 242790, <1t *3 (M.D. Fla. Mar. 

18, 2015) (quoting Layton v. DHL Express (USA), 

Inc., 686 F.3d I 172, 1178 (11th Cir. 2012)). "A 

purported employer takes an overly active role in 

the oversight of work 'when it decides such things 

as (1) for whom and how many employees to hire; 

(2) how to design the employees' management

structure; (3) when work begins each day; (4)

when the laborers shall start and stop their work

throughout the day; and (5) whether a laborer

should be disciplined or retained.' " Id. (quoting

Layton, 686 F.3d at 1178). To demonstrate such

control, the plaintiff must "reference[] specific

instances where the control allegedly occurred."

17 Id. ( citing Layton, 686 F.3d at 1178). * 17 

In support of this factor, Plaintiff cites to a 

document describing WP USA's payroll process, 

sent from Sharon Tolopka, WP USA's Director of 

Payroll and Human Relations Systems, to its Chief 

Accounting Officer, Judith Craigo, which states 

that WP USA employs 2800 people. Doc. 197-33 

at 77:1-4; Doc. 197-35 at 3. The document 

indicates that all divisions are on the same pay 

period, pay employees on the same date, and that 

WP USA requires direct deposit. Id. 

The document also states that Department 

Managers and Division Managers have access to 

the timekeeping system to make necessa1y 

adjustments and that each employee is required to 

approve his or her own time. Id. Additionally, 

individual divisions' payroll administrators or 

�- · casetext 

office managers have access to the systems and 

complete day-to-day activities. Id. With respect to 

time sheets, after they are signed by employees, 

Department Managers approve the time sheets and 

add any discretionary bonuses. Id. at 4. The HR 

administrator makes any required changes with 

department manager's approval. Id. Once labor 

hours are approved, the HR administrator for the 

division notifies corporate payroll. Id. Once all 

division approvals are received, the Corporate 

Payroll Department checks for missing 

documents, runs and reviews a detailed report. Id. 

Corporate HR reviews the amounts for 

reasonableness, makes any necessary changes, and 

payroll is generated once approved by Corporate 

Payroll. Id. The gross amount of payroll 1s 

withdrawn from WP USA's account. Id. at 5. 

However, the payroll process document indicates 

that, although applicants apply online through WP 

USA's webpage, "[e]ach division is responsible 

for its own hiring." Id. at 3. More specifically, the 

division or department manager approves new 

hires after an interview, drug test, and background 

check. Id. With respect to termination, the 

document states that a form is completed by the 

department manager and submitted to the payroll 

administrator. Id. at 7. The HR administrator or 

office administrator enters the termination date 

I� and changes the employee's ,, 18 status to 

terminated. Id. WP USA recommends an exit 

conference or checklist be completed or signed by 

both the employee and the employer. Id. 

102 

This is the only evidence Plaintiff cites m his 

Motion for Summary Judgment regarding this 

factor, and Plaintiff contends that it left "no doubt 

that WP USA controls all aspects of Plaintiff's and 

Opt-In Plaintiffs' employment." Doc. 197 at 39 

(emphasis in original). This evidence, however, 

does not demonstrate that WP USA takes an active 

role in Plaintiff's or other Helpers' work, such as 

how many employees to hire, when work begins 

each day, when work stops each day, or whether 

workers should be disciplined or retained. Molina, 

2015 WL 1242790 at*3 (quoting Layton, 6116 F.3d 
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al 1178). Indeed, the document demonstrates the 

opposite regarding decisions on whether to hire 

and fire workers. 

Plaintiff relies on additional evidence in his 

Response to WP USA's Motion for Summary 

Judgment.3 He cites to the WP USA Employee 

Handbook as evidence that all employees are 

offered the same benefits and sick day structure, 

and that WP USA maintains a centralized accrual 

system for vacation requests. Doc. 206-13 at 29, 

60-61. Additionally, Plaintiff notes that, pursuant

to the payroll document, Corporate HR reviews a 

report of new hires each pay period. Doc. 197-35 

at 3. However, the document does not state that 

the hiring process is overseen or approved by 

Corporate HR. 

3 Plaintiff relies on evidence that WP USA 

creates the job description for the Helper 

position. Doc. 206 al 7-8. However, in the 

citation provided by Plaintiff, the deponent 

testified that he does not know who created 

the document referred to in his deposition. 

Doc. 206-1 at 154:8-9. 

Further, Plaintiff executed a declaration in which 

he states that he is employed by both Defendants 

and that it has been clear during his employment 

that he works for WP USA, which hired him and 

set up his interview. Doc. 206-14 ,r,rJ-3. He states 

that he was sent to a WP USA location, where he 

was hired, and he was provided numerous 

J 9 documents that bore the WP USA • 19 name, 

including training materials of WP USA. Id. ,r,r 4-

5, 8. He also states the he received a WP USA 

employee identification number, the garbage 

trucks display the WP USA logo, and the 

timekeeping system he uses and any payroll issues 

are handled by WP USA. Id. ,r,r 6-7, 9, 12. 

Plaintiff indicates that he is advised of policy 

changes by WP USA newsletters and other 

documents. Id. ,r 13. Plaintiff further states that he 

was disciplined on two occasions for missing a 

day and insubordination and received a 

progressive disciplinary form from WP USA 

< . casetext 

when that happened. Id. ,r 14. Plaintiffs 

understanding is that WP USA has the power to 

fire him. Id. ,r 15. 

Other helpers executed substantially similar 

declarations, although they contain different facts 

regarding discipline or termination. Docs. 206-15, 

206-16, 206-17. For example, Israel Baptiste

states that he contacted WP USA when he was 

fired, which advised it would investigate the 

circumstances surrounding his termination.4 Doc. 

206-15. Marco Coates states that he was

suspended for leaving one day for personal 

reasons and received a progressive disciplinary 

form from WP USA. Doc. 206-16. 

4 Opt-In Plaintiff Israel Jean Baptiste has 

been terminated from this litigation as his 

claims against Defendants are time-barred. 

WP USA relies on various declarations in support 

of its Motion for Summary Judgment, which 

Plaintiff argues do not weigh against this factor 

because, although the declarations indicate that the 

various regions have the power to hire, fire, train, 

and create policies for the Helpers within their 

divisions or regions, the declarations and other 

evidence do not demonstrate that the subsidiaries 

actually deviated from WP USA's policies. WP 

USA relies on declarations by the Regional Vice 

President of WP Louisiana (Doc. 185-1), a 

Divisional Vice President of WP Georgia (Doc. 

185-2), a Divisional Vice President of WP North

Carolina (Doc. 185-3), and Divisional Vice

President for WP Alabama. (Doc. 185-4). Randall

20 J. Waterland, the Regional •20 Vice President for 

WP Louisiana states that he acts as the CEO for 

his region, with full authority to make all 

decisions, including staffing, training, 

compensation, and purchasing and maintaining 

equipment. Doc. 185-1 ,r I. WP Louisiana has 

multiple divisions, and the division managers 

decide whether to hire and fire Helpers, and also 

determine their pay. Id. ,r,r 4-5, 9. The divisions 

make decisions regarding routes and, based on the 

route needs, how many days Helpers work, the 
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hours worked, and the routes worked. Id. ii 8. 

Additionally, performance evaluations and criteria 

are detennined by the division managers. Id. � l l .  

Waterland indicates that WP USA's only role is to 

provide guidance and ensure that payroll records 

are timely submitted. Id. �� I 0, 12. The 

declarations by the divisional vice presidents 

include similar statements regarding their 

autonomy within their divisions. See generally 

Docs. I 85-2, 185-3, I 85-4. 

Notwithstanding the declarations, Plaintiff 

contends that the various divisions follow the so­

called recommended policies without altering 

them. Doc. 206 at 8-10. Generally, Plaintiff argues 

that the declarations are immaterial because WP 

USA does not show that any of the regions or 

divisions actually vary from the WP USA 

handbook or guidelines. For example, Plaintiff 

argues all subsidiaries use central corporate 

documents as the foundation of their training 

without material variations. To support this, 

Plaintiff cites to Banasiak's deposition testimony 

that the starting point of the regions' training 

documents comes from WP USA's intranet. Doc. 

206-1 at 147:2-7. With respect to differences,

Banasiak testified that the actual training would be

different because it was done by different people

who might show different examples, or train in a

different order, or have items in the classroom that

others did not have. Id. at 146:15-19.

Plaintiff also contends that the WP USA 

Employee Handbook provides the guidelines for 

all aspects of Helpers' employment, including 

rules, compensation, benefits, timekeeping, and 

attendance policies. The Handbook includes a 

progressive disciplinary policy that Plaintiff 

21 asserts *21 Banasiak admitted is consistent with a 

form used by WP Florida without modification. 

Doc. 206-1 at 134:12-135:9. In fact, Banasiak 

testified that although the form originated from the 

WP USA intranet, he believed that the one 

currently used in his region was different. Id. at 

135:2-9. Nonetheless, Plaintiff also asserts that 

WP USA controls termination because it provides 

* casetext

the termination process in the handbook and 

payroll document. Doc. 206 at I 0. This evidence, 

however, does not indicate that WP USA is 

involved in the actual termination decision, or 

controls that decision. Layton, 686 F.3d at 1178 

(stating that control arose when the purported 

employer actively took a roll in oversight, 

including by deciding whether the employee 

should be disciplined). Instead, it is simply general 

policy information. 

Additionally, Plaintiff maintains that WP USA 

controls evaluations, raises, and termination. Doc. 

206 at I 0. Plaintiff relies on the payroll document, 

which states that employee evaluations should 

occur on the employee's anniversary date or a 

designated common review date. Doc. 197-35 at 5. 

The document does not indicate that WP USA 

performs the evaluations. Similarly, Plaintiffs 

reliance on the statement in the document that an 

employee's raise must be entered into the ADP 

Vantage program and submitted for electronic 

approval is not demonstrative of this factor 

because nothing indicates that WP USA exercised 

oversight of this decision. Instead, the payroll 

document states that raises are recommended by 

division managers and approved by a Regional 

Vice President. Id. Thus, they are controlled by the 

subsidiary and not WP USA. 

In Braden v. County of Washington, No. 08-574, 

2010 WL 1664895, at *7 (W.D. Penn. Apr. 23, 

2010), the Pennsylvania district court rejected a 

plaintiffs argument, analogous to the argument 

made here, regarding an alleged employer's joint 

employment where the plaintiff relied primarily on 

the defendant's "involvement in payroll and 

benefits administration, the [ d]efendant's presence 

during the hiring process, the fact that 

22 ( d]efendant's HR provided support to court- �22 

related·1 employees, that [the plaintiffs undisputed 

104 

employer] followed or adopted certain ... policies 

[of the alleged joint employer], and ... that [the 

alleged joint employer] recommended that [the 

p ]laintiff be suspended, written up, and fired." 

(internal footnote omitted). The plaintiff in that 
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case relied on these factors to demonstrate that the 

alleged joint employer had "control over the 

employee's daily activities and working conditions 

. . . . " Id. at *6. The district court concluded that 

there was no evidence that the alleged joint 

employer had direct or indirect control over the 

plaintiffs work schedule or working conditions, 

that the evidence demonstrated that the alleged 

joint employer approved, rather than determined, 

the rate and method of the plaintiff's 

compensation, and the evidence did not show that 

the alleged joint employer had the power to 

determine, or take action to hire or fire her. Id. at 

*7. Additionally, the alleged joint employer did

not give the plaintiff work assignments. Id. The

Braden court was not persuaded by the plaintiff

being told and believing that she was an employee

of the alleged joint employer because "[j]oint

employer status . . . does not tum on the

perceptions of the employee" and the human

resources support was more "akin to an

administrative function" rather than "an exercise

of the requisite control." Id.

5 The plaintiff worked for the Domestic

Relations Section ("DRS") of a county 

court. Braden, 2010 WL 1664895, at *I. 

Although the instant case differs slightly from 

Braden because there is evidence that Plaintiffs 

supervisors report to Jennings, who was also 

involved in WP USA, that consideration falls 

more properly under the next factor. As in Braden, 

although WP USA is involved in general policies 

and oversight of payroll, no evidence shows that 

WP USA takes an active role in Helpers' 

schedules, specific route assignments, or training. 

Accordingly, no genuine issue of material fact 

exists as to this factor. Instead, the evidence 

indicates that WP USA does not take an active 

23 role *2.3 in oversight of Helpers' work. See also 

Spears v. Choctaw County Commission, No. 07-

0275-CG-M, 2009 WL 2365188 (S.D. Ala. July 

30, 2009) (County Commission was not a joint 

employer where sheriff decided who to hire and 

-,,, casetext 

fire, who to assign specific tasks to, assigned 

schedules, and resolved issues regarding 

discipline.) . 

Here, even if WP USA had broad authority 

regarding policies and budget, the undisputed 

evidence shows that supervisory and control 

matters were left to individual regions and 

divisions. The undisputed evidence pertaining to 

this factor suggests that WP USA is not a joint 

employer. 

2. Degree of Supervision over Work

"Supervision can be present regardless of whether 

orders are communicated directly to the alleged 

employee or indirectly through the contractor." 

Layton, 686 F.3d at 1178-79 (citing Aimable v. 

Long & Scott Farms, 20 F.3d 434,441 (!Ith Cir. 

1994)). "(l]nfrequent assertions of minimal 

oversight do not constitute the requisite degree of 

supervision." Id. (citing Martinez-Mendoza v.

Champion Intern. Corp., 340 F.3d 1200, 1211 

(l l th Cir. 2003)).

With respect to this factor, Plaintiff asserts in his 

Motion for Summary Judgment, and in his 

Response to WP USA's Motion for Summary 

Judgment, that WP USA has significant 

supervision over the work performed at its 

subsidiaries and in its regions. Specifically, 

Jennings, the chairman of the board of WP USA, 

communicates with the Regional Vice Presidents 

regularly regarding business matters, frequently 

visits subsidiaries to check on the status of the 

regions and monitor work, and creates the 

policies, procedures, and work rules for Helpers 

across all regions. Doc. 197 at 39. 

With respect to meetings between Regional Vice 

Presidents and Jennings, the evidence Plaintiff 

cites shows that Mills, a Regional Vice President, 

met with Jennings when he was hired (Doc. 197-

26 at I 8: 12-17), Jennings meets with Regional 

24 Vice Presidents approximately three ''24 times per 

year (Doc. 197-27 at 23:1-4), and the director of 

HR visits the divisions on a quarterly basis to 

105 
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review accidents and workers' compensation 

claims with the division managers (Doc. 197-10 at 

31 :8-32:9). Also, the director of HR created a 

handbook that can be used by the subsidiaries if 

they chose to use it. Id. at 93:3-94:25. 

Additionally, Plaintiff relies on his and other 

Helpers' declarations which indicate that WP USA 

maintains the timekeeping system and provides 

monthly newsletters, bulletins, and policy changes 

or corporate mandates. Doc. 206-14 ,i,i 7, 14; Doc. 

206-15 iJil 6, 12; Doc. 206-16 iJ 6; Doc. 206-15 ,ii[

6, 12.

None of this evidence demonstrates that WP USA 

supervises Plaintiffs or Helpers' work. Instead, it 

demonstrates that WP USA is involved in some 

capacity in overseeing management and reviewing 

safety and claims against the subsidiaries. 

Whether an entity is a joint employer "is 

detennined by focusing on the entities' 

relationships to a given employee or class of 

employees. The joint employer relationship, in 

other words, is employee-specific." Peppers, 835 

FJd at 1300. Plaintiff fails to tie his evidence 

regarding supervision to himself or Helpers as a 

class. Accordingly, the undisputed evidence 

related to this factor suggests that WP USA is not 

a joint employer. 

3. Right to Hire, Fire, or Modify Employment

Conditions 

Plaintiff argues that WP USA's Chief Executive 

Officer and/or Board of Directors hire and fire the 

Regional Vice Presidents who oversee WP USAs 

regions. Doc. 197 at 39. With respect to this 

assertion, because the inquiry is specific to the 

employee in question, or class of employees, this 

assertion is not relevant. Peppers, 835 F.3d at 

1300. 

Plaintiff also relies on a statement in the employee 

handbook that "[n]o supervisor or member of 

management, except John Jennings (President & 

25 CEO), has the authority to bind the "25 company 

to any employment contract for any specified 

·% casetext
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period of time with any employee, either verbally 

or in writing." Doc. 197-41 at 14. Additionally, 

Plaintiff generally relies on the handbook, which 

Plaintiff argues sets uniform workplace rules and 

policies that Helpers are required to follow and 

which advises that the violation of the policies and 

procedures would subject employees to 

disciplinary action, including termination. Doc. 

197 at 40. However, evidence demonstrates that 

the regions were free to accept the handbook if 

they chose to, and change it if they chose to. Doc. 

197-10 at 94:23-25; Doc. 206-1 at 119:3-13.

Plaintiff also submits his and other Helpers' 

declarations stating that they were hired by WP 

USA and that it is their understanding that if 

anyone at WP USA is unhappy with their work, 

WP USA has the power to fire or discipline them. 

Docs. 206-14, 206-15, 206-16, 206-17. On the 

other hand, WP USA submitted declarations 

providing that division managers control decisions 

regarding hiring and firing. Doc. 185-1, 185-2, 

185-3, 185-4. Plaintiffs and Opt-In Plaintiffs'

declarations conflict with the declarations

submitted by WP USA regarding whether WP

USA had the authority to hire, fire or discipline

Helpers. Thus, a genuine dispute of fact exists

with regard to this factor.

4. Power to Determine Workers' Pay or

Method of Payment 

Plaintiff relies on evidence that WP USA 

recommended use of the day rate and explained 

how it works. Doc. 197-42; Doc. 206-1 at 107:9-

19. Nonetheless, the evidence Plaintiff submits

also shows that some Helpers are paid on an

hourly basis, and not through the day rate,

supporting Defendants' assertion that WP USA

does not mandate pay method. Doc. 197-4.

Plaintiff also relies on evidence that all

subsidiaries used the half day rate. Doc. 197-13;

Doc. 197-14; Doc. 206-1 at 125:14-21.

Additionally, Plaintiff cites to evidence that WP

USA employees, including Jennings, are actively

involved in bonus decisions and pay adjustments

13 
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26 for employees. *26 Nonetheless, even that 

evidence demonstrates that, although Jennings was 

aware of such decisions , the decisions are made by 

the regional vice president. Doc. 206-21. 

Evidence also demonstrates that with respect to 

specific pay rates and methods, division managers 

make such decisions. Doc. 123-6 ,r 12; Doc. 206-1 

at 181 :2-23. Decisions regarding whether to pay 

safety bonuses are made by region and division. 

Doc. 185-5 at 8. 

The evidence demonstrates that although WP USA 

makes recommendations and provides 

explanations-essentially, support-regarding 

how to pay Plaintiff and Helpers, no evidence 

shows that WP USA makes specific, individual 

decisions, or mandates a specific amount of pay or 

method of payment. Accordingly, the undisputed 

evidence related to this factor suggests that WP 

USA is not a joint employer. 

5. Preparation of Payroll and Payment of

Wages 

This factor weighs in favor of a finding that WP 

USA jointly employs Plaintiff and other Helpers. 

Although WP USA argues, and the evidence is 

undisputed that, individual subsidiaries prepare 

the payroll and pay wages, substantial other 

evidence shows that the process is managed by 

WP USA. Doc. 197-35 at 3. Additionally, WP 

USA maintains the health insurance and 401 (k) 

plans of all employees. 206: 108: 18-20. The gross 

amount of the withdrawal is taken from WP 

USA's operating account. Id. at 5. However, the 

subsidiaries employ human resources employees 

who handle payroll at a more local level. Id. at 4; 

see also Doc. 185-1 ,i 12. Accordingly, undisputed 

evidence demonstrates that WP USA is involved 

in preparation of payroll and payment of wages 

and this factor suggests that WP USA is a joint 

employer. 

6. Ownership of Facilities

<$>. casetext 

With respect to this factor, Plaintiff argues that 

WP USA owns 100% of its subsidiaries and is the 

only shareholder. Doc. 197-25; Doc. 197-27 at 

27 15: 1-9. Additionally, Plaintiff relies on *17

evidence that Jennings publicized that he secured 

a $715 million recapitalization and $500 million 

senior note offering, for which he used WP USA 

subsidiaries' assets as collateral. Doc. 197-27 at 

49:24-52:9. Plaintiff further argues that this factor 

weighs in favor of joint employment because 

Jennings directs the subsidiaries as part of a full 

service, vertically integrated waste management 

company. Id. at 7:7-9; Doc. 206-7. In addition, 

WP USA maintains vehicle records. Doc. 206-1 at 

73:23-74:4. 

107 

Defendant's declarations provide that the facilities 

used by the various subsidiaries are owned or 

leased by the subsidiaries. Doc. 185-1 ,i 13, Doc. 

185-2 ,r 13, Doc. 185-3 ,r 12, Doc. 185-4 ii 13. The

subsidiaries likewise own the trucks used by

Helpers. Doc. 206-1 at 128:23-129:3.

The evidence Defendants submit is more reflective 

of ownership of facilities and equipment used by 

Plaintiff and Helpers to perform their jobs. 

Plaintiff does not provide any evidence that the 

facilities and equipment are actually owned by 

WP USA, only that WP USA owns the 

subsidiaries, and therefore is the ultimate owner of 

these assets. Plaintiff cites to no law indicating 

that the Court should ignore corporate structures 

in determining ownership. Accordingly, the 

undisputed evidence related to this factor weighs 

in favor of a conclusion that WP USA is not an 

employer of Plaintiff or Helpers. 

7. Performance of Job Integral to Business

"A task or activity is considered 'integral' to an 

employer's business when that employer 'would be 

virtually certain to assure that the function is 

performed, and would obtain the services of 

whatever workers are needed for this function." 

Martinez-Mendoza, 340 F.3d at 121:,. 

14 
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Plaintiff contends that WP USA is in the trash 

removal business and Plaintiff and other Helpers 

are integral to that business because they are 

28 responsible for assisting in picking up *28 

garbage, yard waste, and recycling. Doc. 197-2; 

Doc. 206-1 at 30:23-31:l. Regarding evidence of 

WP USA being in the trash removal business, 

Plaintiff cites to evidence that WP USA advertises 

itself as such on its webpage. Doc. 197-24. 

WP USA argues that this factor is not relevant, 

citing to Hankerson v. Fort Lauderdale Scrop, 

Inc., No. 15-60785-CIV, 2016 WL 7508242, at *3 

(S.D. Fla. Sept. 8, 2016). The court in Hankerson 

cites to no authority for its position that this factor 

is relevant only when one employer contracted 

with another entity. As pointed out by Plaintiff, 

other courts in the Eleventh Circuit have analyzed 

this factor. Accordingly, the Court will consider 

this factor in weighing all factors. 

A review of the record shows that during his 

deposition, Banasiak testified that it would not be 

fair to say that WP USA is "a company that 

handle[s] waste and recycling for residential and 

business companies," because it does not have any 

trucks or resources, such as employees, for the 

collection of waste. Doc. 206-1 at 18:25-19:14. 

This conflicts with the evidence presented by 

Plaintiff that WP USA holds itself out as a waste 

removal company. Doc. 206-7. Accordingly, 

disputed facts exist with respect to this factor. 

8. Investment in Equipment and Facilities

"This factor informs [the court's] inquiry because 

workers are more likely to be economically 

dependent on the person who supplies the 

equipment or facilities." Garcia-Celestino v. 

Consol. Citrus Ltd. P'ship, No. 2: 10 C 542-MEA­

DNF, 2015 WL 3440351, at *23 (M.D. Fla. May 

28, 2015) (internal quotation omitted), ajj'd in 

part, rev'd in part on other grounds, 842 F.3d 

1276 (11th Cir. 2016). 

casetext 

Plaintiff cites to evidence that WP USA provides 

the capital to purchase equipment. Doc. 197-27 at 

50:21-25; Doc. 197-28 at 2. Defendant cites to 

29 evidence that the facilities and trucks *29 are 

owned or leased by the subsidiaries. Doc. 185-1 ,i 

I 3, Doc. I 85-2 ,i 13, Doc. 185-3 ,i 12, Doc. 185-4 

,i 13; Doc. 206-1 at 128:23-129:3. 
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Here, the undisputed evidence shows that the 

subsidiaries supply the equipment or facilities, but 

that the investment into the equipment or facilities 

may be made by WP USA. Accordingly, this 

factor suggests that WP USA is a joint employer 

of Plaintiff or Helpers. 

9. Assessment of the Factors

Of the eight factors, the undisputed evidence with 

respect to the first, second, fourth, and sixth (the 

nature and degree of control, the degree of 

supervision, the power to determine pay, and 

ownership of the facilities), weigh in favor of a 

finding that WP USA is not a joint employer. The 

fifth and eighth factors (preparation of payroll and 

payment of wages, and investment in equipment 

and facilities), weigh in favor of a finding that WP 

USA is a joint employer. The remaining two 

factors (the right to hire, fire or modify 

employment conditions, and performance of a job 

integral to the business), have disputed facts and 

cannot assist the Court for purposes of summary 

judgment. 

No one factor in this analysis is dispositive. 

Martinez-Mendoza, 340 F.Jd at 1209. Instead, " 

[i]n entertaining and assessing the evidence

relevant to the inquiry called for by a given factor,

the question the district court must ask itself is

whether such evidence, considered as a whole,

supports (or fails to support) the [plaintiff's] claim

that he is economically dependent on the putative

employer .... " Id. Ultimately, "[t]he facts the 

court finds at the end of each inquiry become 

pieces of circumstantial evidence which, together, 

yield inferentially one of two ultimate facts: joint 

employment exists or it does not." Id. The burden 

Massachusetts Appeals Court      Case: 2021-P-0301      Filed: 5/13/2021 12:21 PM



Thomas v Waste Pro USA, Inc, Case 1,10 8:17-cv-2254-T-36CPT (M.O Fla. Sep.30.2019) 

of proof falls on the plaintiff to establish joint 

employment by a preponderance of the evidence. 

30 Id. *30 

31 

Based on the above, the Court cannot detem1ine at 

this stage whether WP USA is a joint employer of 

Plaintiff or other Helpers. Resolution of the 

remaining factors, for which the evidence is 

conflicting, is critical to the Court's determination. 

If WP USA does have the right to hire, fire, or 

determine the conditions of Plaintiffs 

employment, this would weigh heavily in favor of 

a conclusion that WP USA is a joint employer. On 

the record before the Court, neither Defendant WP 

USA nor Plaintiff are entitled to judgment, as a 

matter of law, on the question of joint 

employment. Accordingly, WP USA's Motion for 

Summary Judgment (Doc. 185) 1s denied. 

Likewise, Plaintiffs Motion for Summary 

Judgment on the issue of joint employment (Doc. 

197) is denied.

D. Day Rate, Half Day Rate, and Bonuses

Under the FLSA 

The Code of Federal Regulations describes a 

"regular rate " under the FLSA as "a rate per hour." 

29 C.F.R. § 778.109. Section 778.109 explains 

that the FLSA "does not require employers to 

compensate employees on an hourly rate basis," 

and employees' "earnings may be determined on a 

piece-rate, salary, commission, or other basis, but 

in such case the overtime compensation due to 

employees must be computed on the basis of the 

hourly rate derived therefrom and, therefore, it is 

necessary to compute the regular hourly rate of 

such employees during each workweek .... " Id.

To determine an employee's regular hourly rate of 

pay, his or her "total remuneration for employment 

. . . in any workweek" is divided "by the total 

number of hours actually worked by him in that 

workweek for which such compensation was 

paid." Id. Sections of the Code of Federal 

Regulations "give some examples of the proper 

method of determining the regular rate of pay in 

particular instances." Id.

,.-.. casetext 
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One section 778.112, which relates to "day rates 

and job rates," provides as follows: 

If the employee is paid a flat sum for a 

day's work or for doing a particular job, 

without regard to the number of hours 

worked in the day or at the job, and if he 

receives no other form of compensation for 

services, his regular rate is determined by 

totaling all the sums received at such day 

rates or job rates in the workweek and 

dividing by the total hours actually 

worked. He is then entitled to extra half­

time pay at this rate for all hours worked in 

excess of 40 in the workweek. 

Unlike other sections, which permit an employee 

to be paid the hourly rate for overtime hours and

an additional half of the hourly rate for the hours 

in excess of forty during the week, day rate 

employees under section 778.112 receive only half 

of their hourly rate for hours worked in excess of 

forty during the workweek." 

6 The United Slates Court of Appeals for the 

Fifth Circuit previously found this to be a 

permissible interpretation by the Secretary 

of Labor of the FLSA's prescription that 

employees receive one and one-half of 

their regular rate of compensation for hours 

worked in excess of forty per week 

"because each employee is receiving I 00% 

of his regular rate for each hour worked, 

plus and additional one-half of that regular 

rate for each hour in excess of 40 in a week 

.... " Dufrene v. Browning-Ferris, Inc., 

207 F.3d 264, 26X (5th Cir. 2000). Plaintiff 

does nol challenge the Secretary of Labor's 

interpretation in section 778.1 I 2, but 

argues that section 778.112 does not apply. 

WP Florida7 argues that section 778.112 is just an 

example or illustration of how to calculate the 

regular rate and that it does not provide stringent 

parameters for the only instances when overtime 

may be paid at half the regular rate. Doc. 211 at 

16 
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10. WP Florida contends that even if it did not pay

Plaintiff strictly in accordance with section

778.112, because it used a day rate, Plaintiff was 

entitled only to half of his regular rate as a day 

rate worker. Doc. 187 at 9. WP Florida relies on 

Allen v. Board of Public Education for Bibb

County, 495 F.3d 1306 (11th Cir. 2007), in support

of this argument.

7 WP USA's Motion for Summary Judgment 

relates only to the issue of joint 

employment. Doc. 185. However, it filed a 

notice that in the event that the Court 

denied its Motion for Summary Judgment, 

it joined in all grounds for summary 

judgment raised by WP Florida. Doc. 189. 

Accordingly, all references regarding WP 

Florida in the remainder of the Order also 

apply to WP USA. 

In Allen, bus drivers, bus monitors, 

paraprofessionals, secretaries, and custodians filed 

an action alleging violation of the FLSA based on 

an alleged failure to pay the appropriate regular 

32 *.l2 rate. Id. at 1309. With respect to bus drivers, 

they were paid different hourly rates depending on 

the type of route being driven-for example, 

drivers were paid various "regular route" rates 

depending on years of service, $6 per hour for 

field trips, and $7 per hour for all other routes. Id. 

at 13 I 0. The overtime rate was calculated based 

on a weighted rate of pay, calculated by dividing 

the straight-time compensation by the number of 

hours worked. Id. at 1310-11. 

29 C.F.R. § 778.115 provides guidance for 

"employees working at two or more rates." That 

section states, in pertinent part, that "[w]here an 

employee in a single workweek works at two or 

more different types of work for which different 

nonovertime rates of pay . . . have been 

established, his regular rate for that week is the 

weighted average of such rates." 29 C.F.R. § 

778.115 (emphasis added). The bus drivers in 

Allen contended that use of a blended rate was 

permitted only if the employee was engaged in 

two or more different types of work and, because 

·4� casetext

their jobs involved only one type of work, a 

weighted rate could not be employed. 495 F.3d at 

1312-13. 

The Eleventh Circuit rejected the plaintiffs' 

argument, stating that "when viewed in the proper 

context, it is apparent that section 778.115 

contains no" mandate that employees working at 

two or more rates perform different types of work. 

Id. at 1312. In reaching this conclusion, the 

Eleventh Circuit read section 778.115 in 

conjunction with section 778.109's statement that 

the following sections were examples of how to 

determine the regular rate of pay. Id. at 1313. In 

reading sections 778.109 and 778.115 together, the 

Court stated that it became apparent that section 

778.115 was "one of the examples mentioned in 

[ section 778.109) as a way that the regular rate 

may be calculated in certain cases." Id. 

Accordingly, although section 778.11 S 

"exemplifie[d] one way that a regular rate [could] 

be detennined, it [ did] not mandate that different 

rates of pay [were] only permitted when different 

33 types ofwork [were] perfonned." Id. *33 

110 

Here, WP Florida argues that, despite paying half­

day rates and various non-discretionary bonuses, it 

complied with the FLSA because section 778.112, 

pursuant to Allen, is not a mandate. Doc. 187 at 

11. Instead, it is an example of how to calculate

the regular rate under the circumstances when a

day or job rate employee receives no other fonn of

compensation, which does not address--or

preclude-situations where the employee receives

a day or job rate plus other fonns of

compensation. Id. WP Florida contends that its

method of including all day rates, half day rates,

and weekly non-discretionary bonuses in the

remuneration, divided by the hours worked, to

obtain the regular rate is a permissible method of

calculating the regular rate. Id. at 13.

Plaintiff argues that Allen is not applicable 

because the employer paid its employees overtime 

compensation of one and one half times the 

employees' regular rate of pay, whereas here, 

17 
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Plaintiff and other Helpers were paid only half 

time. Doc. 207 at 9-10. Additionally, Plaintiff 

argues that Allen interprets section 778.115, not 

section 778.112. Id. at 10. 

Plaintifrs distinctions regarding Alfen are not 

substantive. Specifically, the Eleventh Circuit in 

Allen explained that all sections that followed 

section 778.109 were examples, not only section 

778.112. Additionally, half time is authorized by 

section 778.112, and Plaintiff does not challenge 

the fact that paying half time is permissible under 

that section. The decision in Allen is instructive as 

to the appropriate interpretation of section 

778.l 12.

In addition to Allen, WP Florida relies on a 1967 

DOL Opinion Letter that addresses employees 

paid a day rate plus an additional $2.00 per hour 

for extra tips. Doc. 187-1 at 5. The employer 

asked the DOL to clarify how it should determine 

these employees' regular rate of pay. Id. The DOL 

Administrator explained that the applicable 

section stated 

that if an employee is paid a flat sum for a 

day's work without regard to the number of 

hours worked in the day, and if he receives 

no other form of compensation for his 

services, his regular rate ( of pay] is 

determined by totaling all the sums 

received at such day rates in the workweek 

and dividing by the total hours actually 

worked. 

J4 •34 Id. Such an employee was "then entitled to 

extra half-time pay at this rate for all hours 

worked in excess of the applicable maximum 

workweek." Id. The Administrator further 

explained that in workweeks where an employee 

made extra tips, "the hours worked and the wages 

received must be added to the total hours worked 

and the total earnings received." Id. Then, "[t]he 

total wages at both day rates and hourly rates 

[were] added together and divided by the total 

hours worked to determine the regular rate for that 

week," and additional half-time was required to be 

-� casetext

paid on the new regular rate. Id. Based on this, 

WP Florida contends that it complied with the 

DOL's formula for calculating the regular rate and 

overtime for day rate employees who received 

other methods of compensation. Doc. 18 7 at 9. 

Plaintiff argues that WP Florida's reliance on the 

DOL's interpretation is not proper because DOL 

interpretations lack the force of law. Indeed, the 

Supreme Court has explained that " 

(i]nterpretation[ s by an agency] such as those in 

opinion letters .. . do not warrant Chevron-style 

deference." Christensen v. Harris Cty., 529 U.S. 

576, 587 (2000). Instead, such interpretations are 

entitled only to respect to the extent that they are 

persuasive. Id. If the agency's interpretation 

contained in an opinion letter is not persuasive, it 

is not entitled to such respect. Id. Here, the DOL's 

opinion letter is persuasive and entitled to respect. 

In his own Motion for Summary Judgment, and in 

his Response to WP Florida's Motion for 

Summary Judgment, Plaintiff argues that the use 

of additional methods of payment violates section 

778.112, making it inapplicable. Doc. 207 at 6. 

Because, according to Plaintiff, section 778.112 is 

inapplicable, WP Florida is required to pay time 

and a half for overtime hours worked, not half 

time. Plaintiff cites to various cases which state 

that payment of other forms of compensation takes 

the compensation method outside of the purview 

of section 778.112. For example, in Turner v. BF/ 

Waste Services, LLC, 268 F. Supp. 3d 831, 831 

35 (D.S.C. 2017), a *35 residential waste disposal 

driver was paid a day rate, as well as "on an 

hourly basis for a variety of required tasks, 

including: (1) 'help pay' for time spent collecting 

trash on another employee's route, and (2) 

'downtime' for when his truck was inoperable, 

when he was attending a safety meeting, or when 

he was training another driver." The plaintiff's 

employer added the hourly rates to the day rate to 

obtain the plaintiff's total wages for the week, then 

divided this by the total number of hours worked 

during the week to determine the plaintifrs regular 

rate of pay. Id. The employer paid half this amount 

111 
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for overtime hours worked. Id. Thus, the plaintiff 

in Turner was paid similarly to how Plaintiff was 

paid in this case. 

The Turner plaintiff filed an action alleging FLSA 

overtime provision violations. Id. The plaintiff 

alleged that the defendant miscalculated his 

regular rate of pay, resulting in an illegally low 

overtime rate. Id. The plaintiff also alleged that his 

employer deducted a thirty-minute meal break 

each shift, even though he worked through the 

meal period, which resulted in a failure to pay all 

overtime hours worked. Id. 

The district court in Turner concluded that the 

employer's hybrid day and hour rate, under which 

the plaintiff was not paid a day rate if he worked 

fewer than eight hours and was paid additional 

amounts on an hourly basis for various tasks, 

precluded the employer's argument that the 

plaintiff was paid a day rate. Id. at 838 (stating 

that it was "clear that [the plaintiff] was not a day 

rate employee as the DOL and courts have 

interpreted the te1m to mean"). The court found 

this pay method to be more analogous to a 

fluctuating workweek payment method. Id. 

Additionally, the court noted that "[a] review of 

the payroll records demonstrates that the practical 

consequence of [the employer's] hybrid 

compensation scheme is that [the plaintiff] worked 

a larger number of hours for a lower rate of pay." 

Id. at 8 39. More specifically, the employer's 

method of calculating overtime "led to [the 

36 plaintiff] working larger number of hours *36 for 

an increasingly low rate of pay." Id. "While this is 

not a per se violation of the FLSA, it raises 

questions about the validity of the hybrid 

compensation scheme itself . ... " Id. However, 

ultimately, the issue on summary judgment was 

whether the parties had a clear and mutual 

understanding on whether the day rate was 

intended to compensate for forty hours per week, 

or all hours worked, as well as what type of work 

the day rate was intended to cover. Id. 

,% casetext 

Turner is distinguishable. Most importantly, 

Plaintiff does not argue here that he received an 

hourly rate instead of a day rate if he worked 

fewer than eight hours. Nor does Plaintiff argue 

that he was paid an hourly rate for tasks such as 

attending meetings. Instead, the methods of 

payment included the day rate, the half day rate, 

and bonuses, and Plaintiff argues that the day rate 

does not apply because whether he and other 

Helpers received a full day rate or a half day rate 

depended on the number of hours worked. 

Plaintiff also relies on Rodriguez v. Carey 

International, Inc., No. 03-22442-CIV-UNGARO­

BENAGES, 2004 WL 5 5 8 2173, at *7 (S.D. Fla. 

Sept. 15, 2004), which does not entirely support 

his position. In Rodriguez, the plaintiffs� were 

limousine drivers who were paid 60% of the trip 

fee charged to customers plus the mandatory 20% 

gratuity charged to customers. Id. at * 1. The 

defendants contended that the day/job rate 

delineated by section 778.112 applied, whereas the 

plaintiffs contended it did not because they 

received other forms of compensation. Id. The 

court explained that section 778.112 did "not 

provide definitional contours," and case law did 

not exist to explain the clause. Id. However, the 

court stated that "the most logical and likely 

reasoning is that the regulation does not apply ... 

if the employee is given some other form of 

compensation separate and apart from the job 

rate," such as where "an employee also receives an 

37 •37 hourly rate, salary, or commission .... " Id. 

112 

The problem with including various different 

compensation methods, the court explained, was 

that it could "be totally impossible to convert any 

such time for which an employee was paid or 

should have been paid into a unifonn regular 

hourly rate." Id. 

8 Other types of drivers who were paid 

differently were also involved in 

Rodriguez, but lo simplify the review of 

the case, only these limousine drivers are 

discussed. This narrowing does not affect 

the analysis of the case. --------
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Nonetheless, the court went on to say that this did 

"not mean that there cannot be more than one 

component in computing the job rate. There is no 

policy reason for such a prohibition, and there is 

no regulation or other authoritative declaration 

that prohibits adding different items to calculate 

the entirety of the job rate." Id. The court 

explained that as long as all components were 

"calculated as part of the job rate, there is no 

inconsistency that might result as it would from 

having a job rate and a separate hourly rate, salary, 

or commission en grafted onto the job rate." Id. 

The court in Rodriguez determined that certain 

activities performed by the plaintiffs-such as 

training sessions or driving betweenjobs-<lid not 

properly fall under a per job rate that could be 

compensated under section 778. I I 2. Id. at *8. 

Instead of concluding, however, that section 

778. I 12 did not apply at all, the Rodriguez court

simply concluded that these non-job-rate activities

should be compensated in accordance with the

standard formula that provided for time and a half

of overtime hours. Id. For the job-rate activities,

the plaintiffs were entitled only to half time for

overtime hours. Id.

Rodriguez supports the proposition that a day rate 

can incorporate various types of compensation­

in that case, the day rate was calculated by adding 

the fare plus the mandatory tip. WP Florida 

calculated the regular rate-not the day rate itself 

-by adding together fixed compensation rates.

However, here, non-discretionary safety and help

bonuses could easily be engrafted onto the day

rate to achieve a regular hourly rate. This form of

38 compensation is unlike *38 the activities involved 

in Rodriguez that depended on the amount of time 

spent on a task. The Court will address below the 

issue of whether Plaintiff's compensation of a day 

rate or half day rate depended on the number of 

hours worked. Accordingly, Rodriguez is not 

persuasive. 

-� casetext

Other cases are more supportive of Plaintiff's 

position. In Serrano v. Republic Services, Inc., 

227 F. Supp. 3d 768 (S.D. Tex. 2017), the 

plaintiffs were paid through a combination of 

methodologies: a job/day rate, piece rate, and 

hourly rates. Id. at 770. The plaintiffs argued that 

this pay scheme was unlawful because section 

778.112 did not allow other fo1ms of 

compensation to be blended with the job or day 

rate. Id. The court concluded that section 778.112 

"applies when a pay structure such as a day rate, 

alone, compensates the employee for all hours 

worked." Id. at 771. In other words, that section 

would "not apply when the flat rate is only part of 

the monetary compensation." Id. The court stated 

that section 778.112 "by its own terms, does not 

apply when the employer pays the employee 

monetary compensation pursuant to a combination 

of rates." Id. at 772. Because the plaintiffs in 

Serrano "receiv[ed] a combination of methods of 

monetary compensation as part of their wages in 

addition to any flat sums," the court found that 

section 778.1 I 2 did not apply. Id. 

Similarly, in Rodriguez v. Republic Services, Inc., 

No. SA-13-CV-20-XR, 2013 WL 5656129, at *I 

(W.D. Tex. Oct. 15, 2013), the court found that a 

combination of pay rates fell outside of section 

778. l I 2. There, the plaintiffs were paid a day rate

for five days, but were also required to

occasionally work for a sixth day at an hourly rate

based on the employee's regular rate of pay for a

trailing thirteen-week average. The plaintiffs were

also paid "incentive payments" of $IO for each

day worked. Id. The defendants argued that

section 778.112 applied, and the plaintiffs

contended that because they received three

different forms of compensation for the same

service, section 778.112 did not apply. Id. In

response, the defendants argued, as WP Florida

39 does ''39 here, that "sections 778.1 I l through 

778.122 [were] mere examples of the proper 

method for determining the regular rate of pay," 

citing to the Eleventh Circuit's decision in Allen. 

Id. at *2. The district court was "troubled by 
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Defendants' argument and the Eleventh Circuit's 

decision in Allen." Id. Specifically, the district 

court cited to the FLSA's prescription that 

employers pay employees not less than one and 

one-half times the employee's regular rate, and 

explained that the defendants' argument "flip[ped] 

the general rule onto its head allowing for any 

number of payroll methods to be employed in 

order to pay overtime at only the half-rate, rather 

than one and one-half times." Id. The court 

concluded that it would be required to re-write 

section 778.112 and delete the phrase "and if he 

receives no other compensation for his services" to 

apply it to the facts of the case. Id. Thus, the 

district court rejected the proposition that section 

778.112 was a mere example that need not be 

strictly followed to pay a day rate. 

This Court has also briefly addressed this issue. In 

Bunday v. Suncoast Beverage Sales, LLP, No. 

2:08-CV-00769-JLQ, 2009 WL 10670167, at *6-7 

(M.D. Fla. Sept. 18, 2009), the Court addressed 

whether section 778.112 applied to a beer sales 

representative who was paid a day rate, received a 

$5.00 bonus for completing his paperwork every 

day, and received a commission of $0.11 per case 

of beer delivered. In Bunday, the "[p]laintiff 

argue[ d] that since his pay was different every day, 

based on whether he filled out his paperwork and 

how many cases he delivered, his pay, taken in the 

aggregate, [could not] be considered a flat rate." 

Id. at *6. The Court, relying on Powell v. Carey 

International, Inc., 514 F. Supp. 2d l 302 (S.D. 

Fla. 2007), concluded that the Bunday plaintiff 

was paid a day rate because day rate payment 

methods could be variable as long as the 

employee's compensation was not anchored to or 

correlated with the number of hours he or she 

worked. Id. at *6-7. The Court explained that the 

plaintiff's compensation was "an analog to a job 

rate, since he was paid to complete a defined route 

40 of visits *40 each day, regardless of the length of 

time it took him to complete such rounds." Id. at 

*7. That other factors of his pay were variable did

not alter that he was paid a job rate. Id.

·-f';u casetext

Additionally, the Court further stated that " 

[d]espite the presence of a degree of murkiness

due to the hybrid nature of [the plaintiff's]

compensation, logic does not support [the

p]laintiff's contention" that he was an hourly

employee because "[h]e received $80 daily,

regardless of the hours he worked." Id. Thus, "

[p Japerwork incentives and comm1ss1on

notwithstanding, [the plaintiffs pay wa]s an

archetypal example of a flat sum pay scheme"

because "his hours could vary by large amounts

and [he] would still receive the same base pay for

having completed a defined set of tasks each day."

Id. Bunday is analogous to the facts of this case, in

which Plaintiff and Helpers were paid a day rate

for completing their routes, but received additional

compensation for other, non-routine, tasks.

Here, the Court concludes that section 778.112 

need not be followed exactly with respect to 

paying employees a day rate. Instead, consistent 

with the Eleventh Circuit's decision in Allen, it is 

only an example of how to calculate the regular 

rate when a worker is paid a day rate. 495 F.3d at 

1313. Thus, the fact that Plaintiff and Helpers 

received other compensation in the form of 

bonuses or for additional tasks does not mean they 

were not paid a day rate. Moreover, the payment 

of half day rates for tasks outside of Helpers' usual 

tasks does not take Plaintiff or other Helpers 

outside the scope of day rate employees. As the 

Court explained in Bunday, the primary payment 

to Plaintiff and Helpers was through a day rate, 

and that amount could vary based on additional 

tasks. Accordingly, payment of overtime to 

Plaintiff or Helpers at a half rate, instead of a time 

and a half rate, is permissible. 

Plaintiff also submits evidence to demonstrate that 

whether he and Helpers received a day rate was 

tied to whether they worked four or more hours. 

41 Doc. 197-14. Doc. 197-15. This conflicts *41 with 

Banasiak's testimony that Plaintiff and Helpers 

received a day rate for completing their task of 

finishing their route, and were paid a half day rate 

for individual tasks that were outside of their 
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normal route. Doc. 206-1 at 90:10, 91:16-19, 

126:5-17. Thus, although the practice of paying 

workers a day rate for daily tasks, a half day rate 

for additional tasks, and bonuses, and paying 

overtime at a rate of half that amount instead of 

one and a half times that amount, is compliant 

with the FLSA, it is not clear that this was WP 

Florida's practice. To the extent that WP Florida 

would pay Plaintiff or Helpers only the half day 

rate if their daily task took less than four hours, 

instead of the full day rate for their daily task, the 

Court finds that this is not consistent with paying a 

day rate, or compliant with the FLSA. Because the 

evidence is conflicting with respect to whether 

payment of the day rate for a daily task was tied to 

the number of hours worked, the Court cannot 

grant summary judgment as to whether 

Defendants violated the FLSA. 

E. Individuals Not Affected by Half-Day Rate

Policy 

WP Florida argues that the proposed collective 

includes all Helpers who worked at locations 

where there was a policy or practice of paying 

either a half-day rate or non-discretionary bonus, 

even if those Helpers were not affected by that 

policy, and that Opt-In Plaintiffs who were never 

paid a half-day rate or non-discretionary bonus 

suffered no injury and cannot state a claim for 

relief. Doc. 187 at 15-16. 

In Auer v. Robbins, 519 U.S. 452, 455 (1997), the 

Supreme Coui1 evaluated alleged FLSA violations 

regarding whether employees met the salary-basis 

test, which requires salary basis employees to 

regularly receive on a regular basis a 

predetermined amount constituting all or part of 

his compensation, which amount is not subject to 

reduction because of variations in the quality or 

quantity of work. Salary basis employees are 

exempt employees to whom the minimum wage 

and maximum hour requirements do not apply. 29 

42 U.S.C. § 2J 3. The employees in Auer alleged ''42 

that they were not exempt because their salary 

could be reduced for various disciplinary 
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infractions related to the quality or quantity of 

work performed. 519 U.S. at 455. During the 

litigation, the issue arose as to whether employees 

could not meet the test for exempt status if they 

were actually subjected to deductions, or whether 

it applied when there was a theoretical possibility 

of deductions. Id. at 459. The Secretary of Labor 

interpreted the "test to deny exempt status when 

employees [were] covered by a policy that 

permit[ted] disciplinary or other deductions in pay 

'as a practical matter. ' " Id. at 461. The Secretary 

concluded the standard was met if there was 

"either an actual practice of making such 

deductions or an employment policy that create[d) 

a 'significant likelihood' of such deductions." Id. 

The Supreme Court explained that this policy 

rejected a bright line policy of requiring actual 

deductions, but did require "a clear and 

particularized policy . . . [that] 'effectively 

communicate[d]' that deductions [would] be made 

in specific circumstances." Id. The Supreme Court 

found that the Secretary's policy was not clearly 

erroneous. Id. 

Plaintiff here argues that the decision in Auer 

demonstrates that the case should include Opt-In 

Plaintiffs who were "subject to" any unlawful day 

rate pay practice. Doc. 207 at 12. However, 

Plaintiff does not explain how the Secretary's 

policy regarding an exempt/non-exempt status 

applies to a determination of who may claim a 

violation of the FLSA for failure to pay overtime 

to non-exempt employees. Similarly, Plaintiff does 

not cite to any interpretation by the Secretary to 

which this Court would defer in the event that it 

was not clearly enoneous. Auer is not applicable 

here. 

Plaintiff also relies on Speer v. Cerner Corp., No. 

14-0204-CV-W-FJG, 2016 WL 5395268, 2016

U.S. Dist. LEXIS 131230, at *32 (W.D. Mo. Sept.

26, 2016), in which the defendant argued that the

named plaintiffs did "not have standing to bring

claims predicated on pay types that they did not

receive." The plaintiffs in Speer argued that the

43 defendant "invit[ ed) •43 the Court to commit legal 
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error by conflating Article III standing with the 

requirements for class certification under Rule 23 

and conditional certification of collective action 

under the FLSA." Id. at *33. The court agreed 

because the plaintiffs alleged the injury-in-fact of 

improper compensation for overtime worked, 

which was traceable to the actions of the 

defendant, which caused the plaintiffs' harm. Id. 

The court stated that "[j]ust because plaintiffs have 

pied class claims that may include those of 

individuals who received other types of 

compensation not received by the named plaintiffs 

does not mean that the named plaintiffs do not 

have standing for suit." Id. The court also stated 

that the plaintiffs pied that they were victims of a 

common policy or plan that applied to a broad 

group of individuals to which the plaintiffs 

belonged. Id. at *33-34. 

Plaintiff, here, relies on Speer to argue that WP 

Florida's request for summary judgment as to Opt­

In Plaintiffs not paid a half-day rate or bonuses 

conflated Article Ill's standing requirements with 

requirements for collective claims under the 

FLSA. Doc. 207 at 12-13. Plaintiffs reliance on 

Speer is misplaced. The court in Speer addressed 

whether the named plaintiffs had standing 

regarding pay types not received by them, not 

whether the class could include parties who were 

not affected by a common policy or plan that 

allegedly violated the FLSA. WP Florida's 

argument is that Helpers who were never paid a 

half day rate or discretionary bonus are not victims 

of any FLSA violation and, therefore, have no 

injury in fact. 

WP Florida likewise does not provide cases on 

point, but cites to cases that were at the 

conditional certification stage and discussed 

inclusion of employees who were adversely 

affected by policies that violated the FLSA. 

Longcrier v, HL-A Co., Inc., 595 F. Supp. 2d 

1218, 1240 (S.D. Ala. 2008); Pares v. Kendall 

Lakes Auto., LLC, No. 13-20317-CIV-MORENO, 

2013 U.S. Dis!. LEXIS 90499, at *4 (S.D. Fla. 

June 27, 2013) (stating that the named plaintiffs 

, ..:,- casetext 

were required to make substantial and detailed 

allegations of FLSA violations of which the 

44 named plaintiffs and •44 putative class were 

victims). These cases do not address standing or 

the existence of an injury, nor do they discuss 

what it means to be adversely affected by a policy 

or practice that violated the FLSA. 
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Other cases have denied summary judgment as to 

individual class members who have not suffered 

damages. Khadera v. ABM Indus. Inc., No. C08-

0417 RSM, 2012 WL 581580, at *4 (W.D. Wash. 

Feb. 22, 2012). Instead, courts have treated this as 

a matter to be resolved when allocating damages. 

Id. (citing French v. Essentially Yours Indus., Case 

No. 1:07-CV-817, 2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 54550, 

2008 WL 2788511 (W.D. Mich. July 16, 2008) 

(ce1tifying Rule 23 class even though "some 

members may have different damages or none at 

all"); In re Patriot Am. Hospitality Inc. Secs. 

Litig., MDL No C-00-1300 VRW, 2005 U.S. Dist. 

LEXIS 40993, * 13, 2005 WL 3801594 (N.D. Cal 

Nov. 30, 2005) (approving class settlement where 

certain class members sustained no damages, but 

where plaintiffs expert was sufficiently able to 

account for those class members in allocating 

damages); cf Sibley v. Sprint Nextel Corp., 315 

F.R.D. 642,664 (D. Kan. 2016) (denying a motion 

for decertification on the basis that some class 

members suffered no damages, and stating that 

such members simply would not receive 

compensation). 

Accordingly, the Court denies WP Florida's 

Motion for Summary Judgment to the extent that 

it seeks to eliminate Opt-In Plaintiffs on a 

piecemeal basis based on damages at this stage. 

F. Collateral Estoppel

In its Answer, WP of Florida raises as an 

affirmative defense that it acted in good faith and 

had reasonable grounds to believe its acts or 

omissions did not violate the FLSA. Doc. 131 at 7. 

Plaintiff argues in his Motion for Summaty 

Judgment that Defendant WP of Florida is 

collaterally estopped from asserting the 
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affirmative defense of good faith because it 

previously litigated this affirmative defense in 

Andreu. Doc. I 97 at 42-47. WP of Florida 

45 responds that collateral estoppel *45 is 

inappropriate because Andreu involved different 

facts and issues, including the alleged failure to 

pay promised bonuses and involuntary work to 

receive bonuses. Doc. 211 at 14-16. Additionally, 

WP of Florida contends that it anticipates 

submitting witnesses and evidence not relevant to 

the Andreu trial specific to the regions at issue in 

this case. Id. 

The "good faith defense is an objective test that 

bars actions for violations of the FLSA if the 

employer establishes 'that the act or omission 

complained of was (1) taken in good faith and (2) 

was in confonnity with and (3) in reliance on a 

written interpretation by a designated agency.' " 

Newby v. Great Am. Dream Inc., No. 1:13-cv-

3297-TWT-GGB, 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXJS 158829 

(N.D. Ga. Oct. 14, 2014), Report and 

Recommendation adopted by, Berry v. Great Am. 

Dream, Inc., No. 1:13-CV-3297-TWT, 2014 U.S. 

Dist. LEXIS 158501 (N.D. Ga. Nov. 6, 2014) 

(quoting Cole v. Farm Fresh Poultry, Inc., 824 

F.2d 923, 926 (11th Cir. 1987)). "(T]he written

administrative interpretation 'must provide a clear

answer to the particular situation.' " Ballehr v.

Ctrs., Inc., No. 5:08-cv-261-Oc-l0GRJ, 2009 WL

10670050, a t  *6 (M.D. Fla. Nov. 10, 2009)

(quoting Cole, 824 F.2d at 928). "The agency

designated to provide interpretations of the FLSA

is the Administrator of the Wage and Hour

Division of the Department of Labor." Cusumano

v. Maquipan Int'!, Inc., 390 F. Supp. 2d 1216,

1221 (M.D. Fla. 2005) (quoting Cole, 824 F.2d iit

926).

"Collateral estoppel, like the related doctrine of 

res judicata, has the dual purpose of protecting 

litigants from the burden of relitigating an 

identical issue with the same party or his privy and 

of promoting judicial economy by preventing 

needless litigation." Schulman v. S. Shuttle Servs. 

Inc., No. 08-80219-CIV, 2009 WL 331550, at *2 

·% casetext

(S.D. Fla. Feb. 10, 2009) (quoting Parklane 

Hosiery Co., Inc. v. Shore, 439 U.S 322, 326 

( 1979)). Offensive collateral estoppel is used 

"when 'the plaintiff seeks to foreclose the 

defendant from litigating an issue the defendant 

46 •46 has previously litigated unsuccessfully in an 

action with another party.' " Id. (quoting Parklane, 

439 U.S. al 326 n.4). "To claim the benefit of 

collateral estoppel the party relying on the 

doctrine must show that: (1) the issue at stake is 

identical to the one involved in the prior 

proceeding; (2) the issue was actually litigated in 

the prior proceeding; (3) the determination of the 

issue in the prior litigation must have been 'a 

critical and necessary part' of the judgment in the 

first action; and ( 4) the party against whom 

collateral estoppel is asserted must have had a full 

and fair opportunity to litigate the issue in the 

prior proceeding." Pleming v. Universal-Rundle 

Corp., 142 F.3d 1354, 1359 (11th Cir. 1998). With 

respect to whether an issue is identical, the party 

opposing the application of collateral estoppel 

"need only point to one material differentiating 

fact that would alter the legal inquiry." F.T.C. 

Nat'/ Urology Grp., Inc., 785 F.3d 477,482 (11th 

Cir. 2015) (quoting CSX Transp., Inc. v. Bhd of 

Maint. of Ways Emps., 327 F.3d 1308, 1317 (11th 

Cir. 2003)). 
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The Supreme Court has cautioned that fairness to 

both parties must be considered when applying 

offensive collateral estoppel. Cotton States Mut. 

Ins. Co. v. Anderson, 749 F.2d 663, 666 (11th Cir. 

1984) (citing Parklane, 439 U.S. at 331). "Of 

primary importance is whether the opposing party 

had an adequate incentive to litigate vigorously in 

the previous proceedings and whether he received 

a full and fair hearing in that proceeding." Id. 

"Once . . . the litigant has had a full and fair 

opportunity to litigate his claim, the trial court has 

broad discretion in deciding whether offensive 

collateral estoppel is appropriate." Id. ( citing 

Parklane, 439 U.S. at 331). Additionally, "[t]he 

general rule is that in cases where a plaintiff could 

easily have joined in the earlier action or where 
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the application of offensive estoppel would be 

unfair to a defendant, a trial judge should not 

allow the use of offensive collateral estoppel." 

Newby, 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 158829, at *17. 

47 *47

WP of Florida contends that Andreu differs 

because it involved an alleged failure to pay 

promised bonuses and a resulting miscalculation 

of the regular rate, which is not alleged here. Doc. 

211 at 15. According to WP of Florida, much of 

the evidence in Andreu related to whether the 

plaintiff received all of the bonuses promised to 

him and, if not, how much that affected his regular 

rate. Id. at 16. Based on this and other evidence, 

the jury in Andreu concluded that WP of Florida 

did not meet its burden of showing that its actions 

were taken in good faith and in conformity with 

and reliance on a written administrative 

interpretation by the DOL. Doc. 197-8 at 2. 

Plaintiff replies that the material issues in this case 

are identical to those in Andreu, which focused on 

WP of Florida's failure to pay overtime at time­

and-a-half and failure to adhere to the 

requirements for paying a day rate. Doc. 221 at 8. 

Plaintiff contends that the argument in Andreu that 

WP of Florida failed to pay bonuses two or three 

times was inconsequential to the verdict. Id. 

This Court took judicial notice of documents filed 

in Andreu to the extent necessary to recognize that 

such filings were made, or recognize judicial acts 

and the subject matter of the litigation. Doc. 306. 

A review of the documents in Andreu shows that 

the subject matter of the litigation included a 

dispute as to whether WP of Florida failed to pay 

promised compensation, which is not at issue in 

this case. Doc. 197-20 at 63:8-18. Plaintiff does 

not provide support for his statement that this 

issue was inconsequential to the result in Andreu. 

The additional argument in Andreu is sufficient to 

make the issue in that case different from the issue 

in this case, so as to render offensive collateral 

estoppel inapplicable. The Court cannot determine 

that the additional issue of WP of Florida's 
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purported failure to pay for extra shifts did not 

affect the jury's decision in Andreu. For this 

reason, the Court finds that application of 

offensive collateral estoppel would be unfair in 

48 this case. Accordingly, it is *48 
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ORDERED: 

1. Defendant Waste Pro USA, Inc.'s Motion for

Summary Judgment (Doc. 185) is DENIED. 

Genuine issues of material fact exist as to whether 

Waste Pro USA is a joint employer of Plaintiff and 

Helpers. 

2. Defendant Waste Pro of Florida, Inc.'s Motion

for Summaiy Judgment (Doc. 187) is

GRANTED-in-part and DENIED-in-part.

Defendant WP Florida's practice of paying

bonuses and including them in the regular rate, for

which Defendant paid half time as overtime, did

not violate the FLSA. Thus, Defendant WP

Florida's Motion for Summary Judgment is

GRANTED with respect to its practice of

including payment of bonuses in calculating day

workers' regular rate. Additionally, the Court finds

that Defendant WP Florida's practice of paying a

day rate, half day rate based on tasks, and bonuses

does not violate the FLSA as a matter of law to the

extent that payment of a day rate and half day rate

was not tied to the number of hours worked. This

conclusion also applies with respect to Defendant

WP USA. However, because a genuine issue of

material fact exists as to whether a half day rate

was paid for daily tasks if the employee worked

fewer than four hours, Defendant WP Florida's

Motion for Summary Judgment is DENIED with

respect to whether payment of a half day rate

complied with the FLSA.

3. Plaintiff's Amended Motion for Partial

Summary Judgment (Doc. 197) is DENIED.

DONE AND ORDERED in Tampa, Florida on 

September 30, 2019. 

Isl 

Charlene Edwards Honeywell 
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United States District Judge Copies to: 

Counsel of Record and Unrepresented Parties, if 

any 
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Defense Counsel Objection 

I state for the record my objections to the rulings made 

by this Court yesterday relative to the ... Jury 

Instructions to be applied to a violation of the FLSA. 

In two holdings this Court has allowed this trial to 

continue, whereas as of last night, we're getting the 

supplemental expert disclosure, there was not one number 

disclosed to the defendants relative to the claim 

damages of the plaintiff. There was a suggestion that 

because the defendant did not object to the use of the 

expert disclosure the Court originally made, that the 

expert should then be able to amend his opinion in the 

middle of trial, even though that amendment was never 

disclosed prior to trial. By ruling as it has, the Court 

has allowed basically expert disclosures the new theory 

of damages on the 5th day of trial. 

For the record, the only reason nothing was moved to -

-excluded prior to trial was that the plaintiffs were 

not using the report that was disclosed and later 

determined that they weren't calling the expert at all. 

This was confirmed during the first day of trial. The 

end of the fourth day there were two holdings or 

rulings, rather, that cannot be reconciled. The first 
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ruling was that the regular rate was to be determined 

in this case pursuant to 29CFR778.109. In that 

regulation, in essence, it was determined that the 

regular rate was going to be calculated by taking the 

amount of weekly compensation actually paid and dividing 

that by the number of hours a week actually worked per 

week. And that would give us the regular rate. 

Therefore, by that calculation, the hourly or regular 

rate is considered --it's considering all the money 

actually paid and dividing that by the hours actually 

proven to be worked; therefore, implicit in this 

calculation is the truth that they were paid for all 

hours worked. 

The Court then also held that the calculation for 

damages as per 29CFR778.12 is inapplicable to the case 

[at bar]. However, it seems as though the Court's 

eventual instructions will make the affirmative 

direction to the jury that damages are equal to one­

and-a-half times the regular rate no matter how much 

these plaintiffs were actually paid. It is feared that 

this would be the instruction even though the plaintiffs 

already admitted to receiving money for all hours 

worked. Respectfully, this is exactly what the role of 
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the jury is, to determine what the damages are. It's 

uncontested that the directions to the jury should state 

that 29USC207 dictates that an employee should receive 

for all hours worked over 40 a rate "not less than one­

and-one-half times the regular rate at which he is 

employed." 

That should be the extent of any direction thereby 

giving the jury the power to find consistent with the 

plaintiffs' own testimony on the subject that the 

plaintiffs were paid for all hours worked. 

The plaintiff and defense for that matter can argue 

however they want. But according to the plaintiffs they 

were paid already. This is also consistent with the 

application of 29CFR778.109. They got the time and the 

time-and-a-half that Section 207 requires. There's no 

justification legally or factually to state what a jury 

must multiply and regulate by. To exclude Section 112 

does not render the jury powerless to find the 

plaintiffs were paid for all hours worked, and the power 

to then determine what, if anything, is owed for the 

situation to be compliant with Section 207. If they 

find the plaintiffs were not paid anything for hours 

worked over 40, then they multiply by one-and-one-half 
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times. But if they find that they were paid, then it 

would only be a half. 

The point is that the exact function of the jury -- that 

is the exact function of the jury and they should be 

left with that function. The defendants are left 

powerless as the plaintiffs were given a fresh drawn 

board to have an expert on the fifth day of trial -- a 

damages trial change his earlier disclose expert 

opinions. His testimony was not disclosed, and the 

defendants were left without an expert of their own to 

combat the brand-new opinion of plaintiffs' expert. 

Such result is wholly against any notion of a fair trial 

advocacy highly prejudicial to the defendants and almost 

guarantees the effectuation of an unfair trial. 

The ref ore, your Honor, I appreciate your indulgence, 

but the defendant objects 

(Tr.V.2 139-143) 
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